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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

TSUNAMI RUNUP 1VIAPPING AS AN EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS PLANNING 
TOOL: THE 1929 TSUNAMI IN ST. LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND 

A tsunami struck the Burin Peninsula of Newfoundland in the early evening of November 18, 1929 

after the 1702 NST magnitude 7.2 earthquake occurred in the Laurentian Slope Seismic Zone. This 

event is Canada's most tragic earthquake with twenty-eight lives lost. The tsunami swept into the 

coast of Newfoundland two-and-a-half hours after the seismic event near the top of a high spring 

tide. Water levels first fell far below normal then, in three successive waves, that often arrived on 

shore as breaking waves, water levels rose two to seven metres. At the heads of several of the long 

narrow bays on the Burin Peninsula the momentum of the tsunami carried water as high as 13 m. St. 

Lawrence at the head of Great St. Lawrence Harbour was one of the communities inundated, 

fortunately with no loss of life, but with substantial property damage. 

The collective community memoiy of St. Lawrence has been sampled through oral histoiy 

interviews with senior community members aged 72 to 96 years, through first-hand reports of 

residents published in late-1929 newspaper accounts, and through various other published and 

unpublished accounts available. These recollections have been transcribed onto a 1:2,500 contoured 

topographic map of the community to map the 1929 tsunami runup zone. The map indicates a 

tsunami height of about 4 m, a runup height of about 13 m and a runup distance of at least 760 m at 

the head of the harbour. 

St. Lawrence has grown since 1929 and has encroached steadily into the 1929 tsunami runup zone. 

The report warns of the risk to the community if a 1929-like tsunami were to recur today. Some 30 

residences, all the fishing activity, almost all the St. Lawrence commercial activity, its two gasoline 

stations, the fire station, the RCMP office, the pharmacy, the high school, the recreation centre and 

soccer fields, the town hall and garage, a water treatment facility, the senior citizens manor, and 

three important bridges and their related roads could be severely affected. St. Lawrence presently 

has no planning policies to address further growth in a potential tsunami runup zone and does not 

have provision for a tsunami alert in its Emergency/Disaster Plan. 

The report suggests that emergency measures personnel develop a plan that institutes a tsunami alert 
the moment a strong felt earthquake is experienced in southern Newfoundland. It is suggested that 
such people be reacquainted with the plan eveiy two years to allow for new or rotating personnel. 



While this is the first use of an oral history to establish a tsunami runup zone in Canada, the

technique could well apply for storm surge events, seiches, and river flooding events, as well as for

other tsunamis such as the March 1964 Port Alberni, B.C. event or in other communities of the

Burin that experienced the 1929 event.
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Introduction 

The first drafts of this lengthy report on the research in the 

town of St. Lawrence included a full record of all the data 

gathered. On completion of the August 9, 1995 revision the full 

set of the data appendices and photographs had expanded to about 

250 pages in a report of some 399 pages. The full report, bound as 

one very thick volume with the two enclosure maps in a pocket, had 

become virtually unmanageable in size. 

The author and the scientific technical authority at Emergency 

Preparedness Canada (EPC) agreed that the size made the report 

somewhat impractical to widely circulate or to translate. Dr. 

Tucker and the author, with the help of Mr. Donald Campbell in the 

EPC office in New Brunswick, then reassessed the research material 

in the appendices. In the end, only two of the original appendices 

were mnved into the main report — one as a figure and the other as 

the final Table 4. About half of the less Important bibliographic 

material was moved out of the main report into the Appendices and 

Enclosures volume, as a new Appendix I. The copies of the historic 

photographs were kept as an appendix in Volume 2 because it was 

uncertain whether they would duplicate well, especially if the main 

report was to be put on the EPC World Wide Web site. 

It was also realised that the two large Enclosure maps of the 

original report were not amenable to an easy open file distribution 

of the document and would overly complicate any digital or website 

distribution of the main text. Thus a reduced NW-SE segment of the 
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maps, covering the main harbour and town areas of the study, were

extracted from Enclosures 1 and 2. These two linear maps were then

included as foldout maps in the main report (Maps i and 2 of Volume

1) and both the full Enclosure maps are included here as folded

items in the pocket at the back of the volume (Enclosures 1 and 2).

This Volume 2 -Appendices and Enclosures includes al l the raw

data that went into the analysis. it brings together in one place

the rather disparate newspaper, locally-published and manuscript

archival material. The full transcripts of all the oral history

interviews and the author's abbreviated field log from the February

20 to March 2, 1995 program in St. Lawrence are also retained in

the Appendices and Enclosures volume. New information on the

dwel l ing houses that moved in the 1929 tsunami has been included at

the end of the interview transcript of Mrs. Gertrude Turpin in

Appendix 12. Further 1929 tsunami data from the Cusick family

comprises an added Appendix 14.

our sincere appreciation should be expressed to Dr. Chris

Tucker and to Mr. Donald Campbell for their editorial comments and

for their assistance in dividing this report into the two

manageable volumes. Wendy Findley in our office then persisted on

the word processor to effect the final separation of the siamese

twins.

I
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Appendix 1 

Bibliography of additional material that refers to the 1929 
earthquake and tsunami. These references were not referred to 
directly in, and are not essential to, the main report in Volume 1. 
This bibliography used in conJunction with the main report's 
bibliography in Volume 1 are believed to comprise one of the most 
complete records of the published material on the November 18, 1929 
earthquake and tsunami. 

7 



1
I
I
I
I
I
a
f

I
I
A
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

8

Bibiiography

Abbott, Roland Winfield. 1987. 'She's gone adrift, boys'. In The
Three Seas, The loss of the Erema H. 1929. Robinson-Blackmore
Printing and Publishing Ltd., St. John's, Newfoundland, 77

pp.; 1929 tsunami pp. 26-29, 40.

Adams, Fred. 1992a. Letter From Burin, 1929. The Newfoundland
Ancestor, Vol. 8, No. 4, Winter, pp. 147-148.

Adams, Fred. 1992b. A Profile of an Outport Merchant. The
Newfoundland Ancestor, Vol. 8, No. 4, Winter, pp. 148-149.

Adams, Fred.' 1994. Portrait of an Outport Merchant. In Interesting

People of Newfoundland. Creative Publishers, Robinson-
Blackmore Printing & Publishing, St. John's, Newfoundland,
Chapter 4, pp. 31-38; full book 89 pp.

Adams, John. 1986. Changing assessment of seismic hazard along the
southeastern Canadian margin. In Proceedings of the Third
Canadian Conference of Marine Geotechnical Engineering, June
11-13, St. John's, Newfoundland, pp. 41-53.

Adams, J. and P. Basham. 1989a. The seismicity and seismotectonics
of Canada east of the Cordillera. Geoscience Canada, Vol. 16,
pp. 3-16.

Adams, John and Peter W. Basham. 1989b. Seismicity and Seismo-
'tectonics of Canada's Eastern Margin and Craton. In Ssren
Gregersen and Peter W. Basham, Editors, Earthquakes at North-
Atlantic Passive Margins: Neotectonics and Postglacial
Rebound. NATO Scientific Affairs Division, ASI Series, Series
C, Mathematical and Physical Sciences, Vol 266, Kluwer

Academic Publishers, pp. 355-370.

Adams, J., I. Reid and P.W. Basham. 1984. Historical seismicity,
1983 OBS experiment and seismic hazard along the southeastern
Canadian margin. 18th Annual Congress, Canadian Meteorological
and oceanographic Society, Joint Program with Abstracts, pp.
67-68.

Adams, John and Michael Staveley. 1985. Historical Seismicity of
Newfoundland. Canada Department of Energy, Mines and
Resources, Seismological service of Canada, Earth Physics
Branch, Ottawa, Ontario, Open File No. 85-22, 73 pp.; contains

Staveley et al., 1984.

Anonymous. 1929. Earthquake and Tidal Wave Disaster. The Newfound-
land Quarterly, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 20-23.

Anonymous. 1930a. Wreckage of houses, stores and fishing gear, at
Port au Bras, after tidal wave. Photo in The Newfoundland
Quarterly, Vol. 29, No. 4, April, p. 40(top).

1



I
1
I
I
I
I
a
r
I
1
I
1

I
I
I
I
1
I

9

Anonymous. 1930b. Bridge Cove, between Burin and Port au Bras.
Spars to be seen of Wm. H. Isaac's Vessel. Wreckage floating
over another sunken vessel. Photo in The Newfoundland
Quarterly, Vol 29, No. 4., April, p. 40(bottom).

Anonymous. 1930c. Hints Radio Waves May Leave Earth. ... How a new
valley was created in the floor of the Atlantic by an
earthquake ... The New York Times, New York City, New York,
September 6, p.3, coi. 4.

Anonymous. 1930?. Disaster on the South West Coast, Lives and
Property carried away by the Tidal Wave. In John White,

Compiler, Burke's Ballads. Privately published, p. 43,
located at the Provincial Reference and Resource Library, St.
John's,' Newfoundland.

Anonymous. 1931a. 111. Bibliographie, Etats-Unis. Extracts of Keith
(1930) and Hagson[sic] et Doxsee (1930) plus a following

discussion in French. Union Géodesique et Géophysique

Internationale, Annales de la Commission pour l'Étude des Raz
de Marée, No. 1, pp. 76-81 and 85.

Anonymous. 1931b. Newfoundland Earthquake of Nov 18 1929. Nature,
Vol. 127, No. 3213, p. 836.

Anonymous. circa 1971. South Coast Disaster of the Year 1929. In
L.W. Janes, editor, The Treasury of Newfoundland Stories, 155
pp. plus [7 pp.], Maple Leaf Mills Limited, St. John's,
Newfoundland, Story No. 53, pp. 147-149.

Antle, Pat J. 1957a. Night of Terror, The Story of the Tidal Wave
of 1929 As Recalled by One Who Was There. Atlantic Guardian,
Vol. XIV, No. 2, February, pp. 10-21.

Antle, Pat J. 1957b. Night of Terror, The Story of The Tidal Wave
of 1929 As Recalled by One Who Was There. The Newfoundtand

Fisherman, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 6, No. 1, March, pp.
44-45, 47, 53-54.

Antle, Pat J. 1974. Night of Terror. In Doryloads, Newfoundland
Writings and Art Selected and Edited for Young People. Kevin
Major, Editor, Robinson-Blackmore Printing and Publishing
Ltd., St. John's, Newfoundland, first edition, pp. 82-87,
Breakwater Books Ltd., Portugal Cove, Newfoundland, second
edition, pp. 82-87.

Antle, P.J. 1978. Night of Terror, The Great Tidal Wave (1929). In
Our Tragic Past: A series on tragic stories from Nfld.'s past.
The Senior Citizen, Ashford Publishing Company, St. John's,
Newfoundland, December, pp. 9-10.

Baker, James Andrew. 1988. Account by fishermen who were dipping
scallops by hand near Prides Island, on the east side of
Country Harbour. Public Archives of Nova Scotia, Halifax, Nova

1



10 

Scotia, Miscellaneous Manuscript, MG100, Vol. 87, No. 66.2, 1 

P. 

Bartlett, Hon. G.A. written circa 1933, published 1950. The Great 
Tidal Wave, November 18, 1929, Night of Horror When Wave Swept 
Over Peninsula. The Evening Telegram, Saturday, November 18, 
Vol. 72, No. 265, p. 16, cols. 1-8. 

Bayley, Alice. 1953. Tidal Wave, A Nfld. Story. The Western Star, 
Corner Brook, Newfoundland, Vol 1, No. 179, Magazine Section, 
Friday, May 29, p. 1, cols. 1-3 and drawing, cols. 2-5. 

Boissel, M., N. Galachkine and M. Bechet. 1931. Saint-Pierre et 

Miquelon, Raz de Marée. Union Géodesique et Géophsique 
Internationale, Annales de la Commission pour l'Etude des Raz 
de Marée, No. 1, pp. 64-69. 

Brown, Cassie. 1963. "Tidal Wave" A New, Exciting Nfld. Love Story, 

Based on the tidal wave of November 18, 1929 (or 'A Nfld. 

Fiction Story' in Parts Two to Five). St. John's Woman, 
published by Cassie Brown, St. John's, Newfoundland, 
serialized, Part One, April, pp. [33)- [ 34], [36]-[40]; Part 

Two, May, pp. [35]-[41]; Part Three, June, pp. [33]-[39]; Part 
Four, July, pp. [32]-[33], [35]-139]; Part Five conclusion, 

August, pp. 19-21, 24-26. 

[Brown, Cassie]. 1963a. Earthquake and Tidal Wave, The Hillier 
Story. St. John's Woman, published by Cassie Brown, St. 
John's, Newfoundland, May, pp. [2)-(11]. 

[Brown, Cassie]. 1963b. Ruby Hillier. St. John's Woman, published 
by Cassie Brown, St. John's, Newfoundland, May, pp. [12], [1] 
cover photo [by Father James A. Miller] and [14] 'Our Cover' 
plus [51] 'The Only Boat Saved'. 

[Bugden, Cyril W.]. circa 1971. The Tidal Wave Disaster. In L.W. 
Janes, editor, The Treasury of Newfoundland Stories, 154 pp. 
plus [7 pp.], Maple Leaf Mills Limited, St. John's, 
Newfoundland, Story No. 41, pp. 117-121. 

Cheeseman, Ern. 1929. Letter to Jack [John T. Cheeseman] dated 
November 20. First printed in Michael Harrington's November 
12, 1984 article, 'The 1929 tidal wave disaster'. 

Cranford, Garry and Ed Janes. 1995. From Cod to Crab Stories and 

History of Hant's Harbour. Flanker Press, St. John's, 
Newfoundland, 210 pp. 

creighton, S.F. circa 1980. Earthquakes in Atlantic Canada: 
Everything you should know. Unpublished manuscript. 

Currey, Rev. John Ellis. 1992. The Good Word: The Burin Peninsula's 
tidal wave of 1929. The Evening Telegram, St. John's, 
Newfoundland, Religion, Vol. 114, No. 132, p. 53, cols. 1-6. 



f
I
I

I
a
I
I
I
I
I
I
i
t
^
I
I

11

Davison, C. 1929. The Atlantic Earthquake of Nov. 18, 1929. Nature,
Vol. 124, No. 3135, November 30, p. 859.

Duley, Margaret Iris. 1941, reprinted 1977. Highway of Valour.
Originally published by MacMillan, New York, 324 pp.,
reprinted by Griffin House, Griffin Press Limited, Toronto,
Ontario, with added biographical note by Margot Duley Morrow,
October 11, 1976, 324 pp.

Fitzgerald, Jack. 1985 and 1990. Jack Fitzgerald's Notebook, A
collection of some of Newfoundland's most amazing and
intriguing offbeat stories. Creative Printers & Publishers
Limited, St. John's, Newfoundland, Tidal Wave & Earthquake,
pp. 15-16, reprinted in The Downhomer, A little part of
Newfouridland for people everywhere, Vol. 3, No. 5, October,
1990, p. 13.

Fitzgerald, Owen. 1976. -A Flashback - The Day The Ground Trembled
In CB. The Cape Breton Post, Sydney, Nova Scotia, November 20,
p. 5, cols. 1-4, plus photograph.

Fletcher, J.B., M.L. Sbar and L.R. Sykes. 1978. Seismic trends and
travel time residuals in eastern North America and their
tectonic implications. Geological Society of America,

Bulletin, Vol. 89, pp. 1656-1676.

Foote, Walter. 1974. Walter Foote recalls: The great tidal wave of
1929. The Daily News, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 81, No.
218, Wednesday, November 19, p. 13, cols. 1-8.

Furlong, John. 1977. The Great Tidal Wave Disaster of 1929 "A11 the
stores and houses along the waterfront were smashed up like
matchsticks". The Southern Gazette, Marystown, Newfoundland,
Wednesday, Vol. 3, No. 27, November 23, p. 3, cols. 1-4.

Greenaway, C.R. 1935. Rum Haven. Canadian Geographical Journal,
Vol. XI, No. 5, November, pp. 219-227.

Gregory, J[ohn] W[alter]. 1929a. Newfoundland Earthquake. Past
Movements. Sinking of the Ocean Floor. The Manchester

Guardian, Manchester, England, Issue No. 25989, December 17,
p. 11, col. 7 and p. 12, col. 1.

Gregory, J.W. 1929b. The Earthquake South of Newfoundland and
Submarine Canyons. Letters to the Editor, Nature, Vol. 124,
No. 3138, December 21, pp. 945-946.

Gregory, J.W. 1930a. The Severed Cables. November's Earthquake
Reshaped the Ocean's Floor. The Newfoundland Quarterly, Vol.
29, No. 4, April, p. 32, ( reprinted from Nature).

Gregory, J.W. 1930b. J.W. Gregory explains how quake created new
valley in floor of Atlantic Ocean last Nov. The New York
Times, New York City, New York, September 6, p. 3, col. 4.

1)



12

I
I
1
1 1

I
a
I

I
a
I
I
I
I
!
I

Gregory, J.W. 1930c. The Recent Cable Fractures in the Western

Atlantic (title only). In Report of the Ninety-eighth Meeting
of the British Association for the Advancement of Science,
September, 1930, Bristol, England, Section C, Geology, p. 314.

Gregory, J.W. 1931. The Earthquake Off the Newfoundland Banks of 18
November 1929. The Geographical Journal, The Royal
Geographical Society, London, England, Presented December 8,
1930, Vol. 77, No. 2, February, pp. 123-139.

Gregory, J.W. 1947. The Severed Cables. November's Earthquake
Reshaped the Ocean's Floor. The Newfoundland Quarterly, Vol.
46, No. 4, Spring, pp. 33-35, (reprinted from Nature and from
The Newfoundland Quarterly with different photographs).

Gussow, W.C. 1982. Canadian Earth Sciences in the eighties. In
Discussions, Geoscience Canada, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 122-123.

Hamer, Richard. 1930. Transient Electric and Magnetic Disturbances
Accompanying the Seismic Waves of the Recent Newfoundland
Earthquake. Proceedings and Transactions of the Nova Scotian
Institute of Science, Session of 1929-30, Presented February
12, 1930, Abstract, xlii.

Hann, Violet Hillier. 1993. "Tsunami", The Great Tidal Wave of

1929. In July 30-August 8, 1993 Homecoming '93 Lamaline. 24
pp., article on p. 6.

Harrington, Michael, illustration by Ed. McNally. 1955. Burin's
Night of Terror, Newfoundlanders still shudder when they
recall the 'quake and tidal wave of 1929. The Standard Weekend

Magazine, Montreal, Quebec, Vol. 5, No. 37, Saturday,
September 17, pp. 10 and 39.

Harrington, Michael Francis. 1970. The Great Tidal Wave at Burin.
The Atlantic Advocate, Vol. 60, No. 11, July, pp. 48-50.

Harrington, Michael. 1981. The Titanic and 1929 earthquake. The
Evening Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 102, No. 55,
Monday, June 8, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6.

Harrington, Michael. 1982. Earth tremors recall 1929 'quake. The

Evening Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 102, No. 241,
Monday, January 18, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6.

Harrington, Michael. 1984. The 1929 tidal wave disaster. The
Evening Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol.- 105, No. 186,
Monday, November 12, Offbeat History, p. 8, cols. 3-6.

Harrington, Michael. 1985a. Mud slide caused tidal wave. The
Evening Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 106, No. 51,
Monday, June 3, Offbeat History, p. 8, cols. 3-6 with
postscript of additional information from a reader, Ed Antle,

r



13 

Vol. 106, No. 57, Monday, June 10, 	Offbeat History, p. 6, 
col. 6. 

Harrington, Michael. 1985b. Bickley, Ballads and Burin. The Evening 
Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 106, No. 80, Monday, 
July 8, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6. 

Harrington, Michael. 1985c. Tying up some loose ends. The Evening 
Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 106, No. 210, Monday, 
December 9, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6. 

Harrington, Michael. 1986a. More memories of 1929 'quake. The 
Evening Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 106, No. 231, 
Monday, January 6, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6. 

Harrington, Michael. 1986b. Early Airmail Service. The Evening 

Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 106, No. 243, Monday, 
January 20, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6. 

Harrington, Michael. 1986c. Organs, quakes, atom bombs. The Evening 
Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 106, No. 249, Monday, 
January 27, Offbeat History, p. 6, cols. 3-6. 

Heck, N.H. and R.R. Bodle, Editors. 1931. The Grand Banks 
Earthquake of November 18. In United States Earthquakes 1929. 
United States Department of Commerce, Coast and Geodetic 
Survey, Washington, District of Columbia, Serial No. 511, pp. 
28-29. 

Heidorn, Keith. 1978. The day the sea came in. Science Journal, 
Early Canadian Life, Vol. 2, No. 6, June p. 19. 

Hodgson, E.A. 1937. Earthquakes in Eastern Canada and Adjacent 
Areas. Proceedings of the Royal Canadian Institute, Series 3A, 
Vol. 2, pp. 30-34. 

Hodgson, Ernest A. 1945. Industrial Earthquake Hazards in Eastern 
Canada. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America. Vol. 
35, No. 4, October, pp. 151-174. 

Hodgson, John H. 1965. Canadian Earthquakes. Canadian Geographic 
Journal, Vol. 7, No. 1, July, pp. 30-39. 

Holden, Norah, 1932. A Cross-Section of Newfoundland. Canadian 
Geographic Journal, Vol. 5, No. 1, July, pp. 38-50. 

House, Edgar. 1990. The Way Out, The Story of NONIA, 1920-1990. 
Creative Publishers, Robinson-Blackmore Printing &Publishing 
Ltd., St. John's, Newfoundland, 'The Florence Nightingale of 
Lamaline', p. 23. 

Hughes Clarke, John Edward. 1986. The geologic record of the 1929 
"Grand Banks" Earthquake and Its relevance to deep-sea 



14 

sedimentation. 	Unpublished 	PhD 	thesis, 	Department 	of 
Oceanography, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, 171 
PP. 

Hughes Clarke, J.E. 1987. Surficial morphology of Eastern Valley, 
Laurentian Fan. Geological Survey of Canada, Open File Report 
No. 1425(1987), 46 pp., partially paged. 

Hughes Clarke, John Edward. 1990. Late stage slope failure in the 
wake of the 1929 Grand Banks earthquake. Geo-Marine Letters, 
Vol. 10, pp. 69-79. 

Hughes Clarke, John E., Larry A. Mayer, David J.W. Piper and 
Alexander N. Shor. 1989. PISCES IV submersible observations in 
the epicentral region of the Grand Banks earthquake. In D.J.W. 
Piper, Editor, Submersible observations off the East Coast of 
Canada. Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 88-20, pp. 57-69. 

Hughes Clarke, John E., Alexander N. Shor, David J.W. Piper and 
Larry A. Mayer. 1990. Large-scale current-induced erosion and 
deposition in the path of the 1929 Grand Banks turbidity 

current. Sedimentology, Vol. 37, pp. 613-629. 

Hussey, James H. 1954. 25 Years Ago, A Disaster. The Evening 
Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 76, No. 248, 
Thursday, November 18, p. 20, cols. 3-8. 

Hussey, James H. 1959a. 30 Years Ago It Hit And 27 People Died, 

Burin Peninsula Residents Suffered And Were Alone, Three Days 
for News To Reach Outside World. The Evening Telegram, St. 
John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 81, No. 277, Wednesday, November 
18, p. 2, cols. 5-8. 

Hussey, James H. 1959b. 30th Anniversary Of Tidal Wave. The Daily 
News, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 66, No. 247, Wednesday, 
November 18, p. 2, cols. 4-6. 

Hussey, James H. I959c. 30 Years Ago Since Tidal Wave Struck 
Newfoundland. The Western Star, Corner Brook, Newfoundland, 
Vol. 7, No. 63, Monday, November 30, p. 13, cols. 4-7. 

[Isaacs, Muriel]. 1980. Nov. 18 marks anniversary of famous quake, 
tidal wave. The Post as an insert in The Daily News, St. 
John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 86, No. 186, Wednesday, November 
19, p. 24, cols. 3 and 4, contains poem by Josephine (Josie) 
Penney (née Churchill). 

Isaacs, Mariel[sic]. 1981. DisasterI 52 Years Ago. The Southern 
Gazette, Marystown, Newfoundland, Vol. 7, No. 11, Wednesday, 
November 18, p. 4, cols. 1-3. 

Isaacs, Muriel. 1982. The 1929 Tidal Wave. The Southern Gazette, 
Marystown, Newfoundland, Vol. 8, No. 10, Wednesday, November 
17, p. 4, col. 4 and p. 18, col. 1. 



1
I

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
i
t
I
I
I
I
I
I

15

Janes, L.W. ( Editor). circa 1971a. The Tidal Wave DisaçtFr. In The
Treasury of Newfoundland Stories. Maple Leaf Mills Limited,
St. John's, Newfoundland, 160 pp., Story No. 41, pp. 117-121.

Janes, L.W. (Editor). Circa 1971b. South Coast Disaster of the Year
1929. In The Treasury of Newfoundland Stories. Maple Leaf
Mills Limited, St. John's, Newfoundland, 160 pp., Story No.
53, pp. 147-149.

Johnstone, J.H.L. 1929. Scientist Describes Heavy Earth Shock.

Halifax Herald, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Tuesday, November 19, p.
1, cols. 3 and 4 and continuation p. 5, cols. 5 and 6, plus
figure and photograph p. 1, cols. 3-6, also in The Evening

Malt, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Tuesday, November 19, p. 4, cols.
3 and 4', plus map on p. 4, cols. 4 and 5 and diagram and photo
on p. 7, cols. 3-6.

Jones, Gerald. 1973. Tidal wave lashed south coast in 1929. The

Humber Log. Corner Brook, Newfoundland, Vol. II, No. 7,
Wednesday, November 28, p. 5, cols. 1-3.

Jones, Gerald. 1974. The Day the Sea Came In. Horizons, Eastern
Provincial Airways In flight magazine, published by John W.
Prince Ltd., Armdale, Nova Scotia, April-May, Vol. 5, No. 2,
pp. 8-11, reprinted in The Georgian, Stephenville,
Newfoundland, Vol. 12, No. 5, Wednesday, February 3, 1982, p.
8, cols. 1-4 and in The Southern Gazette, Marystown,
Newfoundland, Vol. 7, No. 25, Wednesday, February 24, 1982, p.
8, cols. 1-5.

Jones, Gerald. 1975. The South Coast Disaster of 1929. The
Newfoundland Quarterly, Vol. 71, No. 3, January, pp. 35-40.

Keith, Arthur. 1930. The Grand Banks Earthquake. Supplement to the
Proceedings of the 1930 Meeting of the Eastern Section of the
Seismological Society of America, May 5-6, 1930, Washington,
D.C. (a )oint meeting with the Section of Seismology of the
American Geophysical Union), Supplement published in
Earthquake Notes, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 1-5, plus 3 figures.

Kindle, E.M. 1931. Sea-bottom samples from the Cabot Strait
Earthquake Zone. Bulletin of the Geological Society of
America, Vol. 42, June 30, pp. 557-574.

Kirk, Simon E. 1995. The Grand Banks Earthquake of 1929.

Unpublished manuscript, Earth Science 1040.03A-03, Department
of Earth Sciences, Dalhousie University, Halifax,-Nova Scotia,
November 28, 9 pp. plus attachments.

Kyte, William. 1976. The 1929 Earthquake. Unpublished manuscript,
paper presented to History 310 class, College of Cape Breton,
found In 'Disasters' file, Beaton institute, University
College of Cape Breton, Sydney, Cape Breton Island, Nova
Scotia, 6 pp.

1



1
1
1
t
I
I

I
t
I
I
r
I

I
I
t
I

16

Leheunen, Joseph; translated by Scott Jamleson. 1992. Tidal Wave on
lie au Marins, November 18, 1929 [formerly Ile au Chiens,
Saint-Pierre et Miquelon]: An oral account given by eye-
witness Joseph Leheunen. The Newfoundland Quarterly, Vol.
LXXXVII, No. 2, Spring, pp. 16-18.

Long, Cindy. 1995. The Great Tidal Wave Disaster - 65 Years Later.
The Downhomer Magazine,. A little part of Newfoundland for
people everywhere, Vol. 7, No. 8, January, pp. 1 and 52.

MacDonald, Robert Gear. 1929. Our Christmas - And Theirs. The
Newfoundland Quarterly, Vol. XXIX, No. 3, December, p. 23.

MacKenzie, Michael. 1979. Killer tidal wave hit Nfld. 50 years ago.
The Western Star, Corner Brook, Newfoundland, Vol. 28, No. 79,
Thursday, December 6, p. 14, cols. 1-3.

MacKenzie, Michael. 19??. Tidal Wave of 1929. In Remember the Time,
True stories, old and new, recalled by Michael MacKenzie.
MacKenzie Books, Christmas Island, Nova Scotia, pp. 7-25.

Maloney, Queen. 1988. The Earthquake of November 18th, 1929. In
Trail Wanderings, The Senior's News, March, p. 17.

Marshall, Frances. 1984. The South Coast Pioneers, 150 years in the
growth of St. Patricks Parish Burin, Newfoundland 1833-1983.
Creative Printers and Publishers Limited, St. John's,
Newfoundland, 58 pp.; Part VII, Priests of Burin, pp. 50-53.

Mayer, L.A., A.N. Shor, J. Hughes Clarke and D.J.W. Piper. 1988.
Dense biological communities at 3850 m on the Laurentian Fan
and their relationship to the deposits of the 1929 Grand Banks
earthquake. Deep-Sea Research, Vol. 35, No. 8, pp. 1235-1246.

Milne, W.G. 1967. Earthquake epicenters and strain release in
Canada. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, Vol. 4, No. 5, pp.
797-814.

Morris, Donald. 1958a. "People with a Story", Desperate Bravery
Saved Tide Victims, South Coast Tragedy 1929. The Evening

Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 80, No. 115, Friday,
June 6, p. 15, cols. 1-8.

Morris, Don. 1958b. People With a Story, Days of Horror - The Great
Nfld. Tidal Wave. The Western Star, Corner Brook,

Newfoundland, Vol. 6, No. 219, Saturday, June 7, p. 1, cols.
1-6, and p. 5, cols. 6 and 7.

Morris, Don. 1963. Tidal wave terrors still vivid memory. The
Evening Telegram, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 85, No. 144,
Saturday, July 20, p. 4, cois. 1-4.

Morris, Don. 1977. Year of the Tidal Wave, South Coast Disaster
Still R called[sic] by Many. Manuscript copy of an article

I



17 

written for Newfoundland newspapers, hand dated November 19, 
1977, found at Provincial Archives of Newfoundland and 
Labrador, Colonial Building, Military Road, St. John's, 
Newfoundland, 3 pp., unpaged. 

Morris, Don. 1987. 58 years ago this week, Villages smashed by 
tidal wave. The Sunday Express, St. John's, Newfoundland, Vol. 
2, No. 8, Sunday, November 15, p. 19, cols. 1-3. 

Murty, T.S. 1975. The dynamics of tsunamis. Proceedings of 
Conference, Oceans '75, Marine Technology Society, pp. 515- 
522. 

Murty, T.S. and S.O. Wigen. 1976. Tsunami behaviour on the Atlantic 
Coast of Canada and Some Similarities to the Peru Coast. 
Proceedings of IUGG Symposium on Tsunamis and Tsunami 
Research, January 29 - February 1, 1974, Wellington, New 
Zealand, Royal Society of New Zealand Bulletin, Vol. 15, pp. 
51-60. 

O'Neill, Paul. 1980. Around and About. The Monitor, St. John's, 
Newfoundland, Vol. 48, No. 7, July, p. 27, cols. 1-5. 

O'Neill, Paul. 1982. Death By Tidal Wave — The Burin Disaster. In 
Breakers. Stories from Newfoundland and Labrador. Breakwater 
Books Ltd., St. John's, Newfoundland, Chapter 17, pp. 110-120, 
[p. 151 photo]. 

Page, Robert A. and Peter W. Basham. 1985. Earthquake Hazards in 
the Offshore Environment. U.S. Geological Survey, Bulletin 
1630, 69 pp. 

Parker, Captain Walter H. circa 1931. Leaves from an Unwritten Log-
Book. Sampson Low, Marston & Co. Ltd., London, England, 272 
pp.; 1929 Earthquake p. 269. 

Parsons, Robert. 1993. A Wall of Water. Newfoundland Lifestyle, 
Vol. 11, No. 1, circa August, pp. 14-15. 

Parsons, Stephen. 1994. The South Coast Disaster. The Newfoundland 
Ancestor, Vol. 10, No. 2., p. 67. 

Penney, Miss Josephine (Josie). circa 1980? [Untitled local history 
of Port au Bras] "These pages are dedicated to all the kind 
people of Port au Bras ...", manuscript, 17 pp., partly paged. 

Piper, D.J.W. and A.E. Aksu. 1987. The source and origin of the 
1929 Grand Banks turbidity current inferred from sediment 
budgets. Geo-Marine Letters, Vol. 7, pp. 177-182. 

Piper, David J.W. and William R. Normark. 1982. Effects of the 1929 
Grand Banks Earthquake on the Continental Slope off Eastern 
Canada. In Current Research, Part B, Geological Survey of 
Canada, Paper 82-1B, pp. 147-151. 



18 

Piper, David J., Alexander N. Shor, John A. Farre, Suzanne 
O'Connell and Robert Jacobi. 1985. Sediment slides and 
turbidity currents on the Laurentian Fan: Sidescan sonar 
investigations near the epicenter of the 1929 Grand Banks 
Earthquake. Geology, Vol. 13, No. 8, pp. 538-541. 

Piper, David J.W., Alexander N. Shor and John E. Hughes Clarke. 
1988. The 1929 "Grand Banks" earthquake; slump and turbidity 
current. Geological Society of America, Special Paper on 
Catastrophic Events in Geology, No. 229, pp. 77-92. 

Piper, David J.W., Roy Sparkes, David C. Mosher, Alexander N. Shor 
and John A. Farre. 1985. Seabed instability near the epicentre 
of the 1929 Grand Banks earthquake. Geological Survey of 
Canada, Open File Report 1131(1985), 55 pp., partially paged. 

Poirier, Roger. 	1985. 	Tsunamis in the Atlantic Provinces. 
Department of Civil Engineering, University of New Brunswick, 
Fredericton, New Brunswick, Senior Report No. T-1246, April 8, 
43 pp. 

Pond, F.H. 1929. Humanity's Heart Is Laid Bare In Diagram. Halifax 
Herald, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Thursday, November 21, p. 1, 
cols. 1 and 2 and continuation p. 5, cols. 3 and 4, plus 
figure on p. 1, cols.  J. and 2, also in The Evening Mail, 
Halifax, Nova Scotia, Thursday, November 21, p. 4, cols. 3-6, 
plus figure on p. 4, cols. 1 and 2. 

Rast, N. 1976. Grand Banks Earthquake of 1929 and its Implications 
in the Seismotectonic Structure of Eastern Canada and New 
England. Under the direction of Weston Geophysical Research, 
Inc., for Boston Edison Company, Boston, Massachusetts, re 
Pilgrim Unit No. 2, August, 29 pp. (17 numbered), United 
States Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Public Document Room, 
Docket 50-471, 148 pp. 

Robertson, Capt. Raymond P. "Robbie", transcribed via Charles H. 
Rafuse, and Billy James MacNamara, transcribed by the editor, 
Ron Caplan. 1989. The 1929 Earthquake: Two Memories. Cape 
Breton's Magazine, Issue 50, pp. 27-30 and pp. 27 plus 30-34 
respect  ively.  

Robinson, John P., Jr. 1976. Newfoundland's Disaster of '29. Sea 
Frontiers, Vol. 22, No. 1, January-February, pp. 44-51. 

Robinson,  John?. Jr., illustration by Jill Shaffer. 1989. When the 
Big Waves Hit Newfoundland, Sixty years ago in November 70 
miles of Newfoundland coastline were ravaged by three monster 
waves, the first seismic sea waves in recorded history to 
strike the east coast of North America. Old Farmer's Almanac, 
Canadian Edition, pp. 120-121. 

Rockwood, Art. 1994. Art Rockwood's Newfoundland and Labrador 
Trivia: the sequel. Harry Cuff Publications Ltd., St. John's, 



1
I

I
r
1
I
i
I
I
t
I

a
1
I
I
I
I

19

Newfoundland, 144 pp., tsunamis are briefly mentioned In the
chapter on 'Disaster' on pp. 49-51.

Ruffman, Alan. 1988. The South Coast Disaster of Newfoundland,
November 18, 1929, New Newfoundland Postcards Uncovered (Cards
even Eric Tizard has not seen!). Halifax Post Card Society,
Card News, May 20, Vol. IX, No. 82, Item 47, pp. 2-5.

Ruffman, Alan. 1996. Lessons from the 1929 Newfoundland tsunami.
Emergency Preparedness Digest, Vol. 23, No. 1, January-March,
pp. 25-28.

Ruffman, Alan. 1996. The 1929 Earthquake & 'Tidal Wave' : "The South
Coast Disaster" written on the psyches of Burin residents and
in its.peat bogs [Abstract]. Heritage Trust of Nova Scotia,
Halifax, Nova Scotia, February 15, 1 p.; later published as,
Newfoundland's 1929 disaster. The Griffin, Vol. 21, No. 2,
June, p. 6.

Ruffman, Alan, Katherine Hattie, Daniel Boyce, Bruce Stevenson,
Andrew Smith, Gavin Buchan and Dionne Snow. 1990. Historical
seismicity and Record of Severe Storms with Coastal Flooding
for Western Newfoundland: Search of the Western Star of Corner
Brook, Newfoundland, April 4, 1900 - June 15, 1964, Album of
Articles. Geomarine Associates Ltd., Halifax, Nova Scotia,
Project 87-27, Contract Report, Canada Department of Supply
and Services, Contract No. 23235-9-3279/01-SZ for Canada
Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Geological Survey
of Canada, Geophysics Division, Ottawa, Ontario, June 30,
Geological Survey of Canada, Open File No. 2407(1991), 637 pp.

Sasco, Emile. 1931. Éphémérides des Iles St-Pierre & Miquelon.
Imprimerie du Gouvernement, Saint-Pierre, Saint-Pierre et
Miquelon, 216 pp., unpaged; storm of November 16, 1929 on p.
[193]; earthquake and tsunami on p. [195].

Selwyn-Brown, Arthur. 1930. Sea-Bed Cracks Menace Newfoundland
Coasts; Lines of Earth-Weakness Emerge from Atlantic and Cross
Newfoundland; Strait of Belle Isle Liable to be Source of
Shocks. The Newfoundland Quarterly, Vol. 30, No. 1, July, pp.
2-7.

Senior Citizens of Burin. 1977. The Tidal Wave of 1929. In The
History of Burin. 270 pp., South Coast Printers Limited,
Marystown, Burin Senior Citizens Association, Burin,

Newfoundland, Chapter 25, pp. 154-161.

Shor, Alexander N., David J.W. Piper, John E. Hughes Clarke and
Larry A. Mayer. 1990. G-lant flute-like scour and other
erosional features formed by the 1929 Grand Banks turbidity
current. Sedimentology, Vol. 37, pp. 631-645.

de Smitt, V.P. 1932a. Earthquakes in the North Atlantic Ocean as
Related to Submarine Cables. Unpublished manuscript, office of

1



1
I
I
t
i
I
i
I
I
t
I
I
t
t
I
s
r
I

20

the Ocean Cable Engineer, Western Union Telegraph Company, New
York City, New York, April, 2nd Edition Revised, July 1936, 53
pp., via microfilm of Bruce Heezen, May 23, 1950.

de Smitt, V.P. 1932b. Earthquakes in the North Atlantic Ocean as
Related to Submarine Cables. Transactions of the American
Geophysical Union, Thirteenth Annual Meeting, April 28-29,
Washington, D.C., June, Vol. 13, pp. 103-109.

Stein, Seth, Norman H. Sleep, Robert J. Geller, Shi-Chen Wang and
Glenn C. Kroeger. 1979. Earthquakes along the passive margin
of Eastern Canada. Geophysical Research Letters, Vol. 8, pp.
537-540.

Stevens, Anne E. 1977. Some twentieth-century Canadian earthquakes.
Geoscience Canada, March, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 41-45.

Stevens, Anne E. 1995. Reply to Comments on "The Great Newfoundland
Storm of 12 September 1775" by A.E. Stevens and M. Staveley.
Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, Vol. 85, No.
2, April, pp. 650-652.

Stewart, G.S. 1979. The Grand Banks earthquake of November 18, 1929
and the Bermuda earthquake of March 24, 1978. A comparative
study in relation to their intraplate location. EOS, Vol. 60,
p. 312.

Tennyson, B.D. 1978. Earthquakes in Cape Breton. Nova Scotia
Historical Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 147-151.

Tobin, Captain Michael. 1992. Under Selge From The Sea. In Fireside
Yarns. The Downhomer Magazine, A little part of Newfoundland
for people everywhere, Vol. 4, No. 8, January, p. 19.

WCS [Wayne C. Stockwood]. 1981. Earthquakes. In Joseph R. Smallwood
and Robert D.W. Pitt (editors), Encyclopedia of Newfoundland
and Labrador. Newfoundland Book Publishers (1967) Limited, St.
John's, Newfoundland, p. 663.

Wetmiller, R.J. 1979. Earthquakes of the Atlantic Region ... Danger
from the Sea. EMO BULLETIN, Emergency Measures Organization,
Nova Scotia Department of the Environment, Halifax, Nova
Scotia, September, pp. 1 and 3-4.

Whelan, Maudie. 1994. The night the sea smashed Lord's Cove.
Canadian Geographic, Vol. 114, No. 6, November/December, pp.
70-73.

White, John (compiler). 1960(?). Terrible Disaster on the South
West Coast; Lives and property carried away by the tidal wave.
in Burke's Ballads. Published by J.H. Devine, St. John's,
Newfoundland, p. 43.

1



I
I
t
I
1
I

I
I
I
I
T
1
r
t
t
I
I
I

21

Wigen, Sydney O. 1978. Historical Study of Tsunamis - An Outline.
Institute of Ocean Sciences, Sidney, British Columbia, Pacific
Marine Science Report 78-5, 18 pp.

Wigglesworth, Armand F. 1996. Anecdotes of Queens County Nova
Scotia, Events - Places - People, Volume II. Privately

published, A.F. Wigglesworth and "Memory Lane", Morton's
Printing and Publishing, Liverpool, Nova Scotia, 308 pp.;
Earthquakes, pp. 94-97.

Withers, Pauline Riggs. Undated, circa 1982? Tidal Wave Disaster of
Port au Bras. Probably paper for school class, 11 pp.

Woods, Prof. Thomas S. 1930. "map privately printed in 1930 which
deals with the Grand Banks earthquake. ... and also shows two
epicentres for the Grand Banks quake, one being at the mouth
of Cabot trench and the other near Cabot Strait.", not seen,
cited by Keith (1930), on p. 4, para. 3.

Wride, Graham. 1994. The 1929 Grand Banks Earthquake: An Analysis.
Unpublished manuscript, Earth Science 1000.06R, Department of
Earth Sciences, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia,
Fall, 7 pp. plus attachments.

1



22  

Appendix 2 

Two December 5, 1929 lists of communities on the Burin 
Peninsula which were "reported to have been directly affected" by, 
"and which no doubt suffered to some extent" from, the 1929 
tsunami. 

These records from the South Coast Disaster Committee are 
found in the archives of the Centre for Newfoundland Studies of 
Memorial University of Newfoundland and were produced by the 'South 
Coast Disaster Committee'. 
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List  No. • 1 gives tames and population of places reported to have 

been directly affected by the recent tidal wave disaster. 

List Iro.2 gives the names and population of all settlements 

along the section of the Burin Peninsula within the area 

stricken by the disaster, and which no doubt suffered to 

some 0:::tent au a result of it. 
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CEZTSUS OF 1921.

Lamaline East

Lamaline . Vlest

Allan's Island

Point aux '^raul

Taylor's -Bay

Lord's Cove

La tvn

Crreat St. Lawrence

T.ittle St . T"-`;'rerice

Corbin

ÿ' r_c e au ^' eau

Ster.4siàe

3u'-11' s C ove

s Cove

rarâJ' S C 0•Ie

Collin's Cove

Sh;n Cove

Great Burin

LIST N.

213

213•

312

239

82

208

343

dC3

a7

Q4

U91

12:

174

77

103

220

Burin i^ort'r. 275

Burin Bay

Port au Bras

3?5

295

Mortier
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ST. JOHN'S, NFLD.,
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December 5. iA 29

Rock narbour 152 TOTkL 4,7G1



ITHE SOUTH COAST DISASTER FUND COMMITTEE25
Patron :

OFFICES: LAW CHAMBERS,

DUCKWORTH STREET,

ST. JOHN'S, NFLD.,

I

Him Excellency the Governor
Sir John Middleton, K.B.E., C.M.G.

Hon. President:

I The Prime Minister
Sir Richard A. Squires, K.C.M.G., K.C., L.L.B.

Mr. R. F. Horwood, Chairman

^ Mr. L. C. Outerbrid¢e, D.S.O., Vice-Chairman

Mr. J. G. Hi¢Qins, lion. Secretary

]Sr. A. Asilli¢an, Hon. Treasurer

I
i
1
I
t
I

r
I
I
I
t
I
r
I

.._.Ds.s.emb.ax_.5..... ........ ___19

CET?SU S OF 1921 LIST rt0.2 .

ITAûS, P0?'UIAT I ON.

Mortier 136

Port au Bras 295

Salt Pohd 118

Burin 3aJ ^rm 79

Salmonier 1--11

225Long Cove

..ia_1C.? i cint 26

'U7c^re31: ck ^^.c:= l

t t'r_ lind 80

surin i;orth 47`'

Shalloti;a;; 59

srea t 3Lr;.n 2 2

âtcà7:£;siGe

rr^

.:eîly's Cove-

iarà-^?' s Islp.r_d 138

3ürj il

77Cc1-,.in' -,,Ove

i ir:•.?' s Cove

','lhale Ciove

P,-:t's Cove-

The iiarrows

85

32

42
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The Prime atinister
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C:,;TISUS 02 1921 LIST T14.2.

I:' anse Weau 69

Ship C ove

Etiv;orth

Wand swo rt h

.^oon' g Cove

Corbin

C^. ^tlatide

lil' ? e 3t . Lawrence

Oreat St. ^a:';rer_ce

I.o,r,n

123

242

100

108

92

10

:i 7

3C3

3 4;;

^ 1 r : ^ P. ^ 42

.'Z
_'.ou r_d--bout

Q ^ 07e 2

....ol d t ^, J ove

TaJ lor' s 82

::ar.ce Cove 15

:?oint aux ^wu1 39

S =.ïmor_ier

L,2rao.line "ast 21C

L.r-.maline ;^est 513

.L11an' s Island ,lw i GT^ 5,950
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Appendix 3 

Album of published newspaper articles from November and 

December of 1929 that deal specifically with the tsunami damage 

done in St. Lawrence and, in one case, Little St. Lawrence. 

Articles which have been reproduced in their entirety, or for which 
the pertinent parts relevant to St. Lawrence have been reproduced 
in their entirety, in the main report, are not reproduced here. 
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Activities Both Here 
and Abroad To Aid 
Tidal Wave Sufferers 

St. Lawrence Sends First Report of Dam- 
age—Interview with St. Lawrence Eye 
Witness of Tidal Wave --Relief Ship 
Brings Aid To Destitute 

.REPORT FROM ST. LAWRENCE 

.LOSS ESTIMATED AT OVER: $200,000 
The first detailed acconnt of. the  destruction at St. 

Lawrence .re.aclied the city, Saturday,evening in, a special 
message to . ."The Ev'ening'..Telegram." .The message was 
sent by Mr. A. Farrell and  ieads as follows:— 

The Evening Telegram 
St. John's, Nfld. 
Uol. LI, No. 266 
Monda, November 25, 1525. 
p. 6, cols. 4-6 
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ST. LAWRENC`; Nov. 23,1929.

Special to Evenitig.Telegram, -Si. Johh's.
Following the ahock' -on- Mondaÿ' évening an unpre

cedented'high tide presumably tidal-wave practically, de-
molished all the•waterfront here inclüding fishing plahts,

stores; traps, fishing gear, boats; engines_.etc. Two famil;

ies were left hoiliéless but no lives were•lost, altlioùgh many
narrôwly éscaped.being drownéd: ;•Two dwelling were
Carried Côu^ntr^w^irç^s about fôflr hundred feet from their:._. . •

^stimâte but it must befourtdations.°? TheTThe làss is diffpûlt to„
ovër'two hiindréd thôusând dollars.

FARRELL.

ÉYE • 1FITNESS OF ST.-MI WItENCE
DI9ASTFB. •

Mr. A. A,' Glqvanninj De9cribeà'Tidal

\iasé' Eitec^

Mr. A.' A• Giovannint-'Of- St. 'L.aw-
rence arrived in the _city,.yesterday,
morning by-rail via Argentia.io spend
a few days visiting friends. . A repre-.
sèntative,of ^.Phe.Telegram had, an in-
t6rview ;with Mr. Giôvarinini yesterday.
àfternoôn'lü'çônnèctttiri;witlib the kidal
wave.dlsaster which hit -thati'placo'on
Monday evening,,Nôvember 18th,-w#ien
damage +was done•, ta.. tiie.';waterside
premises and at th0.bottqm^j ôf the
harbour at an éatinlated los; of over
$200,000.

fillought Explosion Had Occurred.

Mr. -Giovannini says à. tremor was
felt about. 6. o'clock,. whicfi lasted,or er
two minutes..' People In St. Lawrence
were bewildered over ther' occurrence
and came to the conclusion that an
explosion must have occurred either
at -Buchans or Bell Island mines.

After the tremor had ceased the in-
habitants of • the place : went . about
théir, work, and during. tea hoqr the
shock as felt, was genèrally dircuàsed,
not•;ealizing for a mument that agreat
tidal.wave was tà7follotv .in a few
hours and cause such havoc 4nd de-
struction as it did,

After Mr. Giovà.nnini had partaken
Qf'teàwith"his wite, they loft their
hCqae.'abont' 7.30 to proceed_to their

Qrva stôre which waê only ai iew yards

âivaŸ: Vhile' they^°were crossing the
wharf 14irë. Giovannini's attention: was
atfrncted by the unusuai ewiftneas of
thiF tide, yvbicti caused 'the shores un-
derneath the plef -tq. making crack-
ing sounds.

Alen tii'arned In Time
8he told her husband -xhât somè•

thing' unsusual was likelo to•_ happen
sud implored him'to givé,wàl•niug to
flio'fifteen men wflo• were- working at
fleh,'in the. etôrà- Mr. (}iovânnjht rio-
tlf{ed the men. promptly, and•.Jrist as
theÿ • had tnaQe their ei.it from the
pre;nlpes; the flrst tidal wave rushed
in "over the pier; and, -in receding, a
skift lwhich was moored at- the pier
waa swept . away and. smàshed-, to
pieces.. The tides increased as they
appeared, and the third one which was
about twelve feet high wrecked the
Government bridge, and a large por-
ttou, of the timber dashed against the
shôres unserneath Mr. Giovann4ni's
store and shpok it glmoat from its
fôunda;tion.

The Evening-Telegram
St. John's, Nfld.
Vol. LI, No. 266
Monday, November 25, 1929.

P. 6, cols. li-8
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Store lYashed Back.

Scarcely without a word of warn-
in,& to the eye-witnesses standing
about a huée wave swept bver ttie
mainland, and the receding sea swept
away the store with all its contents,
bût• to • the great surprise of those
.standing âbout,•At was. washed back
again aâd grounded riear its' original
sitc' The store which was of woodèn
structure measuring 65 feet by 30
feet, `and containing three storeys,
waâ later found broken in two, while
all of the 4uppli6s which were carried
on the flrat and aecond flats haâTieen
carried away,. Mr. .Gio6annini'a loss
Is e$timated- at -;3D.000. His ' house
whicti was, situated ôn19 a short 'dis-
tance from the stôire' xa±.-in :cjanger
ôj baing swept' àway on t^^•i^ 'bther..ôé-
câslôna: 1Ùn Giôvannini f, sâyg °'•ôn],v
second# elapsed froa thi• tiuu', ltG

gave warning to the timen.iù•thè•stoi•'k
untih Ahe -building- dlaappeared,'anil
1n 'Ithis cônnection - the saving of' Ittr3
was largely* due to lits wife. •,

Fishing Premises : Slr•ept Away

trir. Giovannini went on to relate
that grèat• destruction was caused tb
fishing tllremieéq ip, At4jialqren6e. Not •
one flake; Pr stage was left standing
following the tidal wave. All the boats
with,engines_installed . were c^rried
aw,ay and emaéhea,te gieeeè; qnd •thr
ibss in _ this connéction is very•,greai'
oti' tbe•-fisherment In addition f6 Mr.
410v^nàini's business premises* being
swept away, the (;ô-qperativa•.Storèé
with its wharves and Paies wan çon:-
siderably damagèd, •as well U T:-Far-
rell and • Sons premises.

.111na Famlilos Homejess

At the bottonm of . thè, harbour nine
houses•ivere destroyed. All the fam-
illes ; barely • èscaped . with thelr' lfveq,

nnd arè at preseut ' hOmelessl-' blr.

Giovannini was pa;tiçùlarly gratlfied

to.be able to say that there has-been

no loss of _life In S. "Lawrénca, .'but
at the' same time , the people wer;e

horrôri.stricken aad,:wpreti uAaTjle to.

sleep 1pr,nightsfôllôwltigthe.di9àsterr

Of- thé niné hôuâés^, èix 'irerè`awept

to sea, while t:wô, wdrè' Râébed back

with tbe tide'and lânded sëverai bunr

dred feet 'in' ôh.'thè mhinlànci.-Ainong
those', whç,'lôst :théKr:. ',hotnès ; .were

Pikè, (3) ; *• Hendrigan, •-Malloy, • ` and

30

Fifzpatrick. 'ThB. bômd, of the • ldttéT^. .
, I. carrle4waa_ opè.'ôf thos^ whicli'wan

.

to sea ^nd' completely lost sight of.
Another. building which alsq went"wâa
the'. Po'stal. Telegrâph officei

Operatôr. Remained to 'the i,Àst

Miss Fewèr, the operâtor, remàined
aCher' post regardless of the, dangér
and tàpped .on the keyboard a warning
to people at ;Barin. • ,Her 'escape was
miraèulous. The main road which is
only aistiôrt i]istance^IrBi^t the water-
front was ^â^ly damaged by the tidal'
'wave, wbjA othér bridges besides,the
Government bridse.ivere'awépt away;

Wavé ?0 to r40 Feet. illgb

Mr. Giovannini saya it was a cleâr
mooulight_ night when the disaster oc-
curred. The tidal waves could be
seen very clearly, and on receding out
the harbour 'to meet an'.oncoming one,
the 'water woerid rise triirty to forty
feet in height,. And, with the _ roar ôf
the water and the crâcking o1^tlmber,
the speètacle was terrilying:,

Hàrboar, TlgttFa1ioFed.... ^•.,. •. _
On one or ta o. occasions . with- the

r.xedfng tide the bôttoin of the har-

bour. was clearly..srn about a half
mile frorti the mainlà.pd. Thé tidal
wave lasted fon üpwards' of tlventÿ
minutes, and,,when it _,had subsided

there, iva>; great 'relief "amongst the
people. Many 'of the people -rdlated
their experiences some Of which were
most thrilling, but thep:'wèrô;,'very
thankful to Providence ^that_nô.Ïi^0j'
had been lost.'

Fishermen's Eristènce:Jeopardlzed

Mr, Giovannini had 1200 quintalé of
:lish in •his store at, the :time of the
disaster, all of whlch became water-
soaked. - His ipen were engaged at the
time separating, ihe, small 'from the
large, and : they werer workine over-
time in ordeY td have it -shipped away
thè next -daÿ. . 'With^ali'. tlre,'flshigg
plants, stores; traps, .%ti^shing-' gear,
boats and enginéè; etç:; gone,'tl;e fish-
girmen Lt Sk Lawréaaj are bere:t ot

The Evening Telegram
St. John's, .Nfld.
Vol. LI, No. 266
Monday, November 25, 1929.
p. 6, cols. 4-8
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people most heartily and-  greatly ap-
Preciated. 

• DEPLORABLE CONDITIONS  Ai' 
 LORD'S COTE 

The iollowing message was received 
Saturday by the Prime Miniiter from 
the Minister  of  Marine ànd Fisheries: 

LORD'S COVE, N'ov. 24. 
Sir R. A. Squires, 

St. John's. 
Spent last night Lawn. Condition!' 

there very bad.' Heavy loss prpperty 
but no lives, and no accidents. Ar-
rived Lord's Côve daylight. Condi-
tions here -debloiable, heavy losa prop-
erty  and four  lives lost. All recovered. 
Much destruction. Now landing sup-
plies. Houses here Washed hundreds 
of yards inland and manY swept  t'a 
sea. Visiting Lamaline later today 
and due -St. Lewrenre tr,n4ht where 
I understand property los's hca ,iiest 
but no loss of life; 

H: B. C. LA.KE. 

rRovisioN's io MEET•IMMEDIATÉ 
' • REQUIREMENTS 

Prom Minister Marine and Fisheries 
.to Prime Minister: 	' 

• 
Ha've landed sufficient proviaions to 

take  are  of immediate  situation  at 
Burin' and have comPetent committee _ 
formed' to handle., the situation: . in 
chargè of  Magistrate Hollett.. Leav-
ing  for Point aux Géul and Taylor's 
Beiy—  durin •g the —night as this most 
deatttute ' area. Very little Medical 
needs. " •• 

(Sgd.) H.  B. C, LAKE. 
• -- 

TIDAL WAVE ÉIGHTY ,  TO.. ONE 
' . • HUNDRED EEET HIGH 

MEIGLE, Lawn, Nov. 23. 
Visited Point aux Gaul and Taylor's 

Pay-today, remaining atLawn tonight. 
ConciltionS at both, the above settle-
ments are appalling:with . not a 'ves-
ttge :et; watersid, .proPerri 'Héd 
t• Wad .• prbrisione ir tke steamar's 

The Evening Telegram 
St. John's, Nfld. 
Vol. LI, No. E66 
Monday, November 25, 1925. 
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;. 	veimisrt.. 

everythine-and •unlécis softie .;relief ; is 
forthcoming'It .1à impossible•for them 
to- exist.. Mr. Giovannini is at present 
staying's at the. Falcon House.: • 

' 

No Damage 
at ass Island 

- . The .  following !message • from Piss 
•Isiand has  been received by-Mr. J. W. 

• • 
• ..yery, thankful to 'say po damage' 
:•;(hatever'here. Thank .you.. 

..E .E. BULLE? 

CIIAIEMAN OF RELIEF. COMMIT. 
•TEE EXPRESSES,TRANKS 

Message to Prime-Minister 
BURIN, Nov.. 23. 

On hehalf of:otir people I thank YoU 
for -what-hàs been' done.'  '-Provision
laded from Meigle being. distributed 

'ainendf3t 'deatitute. Doctors 'have at-
tended alI.caSes shock and injurY 
from Rock Harbour. to Corbin, .Meigle 
ieft. 4 a.m. for west where destitution 
greatest. .Bodies: of Mrs.. • Bennett. 

.Mrs. Fucige, .Mrs. • Allen  and 'ilarriett 

.Fudge of.Port au. Bras', recoverèd. - 
 Dalsy,.endeavouring,•to  salve ..boit. 

160 tons .coal* ready !Or — distribution 
by.: committee here and clothing. 'be-
ing eupplled-_where absolutely:  esses-. 

 tial.. Details re Value • lost property 
being collected:. • . ; •"/':..• 

MA.Grs'rrtaip 
, 

31E. 'WINTER :AT BURIN 
The ,folloWinernéàéage.w'as receivéki 

'hy 
'Minter, 	 ' 

BURIN, Nev.' 23.:. 
Meigle with koVernment  minist- 

ers ha  s proceeded .to L.amaline. •. Am 
staying here for, t.I;re 'preaent. -  'Cam-
Mittee formed .and' met this smdrning 
and-dealt -with urgent ,matters. Am' 
-jus 'leaving for Port au Bras where 
loss  of jfe and property.  • heaViest. 
Nothing new sinee Lake's report of  
-yesterdaY. • 

(Sg.)• J cf .:A,-  WINTER.. 
• — 

MR. WINTER EXPRESSES . 
 APPRECIATION 

•BURIN, 
To ..Res.'A..H..,Howitt, 

St:John's:. 
.:Bi.Oeloastt'ot:setviceSAnd. repor4,,of 

disaster in Burin East -  distinctly 
heard: On behalf of all liere desire 
te thank you for. sympathetic and in-
spiring service." Efforts of St. John's 
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Terrors of Quake
and . Tidal Wave .

St., . Lawrence ' Resident . -,Describes.,
Mônday .. Night's -: Horrôrs

By T. 'ECHCGARY

On Monday evening, Nov. 18th, St.
Làwrenc8 was the scene of a dreadful
disaster• occasioned by a tidal wave
which almost entirely destroyed the
settlement and wrought much havoc
along this section of the .Southwest
Poast. .

;At 4.46 a dreadful rumbling noise
Was heard, accompanied by a violent
trembling of the earth which shook
each dwelling to its : foundation and
lasted about five minutes to the horror
of everyone. - • .

THE SECOND TEEMOR

-The people becàmé panic-stricken
Uàd many forsook their homes. The.
le;çitement wds intense' and when

tSàut two hours later a terrific roar-
.^ng`,of the séa was heârd, fear struck

é hearts of all. A few minutes after,
',Xremendous wall of water burst into
né harbor'and swept with irresistlble
aroe • updn :the land,' tearing ; down

b46rythine ' i n its.•way as it ' rushed
ïalobg. _

SYAVE,AFTER IYAYE

'the din ot'roaring waters, of shout-
^1^ç. people and the breaking up of
baildings.was terrifying. Many houses
lvere carried bodily inland for a con-
btàerahle dlstnnca and some of them

deposited when the force ot the huge
wave was spent, whilst many others
were broken into splinters. Then,
with' •(L mighty roar, the waters re-.
ceded, carrying wfth • them boats, fish-
ing stages, stores and dwellings. Again-
and again the dreadful waves rushed
in upon th) land,.each one more de-
structive thàn'the last..

SICK CARRIED . fi0 SAFETY

..The frightened people fed in a panic
to the higher ground.. Many sought
refuge 'around• the chnrch."..The prea-
bytery and convisnt were'crowded with
people `as 'tliéée ' bûiidings 'wére hish
above the waves.' , It was a pitiable
sight to see peoplè'carrying their gick
to a place. Of safety, 'or surrounded
by crying children, and shrieking with
dismay when some loved one was
missing, feariq be had been engulfed
by the terrib_^. iea; darkness add.ing
.to the âwful confusion.

DID NOT DARE GO ROME

By 10 o'clock • the destruction was

complete and the waves settled down

to a steady, but, by no means normai'

condition. "Yet the péople feared to

return to their home, many spending

the night in neighbors' , bouses, in

barns and other places of shelter, but

The Evening Telegram
St. John's, 'Nfld.
Vol. LI, No. 267
Tuesday, November 26, 1929.
p. 5, cols. 1-11

(continued)

I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
i,
I
I
I
1
I
I
I
I
I
I

none dared to sleep.

THE SIGHT AS DAWN CSXE •
^

At dawn.r}eat. morning sad beyond

description was the sight that greeted

the wretched -people. All their flsh-

ing piemises, stages, stores, boats,

nets and other gear, as well as barns

of hay and cattle swept away by the

pitiless sèa or strewn in fragments

upon the lhorè. •• kouses, fishing gear,

stores and wréckage,of all.kinds f<oat-

ing 'npon the still swoIlen and raging
sea. `In' à blinding'.atô'rm or wind,

sléet and wsriow :men ^and 'boÿs -were

trying at• the risk of their lives to res-

cue somë planks or sticks, the only
remnants -. of r their little property

which represented their all,'the result

of their lifelong labor and` thrift.

ALL BUT 2 STORES DESTROYED

. ,All their fishing premises, large and

•smali with the eaception• of two stores

were destroyed, manÿ'of them filled

with' 8sh.` `;` All the ..boats and fishirig
gear were carried oft 'oi thrown in a

shapeless, massI oi ZVréckage - upoà the

shorè. Added to =this the provisions

for the winter: Sour,l molasses, meat,

etc., which'were in their stores were

also c,ârried off. Several homes were

destro7red; ândrthe,hpeople are reduced

to a very pitiable condition.,' As the

fishery this year was a poor one, only

the barest necessities ôf life were

procurable and now all is lost.

PRIEST'S NOBLE SERVICE:

.'A11 that terrible night our indefatig-

able and ever-resourceful• pastor, Very

Rev. Father Thorne, went amongst the

people, calming the panio-stricken, and
encouraging the terrifled and helping

those in distress. Next day' he busied

himself inspiring hope lnto the de-

pressed people. In the evening he

called them together and in a long ad-

dress.he encouraged them to begin the
work of reconstruction by saving-the

33

wreckage floating on the harbor,
pointing out' wayi and means by
which 'it could be more successfully

aécomplished and did all he could to

relieve the terrible situation.
The erection of the telegraph poles

and wires which were swept away was
done under his personal supervision.
When communication was established
with the neighboring settlements it
was learned that Lawn and other
places had sùffered equally, and that
at Point aux Gaul, Port au Bras'and
Lord's Cove several people were
drowned: • • ,

The fact that no lives were.lost here
and with the exception of a few bad
hurts no one was seriously injured
is a great caûse for thankfulness and
a source of gratification to the poor
people in their awful affliction.

The estimated amount of damage andi
loss is from $150,000 to $250,000.

The Evening Telegram
St. John's, NF1d.
Uol. LI, No. 267
Tuesday, November 26, 1929.
P. 5, cals. 1-4
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EXTENSIVE DAMAGE 
AT ST. LAWRENCE 

Mr. A. • AI  Glovannini Telle Of'. De- 
struction Of Property.At That 

Place 

LOSS ESTIMATÉD AT $150, 09.0 
• 

'il...dlovtiinl.tof St. L'awr.:. 
en.ce arliveci:in:towaryesterday morn- 

S .;:,Gieiicle and train .1friani 
placentia. :Last- r;eveningthe Daily 
News «had  •a shorti interview yith 
him at the' Newtobadland Mr. 
Giovannini stated •thtit he was..on bis 

 wharf, at 7 p.m. lx.o.iday when he 
saw(  the whole of the harbor filled 
with •a..tlidal .'wave•that he estimated 
at 15' or. 20 'feet above .the ordinary 

level'of the waters. Withià 20' Min-
utot the whole wilter ;Croat at titie 
bottom of the bettor was &wept. 
Ills own premises ras the only one 
entirely demolished  IL  inçiuded 4 
stores, wharves, tlak.ils, 12011 . quintais 
fish and a quantity of piovisions. 
Altogether sOnio 150 separate stores, 
wharves, flakes, etc., were carried 
away. Eight dwelli-t7s were shifted 
and one totally destroyed About 60 
boats of all kinds ware loat a great 
many with' mdtor engines, but ha 

 was pleased to' be'able .  to say that 
no lives were lost 1-Te estimates..that 
tt will take $ 150,0,)0 to replaee the 
damage. 

The Daily News 
St. John's, NEld. 
Uol. 36, 	No. 26'i 
Monday, November 25, 1820. 
p. 6, cols. 3,LI 
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STIARENCE PEOPLE 
ARE TERROR STRICKEN 
AT 'QUAKE AND WAVE 
Fled To ,  • Higher Ground, 	Many 
Sought 'Refuge Around Church; 

Slok Carried To Places Of 
Safety • 

FATHER THORNE SPENT 
ENTIRE NI. GHT AMONG PEOPLE 

St. Lawrence, Nov. 20—On Moir-
day evening, Noveniber 18th, St. 
Lawrence was the scene or a dread-
ful disaster, occasioned by a tidal 
wave, which almost entirely destroy. 
cd  the settlement and wranght much 
havoc along this aection of the Soutn 
West Coast. 

At 4.45 a dreadful rumbling noise 
'.as  heard, accompanied . by a violent 
trembling of the earth which sho:dt 
each dwelling to its foundation, and 
lasted about five minutes, to Lite 
tcrror of everyone. 

The people became  panic-stricken 
and many forsook their homes. The 
elcltement was intense, and when 
about two hours later, a terrific roar-
log of the sea was beard, fear struck 
the hearts of all. A few minutes 
after a tremendous wall  of  water 
burst into the harbour and swept 
with irresistible force npon the land, 
tearing clown everything in its way 
as it rushed along. 

The din of roaring waters, of 
shouting people and the breaking up 
of buildings was terrifying. Many 
h.ottset4 were earried bodily inland 
for a considerable distance, and soma 
of thenr deposited when the force ut 
the huge wave was brekan into 
sPlinter.s. Then *with a mIghtyl roar 
the waters receded, can'ying with 
thetn. 'boats, fishing stages, stores 
and dwellings. Again and again the 
dreadful waves rushed In upon the 
It.nd, each one more destructive than 
the last. 

The frightened people fled In a 
panic te the higher ground. Many 
sought  ref uge  :around the elturell. 

The Presbytery and Convent were 
crowded with people, as these build-
ings were high above the waves. 11 
was a pitia.ble sight to see people 
t.arrying their slek to a place of 
safety, or surrounded by crying chil-
dren, and shrieking with dismay, 
\ ■ he u mtne loved one was mtssirg, 
fuarilig lutd been engulfed by the 
terrible sea, darkness adding to th'c-
awful confusion. 13Y ten °Meek the 
destruction was complete, and the 
waves settled down to a steady 1.1kt 
by no mon s normal condition. Yet 

•people  feared to ,return to their 
homes,  many spending the night in 
neighbour's houses, In barns and 
ether places of ahelter, but none  dar-
ed to sleep. 
• Next«  morniug-ead beyond descrip-
tion.  was•  the sight which greeted the 
wretched people,  ail  their fishing' 
premises, stages, stores, boats, net.; 
and  other gear, as well as 'barns of 
hay; and even their cattle swept 
away by the pitiless sea , or strewn 
In  fragments upon the shore.  lieuses, 

 fishing stores and wreckage of al. 
kinds, floating upou the still swollen 
nue  raging  sut. In a blinding storm 
of. wind, sleet and snow, 'men end 
boys wero trying at the risk of tbeir 
lies, to rescue some planks or 
sticks the only remnants of their li t . 
tic  property, which represented their 
all and was the result of their life-
long labours and thrift. All the 

promises large and small 
with the exception of two stores 
were destroyed, many of them filled 
with fish. All the boats and fish. 
Ing gear were carried off or thrown 
In a shapeless mass of wreckago up-
on the shore. Added to this the 
Provisions for the winter, flour, mo-
lasses,  ment  etc., which were in their 
stores were also carried off, several 
hotnee wore destroyed and the Peo -
ple are reduced to a very pitiable 
condition. As the fishery this Year 
was a poor  one,  only the bareat 
nocesaarlea of  lite  were procurable; 
and  now  all is lost. 

All that terrible night our  indu-
fatigable and eTenresourèefnl Paetor« 

 Verry Itov. • Father • Thorne, went 
siaortget the people,  calming the 
panic-stricken, encouraging the terri. 
fled and helping those in dintresa. 
.Nezt day ho. busied himself inspir-
ing hope into the depressed people. 
In the evening he called them to-
gether and in a long address he en-
c:ouraged them to begin the work.  of 
reconstruction, lay saving the wreCk-
age floating on the harbour, 'point. 
Ing out ways and means bY which it 
could be more successfully accom-
plished and «did all he could to re-
lien, the  terrible situation. The 
erection of the telegraph . poles and 
wiree, which were »wept away was 
done under. his personal tlupervialou. 
Wben.  communIzat.lod !ma '. éstablitb= 
ed wit.h tha..neigli.bouring.aettlementa 
Iè was 'eared :thin othnr 
placer tad uiferod::e5maIly 44- at 
piAnt 
Fiord's COY° aerreral De0174..,.Were. 
&Owned, ,The«  fact that 
were  lost:here  'and'  'With s  the 	' 
tltrn ea few 'bacI,Ircirts; no oe.was,, 
eir. louifly LnJured te, i,a • great ' , èiuuzob . 

 tOr th..enlg11410;''.inct.i'll 0111'Ci3 	- 
efen4Idet4..:tue 	 ta•t,‘ 
me 0.; e.flultier; 

iplutiletyealed .-.0,1it;ot 44piette.',.ed 
iei -oesien 000. 
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F FFf:CTS OF TII1,1I. IS'ATt. IN
I.ITTI.E ST. LAII'RENCE.

Channel Cut Through Beach $ared
Greater Destruction of Yroperty

Editor Ecenin= Telegram,
Dear. Sir-So -much' baa _ been said

and written on the recent tidal waTe
and Its consequences that any contri-
bution 'of mine,. I perceice, would- at
this time be "supertiuous. But as no

one seemed 'to 'think It worth while to
place us.-in the limelight when ipeak-
lna otthelosses sustained by the dis-
aster, I will in justice to the place,
and with your permission, mention a
few Jncidenis in' connection there- .
Rith which'.should place us 'hi the
same category with those who sutfered.
Though our. losses happily didn't em-
brace - any sacrifice of human lises,

.there weré afew at least who had a
cery close call, and.tiie. courage and
foresight displayed. lb.* -thése on that
occasfon are only, )M--Yeeping with the
records of the victims of that dread-
ful tragedr. The so-called i3land •(al-
-ay-s a mf+nomer but now a reality),
which juts out iinmedistely in front
of the inner h3rbor,, was formerly the
property of Newman & Company, but
within the last-hundred years has
chànged hands many times. It is no*
the property of :Ur. Edward TurpIn
à ho res-9des there with his family. It
Is connectèd - with the màin land or
cove hy z. high beach about one hun-
dred yards lonfi, and -thirty yards wide,
and serves as a shelt--r for the harbor
which is one of the safest in the coun-
try.

Rr1reà1  of Mother and Children Cat Off

It w_happened that on the night-of

the t:dal Ware, Mr. Turpin was absent

; from his home, being at Great St. I.aw-

rence on business. \Irs. Turpin at the

The Evening Telegram
St. John's, Newfoundland
Vol. LI, No. 293
Friday, December 27, 1929
p. 3 col. 5
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approach of the firid 
came alarmed at g3 nnu-suitreslocifY, 
and seeing her  stage  -an.d s 	go  With 
the element thought cliaéréticiii' ..the 
better part Of valour,'.indi fixtrri—ediate:- 

 Iy gathered  ber children— tOgether, -end 
wading knee-deep in  the watet Made' 
her * way for ça----bea.c .h,.the:.only .'eilt 
from the island:. On reaChing 
beach ihe disrove—red that h er retreiit: 
was cut off_ by the lilghn -e"Ss - .'Uf  the  
tide, and beihg warned by the Pe.oPle - 	-- 
on the main land not to attempt -  to 
cross. she waited Until It had sUbsid .- 
ed. '.When calm .tas restored she With'. 
her children decided'  lb  crosz the  
beach and had  jus.( barely.reached'the 
other side when a mountainous wave 
burst in cutting a .  large channe 
through the beach and - .practically 
sweepIng tEe whole water front in..the 
cove where -five_fziroilles- were locate-eC -. 	• 	•.... 

laelt in *Frayer  , 
Tb ê destruçtion of the  beach at this 

time w_as a Providential  happening for 
those-  in the rove, as • ft.  meant  the  re-
lease  of the wave which would  have 

 swamped every home in the cove and • 
 probably cause much los-Of 

panic-stricken  people liadalreadf . --À.- 
cated their homes after the first' ka_re,, 
and •repaired to the br igher 
where in the shelter of some rock 
they knelt in prayer lik-e-:rql-k-rriii -s-at 
a.. siarine, beseec' fus.T.. -Meccy:  'and 
making d hurr'ied Prepai- ation irti'hat: 
t.hey thought the ineViiihle, - -Jvbitti. 

 hxppily did not conàe, 

reock rifted -  Ftort its lied 
idea of  th ii magnitude.• .• . • •_-., • 

and  • force & the iii;re Which wrotigiit - 	•• 	..-• • 	... 
eticli-  terrible destruction in thiS, vide- 
Itya.riçl -environs It may be Interesting 
to 

„ 	 . 
etate that a certain rock ten- feet 

high--and .  d fee' t'bo-th wayi,-  weighing 
‘ ..eirO-libliln'thié. iiicinity of fifteen:tpns; 

•off  .the "COye,  a;4 served  as • 
•a beacon for centuries, was lifted from 
.14. bee.. and' cièpositeil :onig hnniire4 - 	• 	. 

• 
•3e-strut-lion of Vie's Work 

11t . 	to  se  e so ma.ny nice 
•hort- --- •acquired after - ma ny long 
yea—  rs  of . persistent' energy and thrift 
disfigured ji3O, .and 'as' nearly all the 
proprietors are -  nearing the allotted 
span.' they can'neier hope to he able 
to retriere  the los 	Infltcted Other 

-portIboaof  the  'community «suffered 
e-qually with us, one poor woman-  kys-
ing her  boise with all- its contents. 
Therefore, when the question of reliab-

siiitation vbecornes -a .--- reality as is be-
Ing .  prom.ised by a genero. us  public. I 

. trust  we will receiVe -  -due  recognition, 
and that we shall share in . the benefitr 

boped  are  
tà 	flt.by  the-disaster.  Our iscria 

le•Oktord.so seriOus 
rtlallY. ,:1- relieved. -thanks to 

the government for a temporury ferry. 

SCen.creië 14.1die .  Went. Down Refere 
• Waje.- 

Éiring  lu dose proximity to the 
bridge ..whirh was e Concrete struntur_e: -  

- I :had  the  opportunity to - It... Uncle Its 
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collapee;' ind ï'tebtar• to say_that -ft
It were bnilt of Iron 1t.Rould bais ina'G'
a si:milài fate, :as no àtrnc'tarë eovld-
witnst.ànd the pressure of rnch a Dhe:n.!
vnmenal.tidè. -?hé destruction oi thie.
flne brldge_^as serfowly tmptded trsf6k
6c bex.ceen both h arbots,and tha- PO

tn^:pie deplore the loss of this
pen-sable . high.ray.

Thanking Toa for spsce,' I Tc=#L
Yflnrs falthfnllY.

Llttlc ^t. Lawrence,
11S.EX: T G'RPI.%

The Evening Telegram
St. John's, Newfoundland
Vol. LI, No. 293
Friday, December 27, 1929
p. 3 col. 8
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Appendix 4

Single page on' Tidal Waves (Anonymous, 1970) from the March

1970 issue of Newfluar News (Vol. 4, No. 3, p. 5) and a copy of the
([Harrington] 1970) 'Offbeat history' article. The 'Offbeat

history' article of March 2, 1970 preceded the Newfluor News
article by only a week or so. These two accounts muddle up what
appears to have been a 1925 (or 1924) atmospherically-induced storm
surge event with the quite separate events of November 18, 1929
during the tsunami. I suspect that the 1925 event may have been
related to the January 23, 1925 storm that struck the south coast
of Newfoundland from Fortune to Port au Basques. The 'Offbeat
history' article was finally located with the kind help of the
staff at The Newfoundland Room of the Queen Elizabeth II Library at
Memorial University of Newfoundland.

1



1.1iewfluor News Page 5 

TIDAL WAVES 
40 

Many of our readers will recall the 
disastrous tidal wave of 1929 which caus-
ed great loss of life and property on the 
Burin Peninsula but we wonder if any 
has knowledge of a tidal vvave which is 
repo rted to have occurred at St. Law-
rence in 1925. 

The St. John's Evening Telegram in 
a column entitled "Offbeat his-tory" made 
reference to the tidal wave just recently. 
A twelve-ton fishing vessel named the 
"Meta Beasley'" , fishing dut of St. Law-
rence was involved in the disturbance. 
She was manned by George, Thomas, 
and William Beasley who were obviously 
related to one another. 

In 1925 they left St. Lawrence to 
go fishing. On the way out they met an-
other boat coming in and her skipper said 
it was useless for them to continue for 
the weather was too bad on the south-
west bank. They did not heed the warn-
ing; but when they were six miles off-
shore they met such a gale of wind that 
they had to turn around and run for 
shelter. They got back to St. Lawrence 
safely and anchored. 

A WALL OF WATER 

About eleven o'clock the three men 
went on deck. Just as they did they saw 
to their amazement, a wall of water 
sweeping into the harbour. Their boat was 
carried along on the wave like a chip, 
heading for another boat owned by Mr. 
Mayo of Burin. Mayo saw what vvas go-
ing to happen and, just before the col-
lision, he seized a large mop, placed it in 
a ten pound tub and lovvered it over the 
side of the boat, to act as a kind of fender 
between the two craft. But, of course, 
this did not work too well, and the next 
thing both Beasley's and Mayo's crew 
knew, the bulwarks, rails and stanchions 
were all gone from Mayo's boat as the two 
craft came together. Considerable damage 
was a!so done to Beasley's boat. 

After the crash, both boats swung 
apart again and, after drifting about and 
wallowing around for half an hour, the 
men managed to manoeuvre the two 
craft into the nearby wharves and secured 
them with lines to the gumpheads. Those 
wharves were on the western side of the 
harbour of St. Lawrence. There was a 
great deal of confusion all around the 
harbour basin, and it was plain there had 
been more than one collision. 

There vvere wrecked boats in all 
directions. George Squires from Herring 
Cove, who had just left the western side 
of the harbour to go home in his motor-
dory, was caught up in the tidal wave,  

for that's what it was, and his boat vvent 
crashing headlong into George Kelly's 
boat, breaking off the bowsprit. 

BOAT SWEPT ASHOR E 

After this mishap the dory went 
careening on, with Mr. Squires trying to 
make the eastern side; but as he came 
near the shore, many people shouted to 
him to jump out and save his life, for the 
situation looked very grim. He took their 
advice and scrambled ashore and it was 
just as well he did. For his dory and sev-
eral others, as well as a number of big 
trap skiffs, were swept along by the big 
wave like straws and carried right up to 
the Riverhead of St. Lawrence harbour. 
They didn't stop at the landwash, but 
were swept ashore, tossed over a picket 
fence, and hurled across the road. They 
finally came to a stop when the wave 
had spent itself and receded, leaving 
the boats high and dry in the middle of 
the football field. 

There was an old-fashioned house 
owned by a man, Patrick Handrigan, 
right in the path of the wave and the 
force of the water moved it about one 
hundred and fifty yards. The house was 
that style which has the main and the 
porch roof aIl in one on the back. Yet 
when the water receded the back of the 
house was facing the harbour; it had been 

turned completely around. Yet not a sin-
gle thing in the house had moved out of 
place! 

According to William Beasley, who 
related this story in the 1940's, he saw 
two men in a dory take the family out of 
this house, safe and sound and land them 
on the beach. When the unusual tide 
or tidal wave had settled down he and 
Thomas Beasley went to the house en-
tered it and found, as the accounts says 
not a single thing out of place. Even the 
waterbuckets were standing in their placeF 
in the back porch and the water in them 
hadn't even spilled over! 

RAN FOR THEIR LIVES 

There was also another boat dam-
aged there ovvned by George Bennett 
from Port Au Bras. Luckily, all the crew 
were ashore at the time. All this happened 
on a Friday and on Saturday Mr. Mayo's 
boat was repaired; she had part of a new 
side put in her. Thomas Pyke of St. Law-
rence told the Beasley's that, when the 
seas came in he saw people running up-
stairs who had never done so before in 
their whole lives. 

Well, it turned out that it was four 

o'clock tr.e following afternoon that the 
Messrs Beasley sat down to eat the meal 
their skipper-cook had started to prepare 
at ten o'clock the night before. But 
they enjoyed it, nonetheless, having es-
caped the tidal wave without injury to 
themselves and not too much damage 

to their fishing boat. 
It seems apparent from the fore-

going that a tidal wave did enter the har-
bour of St. Lawrence in the year of 1924 
or 1925, almost five years before the 
great Burin disaster on November 18, 
1929. Obviously, though, it was not like 

the latter which killed and drowned near-

ly thirty men, women and children and 

caused immense destruction to fishin 
and commercial premises, private homes, 

boats and schooners. 

We have spoken to some people at 

St. Lawrence vvho can vaguely recall the 

event in 1925 but have not been able to 

provide details. Probably one of our 

readers will have some knowledge of this 

tidal wave and we would appreciate it if 

he or she would take the time to drop us 

a line giving the details. 
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Was there a
Offbeat history

tidal wave in 1925?
Iast November lt wu 1 riV ô 1 v e d ,.M

e
• itt to

the fortieth artnharsu^`t itlaturbance. .wai

of the earthqttfiiro :and maaned G e

subsequent - tidal 'wave' Thom* and Wl:tiiam

that caused great loss of I3easleÿ : wbo'. ',w e r e

life ind property damage. obv3ouzly+related to one
on the Burin Peninsula. another.
The epicentre ' of the . ï:In 1924 or 1925 theÿ Ieft

y uwte -wa-s1 a t e r St: 'Lawn"..
determined to àave been i3shing.: On^tba .1M:out

recorded in that. general they. màt-a.eot^r %^
south of the Grand cotaTnâ `irt °kt^ T^.

Banks. In 1965 a slight s1dpÉ>ar was

earth trtawr w a s. vsdKa for - théni .k►
region. As a matter of conttnue. for the weather

fàct, Qver the centuries a was too ' bad oa the

large n u m b e r of south!►ett bant- They did

eârthquakes are known to not bad the warniat; but
have occurred In the when they rare. d= mûa
Grand Banks, the Cabo!t oClsboiw they mat inch a
Stralt, tho Gnlf of .SL gals '. of _ wàd .. that

lawncCo end the, St. they Sad in tttrn at'ooni
Lawrence River arw, and run for aheltet. The

There is not too much got back to SL Lawrence

detail about w h a t idely and aDch"ed-

happeeed during these A Will of watwrquakes, nothing IIke the
swria related about the About sie+rea o'cSock
1Atf disadar. But there is the three mm w+ni on
pqSmt, --at Ieast-oae tleck:^--Jttst=wtzAbey--"

story of another ttdal they aaw, to their

wave said to have amaxemoat, a wa11 of
occurred about fhro years water awwrpir.+g into the
t>+tcre the Burin trajady. harhooz. Tbatr bort was
A twmlv* - ton fishing carrbd aloag on tsa wara
vassal named the "Meta like a chip, b++dYnt for
$easley,° Sshln= out of anotàer boat owned by
St Lw-renca, w a s lfr. ]tayo of &atn. H+yo

Mw irnat was gotttg to There were wrecked a picket fence, and htaied
happen and, just before boats in all directions. across the road. They
the collizioa, he setsed a George Squires from finally. came to a stop
tarKe àx,p; placedit in,a Herrint Cove, who had when the wave had spent
.en po®d tub and lowered just left^wsstern side itself and Y e.c â d e d,
tt'over th^ side of , the of the to go home leaving the boats high
boat, to ad as.a Yind of in his nnotordnry, was and dry in the middle of
feâder'batween`thé two cattgtïf up in the tidal the football field.
cratt.p$tii;tp̂Ï_:.ëèarsa,^it ivave; lor that's wha[ tt There^ris an okI' -
didàstwodC too wall; aod surely was, and his boat fashioned houSe, owned
&3.p^' ^^' .both went crashing headlong- by a man Patrick
B^s1ay'a:` ^ni1 ']dayo's into George Kelly's boat, Handrigan, right in the
cre r 2nn*, tha batw+aks. breàkiac off the bowspriL path of -the wave, and the

^^^ w^ Boat swept
force of the water moved

an . tooe": t4oni, âtayo's ashore it about a hundred and

boat, • atis the two craft After this mishap the fifty yards. The house
o am e . :. =: t o Y e th e r. dory went careening on, was that style whtch has
Cmsideeibia damage with Mr. Squires trying the main and the porch

was also dooe to to make the eastern side; roof all In one, on the
BeasWs boat. but as he cime now the _ back. Yet when the water

Ati+rr_tha _csash. both shore, many - p e o p l e receded the b6dc of the
boats swung apart again shouted to him to jump bouse was facing the
and, after drifting about. out and save his life, for harbor; it hrd been
and waBov►ing ' atatnd lhe situation looked very turned cb m p 1 e t e I y

for half an hoar, the men grim. He Look their around. Yet not a single

mrnaged to manoeuvre advice • and scrambled thing in the bonze had

the two
.
craft into the ashore and It was just as moved out of its place! .

nearby wharves and 'se- well he dld. For 'his dory According to William
cure tIIem with Unes to and several others, as Baeaky, who related this

t he+-tumFi^• -R^ w,11 ss 7anutnben:oL-3ùg atorr.la thc.l4tQL he saiç
wharves were on the west- trap shifts, were swept two men , in a dory take

esn side of the harbor of aloriY by the big wave the _ta^ly out of this

SL LawreaM There was like straws and carried house, safe 'and sound
agreitt deal of cànhufoa right up to the Rlverhead and land them on the

an :arotmd the harbor of SL Lawrence Harbor. beach. When the tmasual

pasht, and It was plain They didn't stop at the tide oc tidal wave bad

there had been more than landwenh, but w e r e settled down he and

one collision. swept ashare, tossed over Thomas Be"ey wmt to
this house, entered it and
found, as the aeco®t
says, not a thing out of
place. Even the
waterbuckets were
standing In their places
in the back porcà and the
water in them hadn't
even spilled Ovtr!

Ran for tMir lives

1-tare was also another

boat dmated thern

ou ned by Gcurye Baooett

tnxn Nin au t3ttit.

Luciily. A-11 the cs, .r

wern aiare At the tiam.
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AU this happened on a
Nday, and an Saturday
\f r. ]►taYo's boat was
repaired; she h*d part of
a new side put In her.
1'hoasaa Pyka of St.
Lawnacd toid t h e
Beasleys that, when the
sea came in be saw
people run npstairs who
had twver dons so before
in their whote llvea.

Well, It turnad out that
it was four o'clock the
followint afternoon tb.t
the Messrs Bwlq sat
down to sat the meal
their skipper - cook had
started to prepan At 10
o'clock the night bafore.
But they enjoyed It.
twnatbaleu, h a r i n r
escaped the tMal wave
>rithout-1 a } a r y -1o
tbemaelvas and not too
much damage to their
fishing boaL

it seems apparent from
the foregoing that a tidal
wave did enter the harbor
of SL Lawrence in the
year of 1924 or 1925,

the great Burin ditaster
.,f NovemDer, - 1129.
Obvioosly, though, It
wasn't anything like the
latter which killed and
drowned nearly thirty
men, women and children
and caused Immense
deatruction to CshhsY and
commercial prernIses.
private homes, boats, and
schooners. '

The peculiar thing
about this story 1s the
fact that only St.
Lawrence is mentioned
as havfng aa[tyreà
swtrty from the wavw. It
1s possible that other
communities In the tante
jeaaral am a:pariesced
unusual Motion and tor"
In the na at, th4 Urne
-timraad marw^o have
suffered damage too. It
woùld be use(ul, as well
as Intatwttnj, to bear
from attyeoe in that dis-
trict on the "boat" of the
Burin Perdonta, ouWde
St. . Lawru+ce, who-
experieeced~ or shared
similar e.cpèriences to
those ot the Beasleys.

The Evening Telegram
St. John's, Newfoundland
Monday,'March 2, 1970
Vol. 92, No. 42
p. 6, cols. 4-8, headline

and article



Appendix 5 

Chapters IV and V from Ena Farrell Edwards' (Edwards with 

Buehler, 1983) book Notes toward a history of St. Lawrence. 
Chapter IV (pp. 34-37) gives a brief description of the fishery in 
the 1920's through to the 1970's and shows how important steady 

work in the fluorspar mines was to drawing the men from the 
fishery. Chapter V (pp. 38-44) describes certain stories from the 
November 18, 1929 tsunami. 
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CHAPTER IV

Prior to the 1890's fishing was done by the old
fashioned hook and line method or with nets or seins.
The 1890's saw the advent of banking schooners. The
first two schooners, the Ronald H. and the Klondike,
were brought to St. Lawrence in 1893 by my
grandfather, Thos. Farrell. Each of these schooners
carried ten dories, with two men per dory. The rest of
the crew consisted of a cook, a mate, a captain, a
catchie and a boatswain. This type of fishing proved
fairly successful.

The turn of the century brought a number of
changes to the fishing industry. Cod traps and decked
sailing skiffs were introduced into the St. Lawrence
fishery. These skiffs would fish up to ten miles out. The
trawl was also introduced at about this time. The trawl
had a ground line which went down about fifty
fathoms, or three hundred feet. Attached to the ground
line were "sed" lines at intervals of five or six feet. On
each sed line was a hook baited with fish, usually
herring in the spring, caplin in June and July, and
squid in August and the fall. The trawl fishery was
carried on both inshore and on the offshore banks.

Until the tidal wave of 1929 an extensive trap
fishery was carried on by Thos. Farrell & Sons, A.A.
Giovannini and Pike & Bradley. All had general
stores in the area and supplied those materials
which were essential to the conduct of the fishery in
the community. (Actually, Pike & Bradley sold out to
W. & T. Hollett of Burin sometime before 1929 and
their premises were destroyed in the tidal wave.)

The A. A. Giovannini premises were situated on
the site of today's K-Karen Motel. Bradley & Pike was
located on the east side, and T. Farrell & Sons was
located Partly on the side of the present Farrell Bros.

34

43

1



I
A
I
1
I
I
I
I
1

I
1
1
1
A
1
1
1
I

premises and partly on water front property later

purchased by Alcan.

Because the ten A. A. Giovannini boats were
painted blue they were referred to as the "Blue Boats."
T. Farrell & Sons boats were white and carried yellow
dories. The Farrells had five trap boats, plus a jack
boat built in 1912 called the Pioneer. This was the first
boat in St. Lawrence to be powered by an engine (14
hp.). She was used in the coastal fishery and the off-
shore grounds. The Farrells also owned a larger,
yacht-type vessel, which they had had built in St.
Lawrence for a New York millionaire, a Mr. J. B.
Orr, who died before the boat was completed. It was
an auxilliary with a 60 ft. span, spacious
accommodations and a 48 hp. engine. Initially, this
boat, called the Miowa, was used for pleasure and for
paid exctirsions to St. Pierre and other points. Later
they made changes in her, cutting down the
accommodations and installing two smaller masts
and a smaller engine (24 hp. Grey) and used her for
trading.

Alexander Slaney, Charles Beck, John Beck,
Victor Turpin and Thomas Turpin also owned their
own boats and equipment and carried on a successful
trap fishery. During the 1920's Victor Turpin and
Thomas J. Turpin also established small general
stores.

The introduction of the gasoline engine, in 1916,
revolutionized the fishing industry in St. Lawrence.
Prior to this the larger vessels had been powered by
sail and skiffs and dories by man-powered oars. The
change to motor power gave fishermen the freedom to
move out farther into the ocean in the search for fish. It
also helped the offshore fishery by allowing the ships
to arrive at the banks while their bait, which would be
frozen, was still in good condition.

Due to catch failures and other unfavourable
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conditions, St. Lawrence's bank fishery ceased and, in 
1915, only the inshore fishery was pursued. St. 
Lawrence was one of the better locations on the South 
Coast for the inshore fishery and, for a time, it was 
quite successful. Fish was sold fresh, in salt bulk or 
sun-dried, and was exported direct to the various 
markets. This prosperous fishery was effectively 
ended in 1929. The tidal wave of that year had a 
devastating effect on the fishing grounds and for two 
years after there was an almost complete absence of 
fish in local waters. The epicentre of the earthquake 
which caused the wave was less than one hundred 
miles south of Cape Chapeau Rouge. It destroyed the 
plankton and the vegetation on the ocean floor on 
which the fish feed. This absence of fish and the 
generally unstable fish markets, plus the opening of 
the fluorspar mines in 1933, caused the people to turn 
their backs on the fishery. 

In the early 1940's there was a small fishery 
carried on by some of the older men who were unable to 
find work in the mines, and, in 1957, after the 
shutdown of the St. Lawrence Corporation, some of the 
younger men again became involved in the fishery 
and acquired boats and equipment. This was 
shortlived, however. Only a few continued to fish 
when work became available at the Newfluor Mines. 
Some miners did fish part-time, on days off and on 
holidays, since, in 1958, it became possible for them to 
dispose of their fresh fish at the Fishery Products 
plant at Burin. The delivery of fresh fish to the 
facilities at Burin was facilitated by the building in 
1959, through the combined efforts of the Town 
Council, the Federal and Provincial Governments and 
the Fishermen's Committee, of a community stage. 

The introduction of gill nets into our fishery in 
1962 stepped up production considerably. The 
fishermen were no longer dependent on bait, which 
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was sometimes difficult to procure. The first five or six
years after the introduction of gill nets catches were
increased noticeably. Recently, however, there has
been a serious decline in catches. It is believed that this
decline is partly due to the fact that the gill nets catch a
lot of female fish, with the result that reproduction is
reduced. Another factor is the overfishing of the
offshore banks by our own and foreign dragger fleets,
some of which come from as far away as Russia and
Japan.

The close-down of the Alcan Fluorspar Mines in
1978 saw a quick return to the fishery at St. Lawrence.
With faster boats and an ultra-modern fish plant,
which, when working at full capacity employed over
200 people, the prospects looked good for the town. The
future of this plant is now uncertain and so is that of
our town:
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CHAPTER V

The evening of November 18,1929, was beautiful,
sun shining, crisp and cool. At St. Lawrence and
elsewhere on the Burin Peninsula people went about
their every day work. They had no inkling whatsoever
of what the next few hours held in store for them.

Around 4:30 in the afternoon the ground began to
shake, buildings rattled. Everyone knew something
had happened, but only a few knew it for what it was,
an earthquake, and even they did not know what was
to follow.

The tide waters were quite high, but no particular
attention was paid to that. Then, about 8 o'clock,
things began to happen. The water drained completely
out of the harbour and boats reeled over on their sides,
a strange sight indeed. Then came the first wave, a
wall of water thirty feet high. Receding, it met an
incoming wave and returned with increased violence
to the land, to be followed by a third and final wave.
The noise was deafening as fishing stages, flakes and
stores left their foundations and were swept out
through the harbour. Many people evacuated their
homes and fled to the safety of higher ground. In less
than thirty minutes the sea had done its worst. Scenes
of destruction and desolation were everywhere. People
viewing their destroyed homes, ruined fishing gear,
premises, boats and property were dazed and unable to
realize fully the nature of the ordeal they had passed
through.

The firm of T. Farrell & Sons suffered heavy
losses, as almost a complete voyage of fish was packed
in casques, ready for shipment to Puerto Rico. All of it
was ruined. They also lost boats and a great deal of
fishing gear. A. A. Giovannini, who also conducted an
extensive fishing industry, suffered severely. His large
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fishing store was washed out into the harbour by the 
waves and hundreds of quintals of fish were ruined. 

It was not until the next day, which broke to a cold 
east wind with sleet and snow, that the outside world 
was informed of the disaster, because all 
communication by wire had been cut. On the 19th 
Magistrate Hollett, of Burin, sent a wireless message 
via the S. S. Portia, informing the outside world of the 
devastation which had occurred on the Burin 
Peninsula. Once news of the disaster reached the 
outside help started pouring in from all parts of the 
island. About $250,000 was received. Food, clothing 
and other supplies were soon dispatched to the needy 
people along the coast from Burin to Lamaline. 

Although the centre of the disturbance was 
directly off the South Coast, the tremors of this 
earthquake were felt as far north as Little Bay Islands. 
The tremor was accompanied by a rumbling noise 
which caused many people to run from their houses 
and places of business to ascertain the cause of the 
disturbance. The vibrations caused dishes to fall from 
shelves, covers to rattle on stoves, lamps to fall from 
their brackets. At Cape Race the shock was so heavy 
that the lighthouse building trembled to such an 
ext,ent that several pounds of mercury were shaken out 
of the mercury box. 

The earthquake and tidal wave also effected the 
sea. An expert opinion was that the earthquake lay 
about 250 miles south of Newfoundland on the Grand 
Banks, the first report of such an incident this far east. 
The fishing grounds were swept clean of marine life 
and it was more than a decade before fishing in the 
area returned to normal. 

It Was the beginning of the lean years, and the 
people of St. Lawrence and the nearby areas were left 
with the "never to be forgotten terror" of the night the 
seas came in. 
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Only once before has Newfoundland experienced
anything like it. Prowse records in his History that in
the year before the American Civil War a tidal wave
swept the coast, taking a toll of 300 lives.

One older resident of St. Lawrence vividly recalled
the happenings of the tragic night. "Looking back," he
said, "it seems unreal...a grim moon, dark clouds, a
terrific roar and huge waves rushing in through the
harbour, covering roads, fishing premises and the
houses that were near the waterfront. Then the
ranting noises of these as they were torn from their
'foundations and taken with the waves out to sea. And
wherever there was water always, now there was
none... only the wreckage of every description, and
boats strewn everywhere, high and dry.

"No one slept that night, everyone searched to try
and find some of their property that had been carried
away by the sea. The next day the wind was from the
south east, accompanied by wet snow." Such
desolation he'd never forget. "Fishermen's stages,
stores and flakes were all destroyed, along with
several boats and schooners. The harbour from end to
end was strewn with wreckage of every description, a
truly sorry sight to behold. It took several months
before life returned to normal. Every shifting of the
wind, every storm that made its appearance caused
people to shudder. There was always that dread that
the ocean may roll in again."

Of course there are many more stories that people
tell about this event, but I will tell only two.

St. Lawrence has a long narrow strip of beach
jutting out mid-harbour on which a road leads to its
extremity, Shingle Point. The government wharf
freight shed was situated on this point for years, béfore
being moved to its present site. Also on this point was
the home and small plot of land belonging to George
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Pike. He wasn't living there at the time of the tidal
wave, having moved.to the U.S.A., and the house was
occupied by his son,' Thomas A. Pike, a customs
official and veteran of World War I.

Shingle Point was in the direct path of the tides
coming in. The Pike family had finished their evening
meal and the three children were tucked in bed, and the
parents were about to begin a game of cards with some
friends who had dropped in, when they heard a loud
roar. Going outside to see what it was, they heard loud
cries from the townfolk on the main waterfront, telling
them to leave the place immediately, run for their lives,
the seas were coming in. In haste and fright they
snatched the children from their beds and started to
run to safety. The beach is approximately a quarter of
a mile long, and they just made the end of it adjoining
the town road, when the onslaught of the first wave
covered it completely. The water went way above the
second floor of the Pike house, but it withstood all three
waves and remained standing when the water
subsided.

There was a small barn on the property in which
the Pike's kept a horse name "Jacko." The barn was
taken out with the rush of the sea, and Jacko was in it.
Men standing near but a safe distance from the
waterfront noticed a dark object coming in on the next
rush of water. Thinking it was a man they gave crys of
encouragement and were ready with any assistance
they could give. When the water reached its highest
ebb, the object turned out to be, to their great joy, not a
man, but the Pike horse, Jacko! The poor animal was
so frightened he bolted past the road into the meadows
and to the back woods. It was three days before he
made his appearance back in town.

When the Pikes went back to view their home the
next day, they found everything in a.watersoaked
condition and ruined. The lamps were still burning
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and Mrs. Pike had bread baking in the oven at the time
of their quick departure. This was now water-soaked
dough. It was one of the wonders of that night, and
talked about many, many times after, how that house
had withstood that mad onslaught of water. The Pikes
were glad it had and thanked God over and over for
their miraculous and narrow escape.

Alfred Turpin was enroute from St. Pierre with his
father, Victor Turpin (who operated a general store),
the night of the tidal wave. Here is his story in his own
words.

It was the 15th of November. My father told me to get
the skiff ready as we were going to St. Pierre. Being an
open skiff, not decked in, we had to put a long box, 6 ft.
long by 5 ft. wide and high enough for us to get in and
have lunch, also to store our gas, ropes, sails, etc. The
16th November at 2 a.m. we left St. Lawrence for St.
Pierre. We arrived there at 7 a.m., did our business and
saw some friends. By that time we were doubtful about
returning home. A big wind had blown up, and soon there
was a gale to North East. We had to stay, and the next
day the gale continued. On the morning of November
18th it was still blowing but the wind had changed to the
north west, a fair time for home if the water was smooth.

A rum runner came in from the U.S.A. and we got the
weather report from them. They said by the glass the
wind would die out later in the day but would change
during the night to the south east, with gale force winds
and snow. My father decided to leave around 4 p.m. and,
hoisting the sails, we took our departure. We did not start
the engine as we wanted to come slow, as the wind was
dying out, but to keep ahead of the breaking...but to keep
ahead of the breaking waves we were forced to start it,
and we could not go back. My cousin, Joe Turpin, was
with us, also, another man from St. Lawrence, David
Drake, who had been working at St. Pierre. I heard Joe
say to him we are in the middle of a storm. We used to
run off before the wind. When we'd see a huge wave -
coming, my father, being an experienced seaman, knew
the waves would break on us, so he would reel around
head to it, and fall away again for the Newfoundland
coast.
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The going was pretty bad. One wave was so bad and
so high that when we sailed on it...it was so upright that
the little house by the mast shooted down middle skiff to
the engine. I heard father say, "the skiff is going to fall
back on us." We held our breaths, but she didn't, but went
down on the other side of the wave head on, so much so
that the little house moved right back in its place. By
that time another wave was coming, my father turned her
around again, but not quick enough and the sea broke
across her stern. Joe grabbed the mast and held on for
his life. I grabbed part of the engine house that was open.
All I could see was a wall of water between Joe and I.
Father was leaning hard to port on the steering stick
when he came out of the water and, holding on the rail of
the skiff, again he had to put her before the wind which
lifted her, and some water ran out over the rail, but not
enough, so he took the axe and cut the ceiling, so the
water could run forward and I could bail it out. I bailed
as hard as I could, but could not gain on the water. I
thought my father had cut a plank. Joe joined me in
bailing and finally we got her dry. During this time we
were sailing a fast clip. It was the sails that brought us
out of the wailing water as the engine had no control,
and the propellor seemed to be racing in the foaming sea.

Finally, after what seemed an eternity we sighted
what seemed to be a rock, we took it for the Eastern Shag
Rock. Now we were looking for Lawn Island, but could
not see it. Joe looked back and said "That's Lawn Island,
not the Shag Rock." The latter was all under water as we
passed by. Next a welcome sight loomed up, we could see
our own headland, Chamber Point Head Rock. A full
moon was just rising o're the ocean and the wind started
to die out. Thankfully we hauled in for Cape Chapeau
Rouge. Steaming in the harbour we went in the little
house to have a warm drink. We were just off Herring
Cove when we struck something. Looking around it
seemed we were in a forest of wood. We ran upon a fish
flake, all boughs were stood on théir end. Finally, under
the weight of the skiff, the flake split in two. We slowed
the engine down, then we saw a red building floating
towards us. I thought it was my sister's house, as it was
painted the same color. Nearing it we found it to be a
fishing store. We continued to edge our way in the
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harbour, through all the 1,vreckage and debris, until we 
got to our stage head (wharf). The tide was high, 
extremely high, and we rolled everything in the stage. By 
that time the tide was going out, and going so fast we 
had to tie seventy fathom of rope on the skiff and let her 
go out with the tide, and when it came back the next time 
we hauled her right in around the fishing stage. 

It was only then, and in talking with some men, that 
we realized the tremendous happening we had sailed 
through and were lucky enough to make our home port 
having ridden the crests of a tidal wave. 
This was the last of Mr. Turpin's account, but he 

did add a little bit of humour. Having just made it from 
the French Islands and no doubt having a little 
something the law would love to come upon, he said, 
"It was a great night to smuggle. There were no police 
officers or customs officials to trouble you. All you had 
to do was roll it ashore." 
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Appendix 6

Transcripts of the April 17 and April 25, 1995 letters
received from Mrs. Ena Farrell Edwards and from Kevin Pike
respectively, re the flooding of the Thomas (Tom) Pike house on
Shingle Point.
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St. Lawrence Heritage Society
P.O. Box 1992, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland, AOE 2V0

Telephone (709) 873-3472

St. Lawrence

Apr. 17/95.

Dear Alan.
Thanks for your letter, the negatives and picture of the Tom

Pike house - I'll admit the timing of this has me confused now too.

I agree its Sandy Turpin the crippled wharfinger - the shed behind
the Pike house is the Government store, where freight used to be
stored not Tacko's stable! You stated Kevin Pike was born on the
East side St. Lawrence 1930 - they moved there after the tidal wave
in 1929 - The house wasn't removed till the fluorspar mines opened
in 1933 (You will note most windows are bare) the property was then
bought by the mining company St. Lawrence Corporation of Nfld owned
by Walter E Seibert an American. You will note by the picture
also, props and other timber to be used in the cuts that were being
made in mining preparation.

To be candid I really cant say for sure I took this picture -
I may have inherited it from my aunt! After all I was only around
11 years old at that time. My photographic memory is vivid from
the 40s onward. My belief is - it was taken around '33 or '34.

If I should come across anything else that may be of interest
to you, I'11 write you again. With best wishes for the success of
your project, and It was so nice talking with you.

Sincerely,
Ena Farrell Edwards.
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April 25/95 

Dear Alan 
Good to hear from you. I'm going away for a week so I'll 

get this note in mail pronto. 

Cynthia returned the pie/ure a few days ago. I thought the picture 
had come out quite good, due to Its age I thought it come out real 
good. 

A few of the question I will try to answer on your letter. 	My 
father name was Thomas Pike. He was known as one armed Tom as he 
Joined the army at age 16 and lost his arm before he was eighteen. 
I think you saw his discharge certificate when you were here. A 
little confusion on my sisters ages; I went to the registry and 
got the correct ages. 	Margurite Born Nov. 19, 1923 

Dorine 	" 	April 20 1926 
Geraldine 	It 	Oct 8 1927 
Jean 	" 	April 24 1929 

Names of the people at the house that night were [Thomas Pike, 
father; Aggie Pike, mother] Thomas [J.] Kelly, Robert Slaney 
(Klondyke) nickname. The maid's name was Myrtle Whittle; she was 
at home that night.* Each one grabbed a child and ran. 

They went to live with Mrs. Diana Cooper for awhile and then moved 
to a house on the east side of town. The water went to the top 
floor of the house. Mom was baking bread at the time, needless to 
say the bread was water soaked the next day when they went back to 
look at the damage. The house was taken down a short time later. 
I don't know when the photo was taken. I know Ena did not take it. 
I don't think she was born when the picture was taken. 

The little shed on the back of the house was where my father kept 
a small horse. It went out with the tide then It started to recede 
and the horse buck[ed] open the door and swam about a mile to the 
shore. 

I hope this little information helps. Anytime you think I can be 
of help please do not hesitate to call on me — sorry for the 
scribble — in a terrible hurry. Any time you are here and need a 
place to hang your hat you are always welcome to stay with us. 
Em sends her kind regards. 

Kind Regards 
Kevin 

* In interviewing Charlotte Turpin (Appendix 12) she told me that 
Myrtle Whittle had Just been landed in a dory on the west side as 
the tsunami arrived; she had come from the east side to visit 
friends and escaped the 'tidal wave' Just after she landed. 



Appendix 7 

Portion of Rennie Slaney's 1975 book History of Fluorspar 
Mining at St. Lawrence, Newfoundland, which briefly deals with the 
November 18, 1929 tsunami. 
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Added to this, in November 1929, a tremendous slide from the continental shelf,

some 250 miles south of Burin Peninsula, caused a tidal wave resulting in the des-

truction of all fishing property at St. Lawrence, as well as neighbouring settlements.

Fortunately, no lives were lost at St. Lawrence, but some thirty odd people were

drowned at other places on Burin Peninsula. This happened at a time of year when

nearly everyone had fish, food and other supplies stored for the winter. AII was

washed away, including many residences.

A committee, known as the Burin Peninsula Tidal Wave Disaster Fund,

was formed. Contributions of money flowed in from the United States, Canada,

and from all over Newfoundland. An approximate amount of $240,000 was col-

lected. This money was meant to help replace homes, fishing gear and property,

food and clothing. Though the residents lost their life savings, only a small

portion could be replaced, but it is understood that S40,000 of the money col-

lected was later turned over to the Marine Disaster Fund.
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Appendix 8

Transcript of a portion of the report 'Voyage of Relief Ship
Meigle' (Lake et al., 1929) found in the Provincial Archives of
Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John' s, in Manuscript Group 636, Box
1, File 3.

On the way down the coast en route to St. Lawrence
[on late Sunday night, November 24, 1929] we ran into a
very heavy S. E. storm, and were forced to harbour at
Lawn. The gale continued all day Monday, making it
impossible for us to communicate with the shore except in
the early morning. Discovering that the Nonia Nurse,
Mrs. D. Cherry, was on shore, we sent for her and kept
her with us as she was almost In a state of total
collapse due to the strenuous and incessant nature of her
activities on behalf of the sufferers through the tidal
wave disaster. One cannot speak too highly of the
services rendered by Nurse Cherry, and think she is
deserving of some special recognition.

On Tuesday morning [November 26, 1929] we reached St.
Lawrence where we found that the tidal wave had caused
the greatest amount of property destruction seen at any
of the places visited. Fortunately no loss of life
occurred here, and very few cases of destitution had to
be provided for. (p. 8]
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Appendix 9 

Losses at St. Lawrence of 117 claimants as compiled from the 
Statutory Declarations by the South Coast Disaster Committee. 
These sheets are found as 81x 14-inch folio sheets at the 
Provincial Archives of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's, 

Manuscript Group 636, Box 3 (Files 17-47), File No. 30, St. 
Lawrence. 

The far-right 'Remarks' column was seldom filled in and was 
not xeroxed. The various hand-written annotations and figures in 
pencil are believed to reflect later calculations by the South 
Coast Disaster Committee in arriving at the final compensation paid 
out. Occasionally these pencil annotations on the righthand side 

of the original 8ix14-inch folio sheets have been lost in the 
xeroxing. 
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Appendix 10 

Partial copy of the South Coast Disaster Committee's 
compilation entitled: Losses of Codfish Tidal Wave Disaster, Nov. 
10th[sic]. 1929. Only four of the 8ix14-inch folio sheets for the 
eastern part of the area from Rock Harbour to St. Lawrence were 
found at the Provincial Archives of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. 
John's, in Manuscript Group 636, Box 3 (Files 17-47), File No. 30, 
St. Lawrence. The compilation sheets for the area west of St. 
Lawrence from Lawn to Lamaline were not found. 
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Abbreviated Field Log of Alan Ruffman 
February 20 to March 2, 1995 

Monday. February 20. 1995  

Sent a facsimile to Connie Power at the St. John's, 

Newfoundland office of Emergency Preparedness Canada with suggested 
revisions for the proposed letter of invitation to the 1929 tsunami 
seminar to be held on March 2, 1995. 

Tuesday. February 21. 1995  

Flew to St. John's. Canada 3000 had delayed their flight 8.5 
hours supposedly on account of weather, then a further 3-hour delay 
was imposed once we were on the plane. Plotted up November 1929 
hindcast tidal data for Saint-Pierre. Arrived at friends' at 0545 
a.m. February 22nd irritated and exhausted. 

Wednesday. February 2 7. 1995  

Up at 1130. Rented car. Visited Newfoundland map office on 
Higgins Line. Turned in Rent-a-Wreck to get a car that I could 

lock. Shopped for field items and left St. John's at 1500. Road 

south from Goobies on the TCH to Marystown was often narrowed to 
one lane by drifted snow from the previous day's storm. At 
Marystown at 1900 it began to snow again and one could only follow 
the fast-fading tracks of the last car and assume that he/she had 
not gone off the road. Arrived at The Salt Cove Brook B&B in St. 
Lawrence at 2000 quite exhausted. 

Thursday. February 23. 1995  

Set up a meeting with Mayor Wayde Rowsell of St. Lawrence for 
1800. Snowing in a.m. Left about noon for reconnaissance; went 
as far as Lamaline. I was first to arrive at the Town Hall Council 
Chambers for the 1800 meeting. The meeting was set up as a full 
council meeting with a formal presentation by me. 

Attendees: Mayor Wayde Rowsell 	phone 873-2872 
Deputy Mayor Sam Tobin 	(chair of Disaster Relief 

Committee) 
Councillor Fabian Aylward (former mayor) 
Councillor George Doyle 
Councillor Jerome Slaney 
Clerk Greg Quirke 

Reviewed EPC project and its objectives. Council members then made 
16 or 17 suggestions re possible interviewees. Also made 
arrangements for me to obtain a copy of their Emergency/Disaster 
Plan (Anonymous, 1992) and told me of an old set of early St. 

Lawrence photos held by the town clerk. Mayor and Council are 1.5 
years into a four-year term. The Council requested a copy of the 
final report to EPC. 
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Thursday. Februarv 23. 1995 (continued)

Left a set of copies of the 1929 St. Lawrence-related newspaper
articles with Mr. Quirke for his town files. Visited Frank Pitman
in Little St. Lawrence, then back to B&B circa 2100.

Friday. February 24. 1995

Second snow storm was on in earnest by 1030. By noon the snow

had changed to freezing rain. Schools closed. Went to St.

Lawrence town hall and inspected the Albert J. Wallace Collection
of photos (Wallace, 1937-1941). He was sent to Newfoundland in
April-May 1937 by E.J. Lavino & Co. to open up the fluorspar mine.
He was in the area roughly 1937-1941. The album of circa 244
photos was donated to the town by A.J. Wallace's daughter Myrtle
Wallace Baaker on April 6, 1989.

I roughly indexed the collection and selected about 10 photos

that were probably relevant to the study and therefore worth

copying. There are no negatives and in general the photos are
pasted into the album.

Visited Richard Clarke in Little St. Lawrence in the late
afternoon. He is recuperating from a badly broken leg; in very
good spirits after a long stay in hospital. He and his wife

described their recollections of the tsunami at ages 7 and 10
respectively. Richard explained why the Tom Pike two-storey house
did not float off the "Point of Beach" (Shingle Point) in St.
Lawrence during the tsunami; the house frame was bolted down to a
rock-filled crib or "breast works".

Returned to B&B circa 2000. There are effectively no
restaurants in St. Lawrence; there are two take-out shops of sorts
and one can pre-order a meal at the Oceanview Motel. Made up a
list of all the stated St. Lawrence damage cited in the 1929
newspaper accounts which I had extracted from my major compilation
(Ruffman et al. in preparation a).

Saturday. Febr uary 25. 1995

Spoke to Ena Farrell Edwards. She will be unable to do an
interview until Tuesday or Wednesday because of severe laryngitis.
Spoke to George Macvicar, editor of The Southern Gazette, about the

project and an interview is to be set up on Monday.
Interviewed Mr. Michael (Mick) Turpin who has always lived on

Water Street East on the east side of St. Lawrence. Interview
lasted about 30 minutes. He has a very clear memory. Tape 95-1,

Side 1.
Then interviewed Mr. Archibald (Arch) Slaney who presently

lives on Water Street West on the west side of St. Lawrence. He is
still very active but his memory Is not as clear. Tape 95-1, Side
2. Visited Burin; dinner in Marystown. Overwrote about 3.2
minutes of the Turpin interview when I recorded a folk song on the
'tidal wave' at Evelyn Grondin's. Folk song is sung by a Vince or
Joe Baker. Again snow in late evening - the third storm but not as
serious as others to date.
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St y. February 26. 1995

In afternoon interviewed Mrs. Gertrude (Gertie) Turpin (née
Kelly) age 75 of Water Street East; her husband Norbert, age 81,
who is severely deaf was also present. Tape 95-2, Side 1. Mrs.
Turpin told me of a local history held by her niece Christina
Keating of Lawn; this turned out to be a history prepared on an
Opportunities For Youth summer project (Edwards et al., 1973).

Mrs. Turpin recalled that the tsunami had knocked over some
headstones in the "Holy Souls" cemetery on the north side of
Highway 220 (Mount Cecilia Catholic Cemetery). Mrs. Turpin's
father Tom J. Kelly was one of the men who ran with Tom Pike's
children in their arms from the Pike house out on Shingle Point.

Monda,v. February 27. 1995

Spoke to David Snow's EPC office in St. John's to ensure that
there would be a slide projector for the seminar. Visited St.
Lawrence town hall to arrange for copying photographs from the A.J.
Wallace album. Visited Cynthia Farrell at 12 Corporation Place who
does local photography and who has a closeup lens for copying
photos.

Talked to Levi Pike of Laurentian Avenue and his wife Mildred
was also close by; then interviewed Levi with his mother Emma
Blanche (Boxy) Pike (née Blagdon) who lives in the small house
behind Levi's. Tape 95-2, Side 2. Levi told me of 'the strand'
which was the sandy beach (fine sand) that once formed the 'bottom'
(north end) of St. Lawrence Harbour. This was a baymouth bar with
a pond or marsh behind it (i.e. to the north of it). 'The strand'
served as the shortcut to school on the east side if it was low
tide. One had to )ump the brook that cut the beach. The causeway
was built in 1954. A company called Mannix did dredging to the
south of the causeway on the west side of the Harbour and the
dredge spoil was dumped north of the causeway. This area behind
the causeway was also filled with all manner of Junk including
crushed cars. The soccer field in this area was not completed
until 1967.

Levi confirmed it was Tom Pike who lived in house on Shingle
Point. He recalled the wind went to the northwest the day after
the tsunami and it snowed. The old post office in 1929 was a
yellow two-storey house on the west side (north of the Causeway
Road now). Levi Pike recalled that the jack boat grounded up
beyond the "Holy Souls" Cemetery (Mount Cecilia Catholic Cemetery).

Visited town hall and borrowed the A.J. Wallace photo album to
take it to Cynthia Farrell of Farrell Foto. Marked fifteen photos
to copy. Missed Leo Etchegary and Shane Dunphy at the high school.
Both may have student project material on the 1929 tsunami.

interviewed Elizabeth Madeline Slaney (ex Quirk with no 'e'),
née Hayes, who lives on Water Street East close to Mr. Archibald
Slaney. Tape 95-2, Side 2. Mrs. Slaney is the town clerk's (Greg
Quirke's, with an 'e') mother. She lives in the Molloy house which
was moved from its location at the head of the Harbour by the 1929
tsunami. It was relocated from its grounding point to its present
location by her new husband's father then she came to Join Mr.
Michael Quirk in 1933. She never did experience the tsunami in St.
Lawrence directly; she was in Saint-Pierre at the time of the tsunami.

I
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onday. February 27. 1995 (continued)

Then interviewed John Kelly, who now lives on Laurentian
Avenue. Tape 95-3, Side 1. He pointed out the Handrigan house's
present location; it had moved in the tsunami but is now in the
process of being taken down by its present owners. Had supper with
Mayor Wayde Rowsell, Edgar King, president of the Greater Lamaline
Area Development Association (GLADA), and Annie Hillier, the
executive director of GLADA, along with Bud Glovannini at the
Oceanview Motel. The last person told me that the A.A. Giovannini
mentioned in the 1929 newspaper articles was Adolph A. - Uncle Duff
(i.e. Uncle Dolph).

Then met with Kevin Pike (wife Emma) who lives on Laurentian
Avenue. Kevin was born September 29, 1930. His father was Thomas
(Tom) Pike; his mother was Aggie Pike (née Penny) from Harbour
Breton. Tom and Aggie Pike's four daughters were in the two-storey
house on Shingle Point when the tsunami came; Margurite age 6,
Dorine age 3.5, Geraldine age 2, and Jean age 7 months (as revised
in an April 25, 1995 letter - Appendix 6). Uncle Jim Shea shouted
the warning to the Pikes and each of four adults carried a child at
a dead run to safety Just as the second wave arrived to inundate
the Pike house and flood over Shingle Point. Kevin said the water
went up to the top of the first storey of his parents' house.
Kevin loaned me a photo of the old family home on Shingle Point and
he agreed to copy Strauss' 1988 article.

Back at the B&B by about 2130.

Tues day. February 28. 1995

Visited the high school this a.m. as the fourth storm began.
Leo Etchegary still has not remembered to bring in the videotape
which his students made. Also did not get Shane Dunphy. Met
Cynthia Farrell and gave her the Kevin Pike photo to copy. Schools
were closing again.

Visited Christina Keating in Lawn in the worsening snowstorm
to collect the copy of the Edwards et al. [1973] history of St.

Lawrence. Once back in St. Lawrence spoke to Adolph (Duff)
Handrigan at the Town Hall; he works for the town. He is a
current owner of the Handrigan house which moved in the tsunami.

Then copied the Edwards et al. [1973] history for both myself
and for the town's files. Secretary Eileen Norman at the town hall
assisted in locating Marylin Etchegary (née Edwards) who did not
recall where their 1973 interview tapes went. Ms. Norman located
the phone numbers of Lillian Smith (née Robere) in Gander and of
Angela Drake of St. John's, the other two main co-authors of the
students' local history. I eventually was able to contact both of
them but neither recalled the location of the interview tapes.

Visited Ms. Meta Turpin the librarian in the library above the
town hall, then out into the snow. Revisited Gertrude Turpin (née
Kelly) on Water Street East and verified that the tsunami entered
the "Holy Souls" graveyard north of Highway 220 (Mount Cecilia
Catholic Cemetery).

Then visited Charlotte Turpin (née Perks) on Water Street East
who I interviewed and taped in November 1929. Mrs. (Alfred) Turpin

I
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Tuesday. February 28. 1995  (continued) 

didn't wish me to run the tape (she was sewing) so I Just took 
notes. 

The post office, with postmistress Sylvia Pike (Stella Hynes 
was postmistress sometime after the 'tidal wave' by circa 1937), 
and the telegraph office, with telegraphist Miss Cecelia Fewer, 
were in same building on the east side of Water Street West. Miss 
Fewer was described as 'a hard ticket' and as a 'great big woman'. 
Charlotte Turpin's father clipped the telegraph wires as the 
building started to move with the tsunami. After the tsunami the 
old post office/telegraph building was recovered and moved to the 
upper (or west) side of Water Street West — it is a two-storey 
large yellow-brown house now. The telephone building was run by 
the Etchegary family and it is the blue house with the white trim 
on the west side of Water Street. 

Mrs. Turpin indicated that the Pat(ti) Handrigan house which 
moved in the tsunami originally sat Just north of the fire station 
(where John O'Rourke presently has his house on Water Street East) 
and that she understands that it went right up by the "Holy Souls" 
graveyard near Highway 220 (Mount Cecilia Catholic Cemetery). The 
Jack boat grounded after one wave; it then went out on the next 
wave. Charlotte Turpin saw it going out. She was told by others 
that it went up to beyond the "Holy Souls" cemetery; she thinks 
there were people aboard the jack boat. 

Slaneyvale [Lane] on the west side had barrels of flour 
floated up into the lane. The Riverhead Road bridge went out 
(north end of Water St. W. today). This was the only road across 
the river; there was no Highway 220 then. There was one couple 
who lived on the west side and who were due to get married at the 
Catholic Church on the east side of the harbour  (Am  n Flannigan and 
Lizzy Quirke). They could not get across the road and washed out 
bridge for their scheduled wedding. Their son Allan who is age 60+ 
now is still alive, on Fairview Avenue in St. Lawrence (still on 
the west side of the harbour), so clearly the union eventually did 
occur! 

Snow changed to freezing rain. Dinner was takeaway chicken 
eaten in the car out by the shore viewing Shingle Point. 

Visited Ena Farrell Edwards (Mrs. Ken Edwards) on Director 
Drive in the evening after I picked up the copy of the Strauss 
(1988) article from Kevin Pike. No tape was used. "Miss Ena" was 
born in 1922 and was 7 at the time of the tsunami. Ena recalled 
that the Mike Fitzpatrick house moved near Notre Dame Street and 
Water Street West. The South Coast Disaster Committee bought them 
a new house which they later exchanged with Lou Etchegary Sr. 

Ena has a scrapbook with 'tidal wave' articles from 1976, 1979 
and 1981 probably from The Southern Gazette, as well as an article•
on 'Tidal Waves' from the Newfluor News (Anonymous, 1970) which is 
virtually word-for-word the text that was included in the Edwards 
et al. [1973] local history without a citation. 

In November of 1929 the Farrell family owned a shop on Water 
Street West with a fish store underneath it with casks all ready to 
go to Oporto in Portugal. The tsunami flooded and spoiled them. 
Between the first and second waves of the tsunami her two brothers, 
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Tuesday. February 28. 1995  (continued) 

Aubrey (now 90) and Howard, ran into the shop to get the money out 
of the safe but in the end their buildings did not go; they had 
three fish stores which Just flooded. Their big motorboat MIOWA 
which was at anchor close behind the stores also did not tear 

loose. 
Ena recalls that she took the circa 1930 photo of Tom Pike's 

house in Shingle Point which Kevin Pike loaned to me (but later in 
a letter dated April 17, 1995 she conceded that it may not have 
been her photo; Appendix 13); the person in the lower left of 
this photo is Sandy Turpin, a crippled wharfinger who used a cane. 
Apparently the three Giovannini brothers came from Lucca near 

Florence in the late 19th century and two of them settled in St. 

Lawrence (one called Gregory). The Adolph A. Giovannini cited in 
one of the newspaper articles in Appendix 3 was a first-generation 
Newfoundland son. 

There was a cod liver oil factory on the water side of Water 
Street East in 1929 opposite what is now Aylward's Mini Mart on 
Water Street East; it was destroyed in the tsunami. Ena recalls 
'the strand' beach being well inside the present causeway. 

I had to scrape off the frozen ice on the windshield after I 
left Ena's. On the way home I went around by old 'Riverhead Road' 
(part of Water St. W. today) to check on the position of the 
Fitzpatrick house as Ena had recalled it. I got back to the B&B at 
circa 2100. Reached Angela Drake; she does not know the location 
of the 1973 interview tapes. Did up my notes well into the next 

a .m. 

Wednesday. March 1. 1995  

The high school was again closed for a snow storm; the fifth 
storm! Left Leo Etchegary a note; left Shane Dunphy a note.* 

Reached Lillian Smith in Gander; she does not recall the location 
of the 1973 interview tapes. Left Christina Keating's copy of the 
Edwards et al. [1973] town history with her uncle John and aunt 

Nellie Kelly on Laurentian Avenue. Obtained a copy of the St. 

Lawrence community phone directory and of parts of Rennie Slaney's 
history of mining (written 1965, printed in 1975) from Greg Quirke 
at the town hall. 

Visited John Cusick and his wife Emma who live on Water Street 
East on the east side of the harbour out near Herring Cove. His 

father Stephen Cusick who was born March 18, 1918 has written a 
short documentary personal story about the difficult times in the 
1920's and '30's in St. Lawrence. It is called Fight For Survival 
(Cusick, circa 1994). Emma is in the process of rewriting it in 
better English. Stephen's family lived in a small two-storey house 
on the east side of Water Street West between what is now the 
causeway and "Em's [Kettle's small red and white] Takeout". It was 
the second tsunami wave that took out and moved the Cusick house. 
The first floor or bottom of their house was then badly damaged by 
a collision with a wharf torn loose elsewhere in the harbour. The 
top part of their house was later salvaged from the meadow north of 
the bridgehead road and the family lived in it for a short while. 

* Ultimately neither of these two ever got back to me. 
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Wednesday, March 1. 1995 (continued)

John Cusick has a probable 1929 photo taken from the east side
of the harbour looking west covering the area from Director Drive
to the north. He got it from Clem Cusick in Saint-Pierre. John
has not had it 'taken off' so he loaned It to Cynthia Farrell to
have it taken off for me.

I did an inventory of presently-existing business names on
shops on Water Street West and East and on Riverside Drive and put
this on the map. Then about 1330 began the difficult drive to
Marystown over the drifting and snow-covered road. Stopped for an
interview and photos at The Southern Gazette with Ms. Paula Levy.*
Left Marystown northbound at 1530. The road was fine and I was at
Goobies at 1730. There was a long detour on the TransCanada from
an accident. Got to St. John's by 2015. Stayed with friends.

Thursday, March 2, 1995

Checked at the Newfoundland Department of Natural Resources on
Higgins Line for the missing St. Lawrence sheet to the southeast of
the harbour mouth. In fact i t has not ever been publ i shed. Out to
Emergency Preparedness Canada In Donovans industrial Park and
presented a one-hour talk on the 1929 tsunami and the related
earthquake to an audience of about 15 persons. Good discussion

afterwards.
Then I went to the Provincial Archives of Newfoundland and

Labrador and located the 1929 St. Lawrence statutory declarations
as to each family's losses in the 1929 tsunami along with related
losses of salted fish etc. Ordered xeroxes of the full data set.
After a meal flew to Halifax where it took almost an hour to get
the thick, thick Ice off the windshield of the car. I was home by
2200.

"I Her article appeared in The Southern Gazette on Tuesday, March 7

(pp. 3 and 4 ) and was recyc l ed i n The Express of St. John's on

Wednesday, July 26, 1995 (p. 22).

I



Appendix 12 

Transcripts of the oral history interviews with older St. 
Lawrence residents familiar with aspects of the 1929 earthquake and 
tsunami. Transcripts were made by Wendy Findley and edited by Alan 
Ruffman. Note: the transcripts were sent to the interviewees and 
only two provided any corrections. 

Interviewee(s) 	 Page  

Charlotte Turpin 	 112 

Pauline Loder 	 120 

Michael Joseph Turpin with his wife Philomena Turpin 	 136 

Archibald Joseph Slaney 	 162 

Gertrude Frances Turpin with her husband 	 179 
Norbert Lionel Turpin 

Emma Blanche Pike and her son Levi Pike 	 206 

Elizabeth Madeline Slaney 	 223 

John M. Kelly 	 235 
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Transcript made
March 27, 1995
Wendy Findley

TAPE 94-7, SIDE 1, FIRST PART, SATURDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 1994,
CHARLOTTE TURP I N, ST. LAWRENCE , NERFO[JNDLAND

Charlotte Turpin - family name Perks
- born 1915
- raised by her aunt and uncle Diana and David

Slaney from age 13 months when her father died
- married to Alfred Turpin (now widowed)
- lives on Water Street East, St. Lawrence (CT

on front door)
- mailing address: Box 211, St. Lawrence,

Newfoundland AOE 2V0
- interview length: 10.75 minutes

CHARLOTTE TLJRPIN: ... fishery, he was a fisherman, eh?

ALAN RUFFMAN: Yeah.

CT: And, ah, he went up [to Toronto], ah, for a holiday, the
children, they come for a holiday. There was no fish. And
when they went up, now this one over here [pointing at her
children's pictures] as she is now, she got me go to work.
And then he sent for me to go.

AR: So he got a)ob and you guys stayed up there for, ah, ....

CT: And I went up and I took the two youngest with me 'n' I went
up, and I went to work for Litton Systems for 10 years.

AR: Wow.

CT: Yeah. I was 55 then, can you imagine?

AR: So you Just started work at 55. That was your first ....

CT: I knew, I knew more than what somebody was tellin' me, you
know. I worked in the cafeteria.

AR: OK. That was your first Job outside the home.

CT: Outside of the home.

AR: Yeah. Yeah.

CT: And, um, so anyway, ah, then we, he got sick then and, and
then we came home. So I'm sorry he's dead anyway.

AR: Had he worked in the mines?

CT: No, but you know what? There was never a doctor came here

I
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wouldn't believe that he didn't work in the mines with his
chest. But d'you know they used to have freight come on the
wharf.

AR: Was he smoking then? Would that be the ...

CT: Oh, yeah. He smoked.

AR: Well that would be the factor, maybe, the ...

CT: But then you know what? When the, when they had all this
stuff here, the boats used to come Into the wharves. We had

a store here?

AR: Yeah.

CT: And they'd go over and take the freight off, you'd be there
and you'd be blinded with this, this stuff [the dust from the

fluorspar ore].

AR: From, from the mine.

CT: From the mine, 'cause he had big heaps far over there. And,
and when it'd be blowin' we couln't see across the harbour.

AR: So he might've got the dust 3ust from working.

CT: And, and when we come home with the freight you had to wipe it
off the boxes like that [demonstrating with her handl.

AR: Wow.

CT: And, there's a man down the harbour had beautiful trees, and
when they put It on the roads here, it killed every tree he
had.

AR: Oh, really!

CT: That's really the truth.

AR: So they put the ....

CT: 01d Mr. Bill 'Lay'. They put it, yes when you be goin' up the
harbour and it was blowing you would have to turn back on.

AR: So that, you know, who knows how much other damage it might
have done?

CT: Who knows what? That's true.

AR: I've got that book by Leyton, ah, the book 'Dying Hard' and it
doesn't paint a very [pretty] picture.

CT: And when the doctors came here then to, to you know,

e
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Investigate and everything, that, ah, they sent out for him to 
go in to see who didn't work in the mine, and they wouldn't 
believe he didn't work in the mine. 

AR: And maybe he effectively did because of the dust over there. 

CT: Oh yes. Because he had asthma too, you know. That didn't 
help him, yeah. But, you know, he, there was no doctor would, 
they wouldn't take on insurance on 'im in Toronto, 'cause they 
thought he's gonna die quick. Yet he was 82 [when he died], 

so they lost money on him. 

AR: Yeah. 

CT: Yeah, yeah. 

AR: And, after the tidal wave, did they have much problem getting 
all the, the fishery back in order for the fellas? Was there 

much relief work done here? 

CT: They, they sent slow(?). 	Like everything else, some got it 

and some didn't, you know, nearly one that didn't get it. 	I 

had a, um, I had a picture of the old, of the old, um, MEIGLE, 
the first load that, the first load of 'spar' went out, and 
the first load they brought in here. 

AR: The MEIGLE actually carried the first load of spar [fluorspar 
ore]? 

CT: Oh, yeah. MEIGLE, yeah. 

AR: 'Cause the MEIGLE was the boat that they sent down from St. 
John's, ah, on the Thursday. The word got out from Burin of 
the disaster on a Thursday morning, and the MEIGLE was sent 
down the Thursday night. Do you remember her coming? Do you 
remember the ARGYLE coming into the harbour after the tidal 

wave? 

CT: 	I really don't know, you know, there's ... 

AR: And I talked to Captain Thornhill in Fortune, and he said he 
was coming down to St. Lawrence with a load of lumber, that 

night. 

CT: Oh, yeah. 

AR: But you wouldn't a been paying attention to those kinds of 
things. 

CT: No, no. 	We're tryin' to know what to do; 	were we gonna 
survive. 

AR: Yeah. How long did you, ah, when you, you'd taken your, your 
mother or your, your aunt up the hill, how long was it before 
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you dared to come back to the house?

CT: Oh, it was in the, quite early in the morning 'til we came
back, decided to come back, 'cause, like the, the whole
neighbourhood, they were all one people, eh? And I can
remember this young fella, he's kind of a young'n, he come, he
run down, he was livin' up the hill, and he, he said "We -a.11
got to die together now. We're goin' to die." you know? And
he went up in the, there was a big fence across, I'm tryin' to
get me poor old mother over the fence, 'fraid she's gonna be

drowned.

AR: How did you get her over the fence then?

CT: No. We-all got up in a corner. When the waves went down then

we ... looking like i t was backing down a bit. Yeah. But

AR: Yeah. How high do you think the water came up, now?

CT: I don't know really ... A man would know, you know. But was
so comical to see barrels floatin' around; went up in the

Lane, y'know, where the tide ....

AR: And would that ruin the, did that ruin the flour, or did some
of those ...?

CT: Oh, yes. The barrels, yeah.

AR: People couldn't use the flour after it got wet.

CT: ... to the stores, see, here was the road and then this little
store was there, and then out there was the stages and the
flakes [pointing out the front window of the house to the
shoreline area]. Well, all that went.

AR: Um hum. Were they able to salvage very much from the harbour?

CT: No, I don't know what they really did that time, you know.
[Phone rang, tape was stopped until the call was completed.]
[I] worry 'bout her [the caller -her daughter, who l ives next
door to the north].

AR: And she's retired, they're retired.

CT: They came home retired, yeah. Yeah. She worked and he worked
and they set up, and they came home. They bought- an old house
then, over there on the other side. And, um, my God, how they
go, and he does all his own work.

AR: They're putting all the work into it.

CT: Everything now.

I
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AR: Yeah. Well, I talked to Emily Edwards from St. Lawrence, but 
she was living in Lawn at the time. 

CT: Yeah, Miss Emily. She was, ah, one of the, she's the one now 
that I go with to the hospitals all the time. I am a 
volunteer and go to the Burin Hospital and pastorial care, and 
all that? 

AR: Yeah. 

CT: So she, that's the one I go with. 

AR: And, I was thinking I might go up to see Hughie, ah, what's 
his name, now? Um, Hughie Clarke is it, now? 

CT: Oh, yes, Hughie Clarke. 

AR: Where's he live now? 

CT: Hughie Clarke, now, lives up in the house with his ?? Levi 
Malloy lived. But now, not the same house, it was an old 
house, Ab and Annie got the house. Yeah. Lee, and he lives 
up there, he boards up there with the old lady or something. 

AR: Now, how would I find that house? Just go up here to the 
church, is it? 

CT: No, not up to the church. 

AR: This side of the church. 

CT: Um, you don't go out past the hall, you know, past Church 
Lane. 

AR: OK. 

CT: You go over, the restaurant is right there. 

AR: The takeaway. 

CT: The takeout. 

AR: Yeah. 

CT: Well then, this, not, don't pass the restaurant. 

AR: OK. 

CT: 	It's Just, the house then, and the lane, and this house is up 
there and there's another small house there. There's the 
Grady house up in the meadow there, well then, right down them 
steps would be Levi's house. And that's the lane. 

AR: That's where Hughie lives. 
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CT: That's where Hughle lives.

AR: Yeah. Have you ever heard any folksongs about the tidal wave?

CT: Oh, Hughie sings.

AR: Oh, he sings some, does he? You don't, you don't know the
words to any of them?

CT: No.' Hughie sings 'em. I haven't.

AR: Yeah.

CT: Hughie sings 'em. I could.phone t'see if they're there and
tell 'em ...

AR: Well, I thought I might drop over.

CT: Yeah. Well, ?? I'll phone t'see if he's there and tell ...

AR: Well, I should thank you very much for talking to me.

CT: Oh, that's OK, my dear.

AR: What I plan to do i s put this tape into the Archives, or maybe
the Burin, Burin Heritage House, and, would you have any
objections to other people being able to listen to this tape
and, hear a little bit about your experience? 'Cause I don't
think the young people know about this very much.

CT: [laughs her agreement] No, there's a lot, lot, there's a lot
of stories not told, you know.

AR: Yeah.

CT: My husband could tell so much stories. Now they're comin'
t'know about the, um, you know, goin' right back to your
ancestors were, you know. And, of course, ah, his father was,
ah, he, he'd say, you know, "I used t'hear me father say
this." You know, he could [go] right back 'cause well he was
80-somethin' himself.

AR: Yeah.

CT: And then, he heard his father tell stories, you know and ...

AR: Yeah.

CT: So, ah, so he could tell some stories, and he could tell who
the relations and who they weren't.

AR: t]m hum. Well, I thank you very, very much and, ah, it's nice
to be able to talk to someone who actually experienced the
tidal wave and saw the waves.

I
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CT: Oh, yes. I was tellin' Kay about it last night and she said,
now, I said "Why didn't you let me know when you were going
in?" She forgot about it.

AR: This is Kay, your daughter that came to the [tsunami] talk.

CT: Yeah. My oldest daughter. The son is the oldest lives here
[next door].

AR: Um hum.

CT: And Kay is my oldest daughter. Oh, yeah, 'cause we were
talkin' [about?] something to do. "Do you remember that
night?" I said. "It was really something." I could remember
so well where I was at when the wave took us - braidin' my
aunt's hair.

AR: Never did finish the hairdo, I suppose?

CT: No, it must be quite something.

AR: And [to] whom were you talking about it last night? You said
you were talking about it last night.

CT: Kay. Myself and Kay and Mrs. Priscilla. Now, they lived
under the bank down there, but the water never enter. . .. just
come in around the house.

AR: Um hum.

CT: And squirted all up the harbour too, right up, because there
was nothing then to keep it, because there was no causeway or
nothin'.

AR: Yeah.

CT: And the furor iust went in straight, and then a bridge goin'
across.

AR: Have you got any sense how far that water went up towards the
paved road? You know, the, ah, towards the school, up the
brook?

CT: Well, ah, ah, well, up in the bottom that way? A ways you go.
That went right in, sure almost in, In past the ...

AR: As far as the high school, do you think? Or,.or as far as
the, the, the, the manor?

CT: Oh, yes. Yeah. Went almost into the manor. Now, Levi
Malloy, and then his sister up on the hill, and seein' this
uh, this uh, I dunno if his mom took him, or who it was. I
was intending t'ask her today and i forgot 'bout it. She's
80, she's my age, [we went] to the school together, see?

I
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AR: What's her name?

CT: Ah, Vis Kelly. Lotte Kelly. Lotte. Charlotte is her name,
like mine, but she, she's Lotte.

AR: Charlotte Kelly?

CT: Yeah.

AR: So she, ah, she, ah, is still alive too, then?

CT: Oh, yes and see, she was livin' down then in the house where
her, um, where her, um, where the, the house is now. But it's
an old house then, they got a new house built now. But Levi's
wife is still there.

AR: Fascinating.

CT: Yeah. She's 86 or something but smart as anything ...

AR: Well, thank you very much for, for that and for the tea. I
enjoyed it.

CT: Oh God, a cup of the tea don't mean much.

AR: That's great.

End of interview

1
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Transcript made 
March 27, 1995 
Wendy Findley 

TAPE 94-7, SIDE 1, SECOND PART, SATURDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 1994, 
PAULINE LODER, ST. LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND 

Pauline Mary Loder — family name Shea 
— born about May 1898 
— first married a Fitzpatrick from Marystown, 

then a John Slaney and she has outlived her 
third husband Richard Loder 

— location: Mount Margaret Manor, St. Lawrence 
— mailing address: Mount Margaret Manor, 

Memorial Drive, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland 
AOE 2V0 

— interview length: 17 minutes 

ALAN RUFFMAN: Just let it run. I'll sit it right there so we can 
Just talk to each other. But, you were living in 
St. Lawrence in 1929? 

PAULINE LODER: Yes, I lived here all my life, sir. 

AR: And, I've got ... 

PL: I was born and reared here. 

AR: And I got your name as Pauline Loder. 

PL: Loder, yes. 

AR: But that wasn't your, that wasn't your family name. 

PL: No, my family name was Shea. 

AR: Pauline Shea. 

PL: Pauline Shea. 

AR: And did you have a middle name as well? 

PL: Mary. 

AR: Pauline Mary Shea. 

PL: Pauline Mary Shea. 

AR: And where did your family live in  •.•? 

PL: They lived in a place called The Dock. 

AR: The Dock. 
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PL: Because that's where the boats, that's where the government 
wharf was to? 

AR: Yes. 

PL: And that's where they, ah, always come there, and they named 
it The Dock. 

AR: Now, you, you were not, you were a young lady when, when the 
tidal wave came in. How old were you when the tidal wave 
came? 

PL: Well. Was 1929, and now I'm 1996. Make money of that. 

AR: You're.96 years old right now. 

PL: 	I'm 96 years old, I'm 6 months. 

AR: So that makes you 31 years old, roughly, and 6 months. 'Cause 
yesterday was the anniversary of the tidal wave. 

PL: Yes. 

AR: And, were you married by, by 1929? 

PL: 	I was, ah, yes, I was married. 	I was married very young. 

AR: And you had children probably already by then. 

PL: No, I never had no child. 

AR: OK. 

PL: No. No children. 

AR: 	I don't have any children. 	I live in Halifax. 

PL: Don't you? 

AR: But I haven't been married as long as you have, um. And where 
was ... 

PL: 	I, I've been married 3 times, sir. 

AR: Three times. 

PL: Yeah. 

AR: So in 1931 you were married to your first husband, were you? 

PL: Yeah. 	Nineteen and thir, ah, ah, I was married when I was 
very young to a man named Fitzpatrick from Marystown. 

AR: OK. 
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PL: And he only lived, uh, we were only married a year and a half
when he was drowned goin' across to Oporto [Portugal].

AR: Oh, really.

PL: In a big three-master vessel, the GENERAL KNOX.

AR: The GENERAL KNOX was his vessel, and they were taking fish
over to Oporto?

PL: Yes, they were takin' the fish over to, ah, Oporto, and they
would bring a load of fish over, and a load of molasses or a

load of salt back.

AR: And was he lost just as one person?

PL: Yes, j ust one person was lost.

AR: He was washed overboard.

PL: He was cook. He was cook.

AR: And, and how ...

PL: He had a, and when, when you go cook, well, you had to have
something to protect you, protect you, you had to have
something around yer waist or something, to tie on.

AR: Yeah.

PL: But he iust had his cook apron on.

AR: Oh, dear. And he got washed overboard.

PL: I never, I never .... And one sea struck 'er. They had 55
kentals [quintals] of fish In 'er. And one sea struck ter and
knocked 'er out.

AR: Wow.

PL: out on 'er side. And I suppose that the rest of the men
must'a clung to 'er somehow, or got to 'er, when they got on
deck, anyhow, he was gone.

AR: Wow. And then you were married again then?

PL: And then, about 2 years after that I married a man from here,
John Slaney.

AR: Slaney.

PL: And he was married, and 'is wife died, and he had, ah, his
mother lived with him. And, ah, he had 2 daughters, Lillian
and Betty.
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AR: So you became a mother right away. Or were they, were they
grown-up children?

PL: Yeah, well, I was, I was their stepmother.

AR: Yeah.

PL: Well, ah, Lii was 4, ah, 6 years old, and Betty was 4. And I
helped t'rear them.

AR: And did, and were they with you in 1929 then, when .... Who
was living at home then, in 1929, when the tidal wave came?

PL: You'll a speak a bit becaus.e I'm, I'm, I'm deaf i n that earl

AR: Yeah. Who was living at home in 1929 when the tidal wave
came?

PL: Oh, one of us, I was home with my mom.

AR: OK.

PL: And, I left to go down and drive up my cow t'milk her.

AR: And where was your home in the harbour?

PL: Oh, right down t'The Dock. And they were further up, see?

AR: On the west side.

PL: Yes. And I went down to get the cow, and when I was passin'
along by a woman's house I knew there, Mrs. Beck, the, the
road trembled under me feet.

AR: And that's, what time of day was that now?

PL: That was about 5 or somewhere around there, ha'past 5.

AR: Yeah.

PL: And, the, trembled under me feet, and I stood still, I didn't
know what was the matter.

AR: And what happened to the cow?

PL: No, I didn't have 'er thenl I went, I had to go out to the
meadow for 'er.

AR: You were going to get her.

PL: So, ah, I went on a little visit and turned up to my mom's
home, see?

AR: Yes.

I
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PL: She lived Just a little bit further down than we did. And I
said, ah, "My God, Ma, Mom, what's the matter I wonder, the
road trembled under me feet, comin' down the harbour."
"Sure," she said, "The, the covers shook on the stove for
here."

AR: Yes. That'd be a...

PL: That's all the thought we give it. Didn't know nothing else
until 'bout somewhere, somewhere around 7 o'clock in the

evening.

AR: Yeah?

PL: The tidal wave struck.

AR: You didn't feel any other earthquakes.

PL: No, never felt it. That happened in the ocean.

AR: Yeah. Well offshore.

PL: Yeah.

AR: And then, what happened, ah, later on in the evening?

PL: When It come on in the evening, then the, somewhere around 7
o'clock, the tidal wave struck.

AR: And which, what, what happened first?

PL: My dear child. The, the sea started t'come in first, right
back to the government wharf [she means started to withdraw
seaward].

AR: Yes.

PL: Was in The Dock. The, dried that right out from the, in
there, right out.

AR: From, from that bottom right out to the government wharf, it
dried out.

PL: It dried right out the harbour, dried right out to the
government wharf.

AR: Wow.

PL: And the people were lookin' there, crazy, they went crazy.
All the ... everything went! Stages, stores, flakes, even to
the women's bread- i n-r i se that they put (out to sit] the n i ght
before, [it] was in the landwash the next morning.

AR: Really.

I
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PL: Oh, my. And a boat come in, a boat come in with her or was In 
there, went in, and, um, anchors out, and she went right in 
where the, where the chronic care hospital is, you know, that 
big chronic care hospital now got in there? 

AR: What, the, where the U.S. military hospital was? 

PL: Chronic care. 

AR: Yeah. 

PL: Yeah. 

AR: That's the new hospital Just built? 

PL: That's the new, that's the new one. They got all the people 
In there, you know. 

AR: Now which boat was, how big a boat was that? 

PL: Oh, Just a small sailing boat, you know. Sails on 'er, that's 
the one. 

AR: Do you remember the name of that boat? 

PL: She went in. No. She went in, she didn't belong t'here, she 
belonged somewhere else and she [had Just] come in here. 

AR: She went right up the brook, then. 

PL: Eh? 

AR: She went right up the brook. 

PL: She, uh, she went right in the harbour, and went .... 	It 
wasn't a brook sure. She went over everything. And went 
right in, in there 'cause this was nothing but a big bat of 
woods you know. 

AR: So it would've come up right past here to the hospital then 

PL: And went right, right on in, towed 'er anchors, and when the 
tide come in the second time she come out and went on wherever 
she was goin'l 

AR: So, the first one brought 'er in, and the second one took 'er 
back out? 

PL: Yeah. 	Brought 'er back out, and she went on. 	And we had 
people come from Saint-Pierre in the skiffs. 

AR: Yeah. 
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PL: Comin' home. And didn't know what was wrong, and they met so

much damage, you know, some much flakes and ....

AR: Do you remember who was in that skiff? Who were the family In
that skiff?

PL: Eh?

AR: Who was the fella coming over from Saint-Pierre?

PL: Oh, I don't know now. So many goin' to Saint-Pierre back and
forth, I didn't know who they were. But, anyhow, they, ah,
they met the boats, they met the ....

AR: They saw all the ... the debris.

PL: Everything comin' out. The logs and flakes and stages and so
forth.

AR: Yeah.

PL: And a horse.

AR: What's the story of the horse, now?

PL: A horse in the stable. He went out in the wave.

AR: Yeah.

PL: So far out. And when the tide come in, he come in again. All
right. Never hurtin' a bit.

AR: That horse didn't drown.

PL: No!

AR: Remember the name of that horse?

PL: No, I don't.

AR: 'Cause I think I've heard Ena Farrell Edwards talk about a
horse called 'Jacko'.

PL: Oh, that could be it.

AR: Yeah?

PL: Well, prob'ly she put that name on It, I don't know, you know.

AR: Yeah.

PL: Ena gives out a lot of stuff, you know, too?

AR: Um hum. And ...r
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PL: You take a report from her? Did you? 

AR: I, I haven't talked to her yet, but she was talking at the 
meeting the other night when I had the, the, the conversation, 
ah, in front of everybody. 

PL: I see. 	'Cause she, she speaks at most, you know. They goes 
[and] takes reports from her mostly. 

AR: Yeah. Now, d'you remember any houses that, dwelling houses 
that floated off? 

PL: Eh? 

AR: Were there any dwelling houses that floated off? 

PL: Oh, yes. There was dwelling houses went. And the big fish 
store, my dear, were t'ousands and t'ousands of, ah, kentals 
I'll say in the fish store. 

AR: Who owned, owned that fish store, do you remember? 

PL: Giovanninis. 

AR: Joe? 

PL: Giovannini. 

AR: The Giovanninis owned that fish store, and they lost all their 
fish. 

PL: That's ri... ah, Al [Adolph A.] Giovannini. 

AR: And whose dwelling house went and floated off? 

PL: And he lost Just a, you, you were there to see that? Down on 
the point of the beach, that big fish store. 

AR: Yeah. 

PL: And the, when the, the tidal wave took it, it Just come up 
like that, look! Of the, of the ... 

AR: Up under. 

PL: And went off. 	Turned bottom up. 	Not bottom up, turned 
sideways, and it took the fish out of her after, you know? 

AR: So they were able to get some of the fish out of that. 

PL: Oh, yes. They got some of the fish that went up. 'Cause by 
husband worked at it. 

AR: And what happened to the telegraph station now? 
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PL: Eh? 

AR: What happened to the telegraph station and the post office. 

PL: Oh, I don't know anything 'bout the post office. 	'Cause it 
wasn't on ... it was on our side all right, but that's where 
... oh, that's, I'm wrong in there, because I was standing 
under the post office when we were, um, that's where a crowd 
of people were standing, watched them comin' across 'the 
strands', it's called. 

AR: What's, ah, across 'the strand'. Yeah. 

PL: Across 'the strand'. 

AR: So your, your home, your home was over at the, ah, east side 
of the harbour, was it? 

PL: My home was at the west side of the harbour. 

AR: On the west side of the harbour. 

PL: 	... handy The Dock. 

AR: OK. And you were up near 'the strand'. 

PL: And we were up, we were, went up the road, up the road. 

AR: Yeah. 

PL: Same as it comes up now. 

AR: Um hum. 

PL: Main road. And we were standin' under the post office when 
the ... Mr. Thorne  corne  across, Father Thorne's brother ... 

AR: OK. 

PL: 	... Charlie. 

AR: Came across. 

PL: And the tide went out, he started to run, from the east side 
to the west side. 

AR: Oh, really. 

PL: Across 'the strand', 'cause there was no causeway then. 

AR: Yeah. 

PL: And, ah, everyone singin' out to him to "Come on, come on." 
And the sea, you heared, when it started to roar, comin' in 



I
1
I
r
1
I
1
I
I
f
^
1
1
t
I
t
I
I

129

the tide?

AR: Yeah.

PL: You'd be surprised at how they could make such a noise. Oh,
my soul.

AR: How many times did you see the sea come in?

PL: Oh, 'bout, 'bout 3 or 4 times I saw It.

AR: Um hum. And was the, was the, when the sea came in, was it

breaking? Was it white, white waves on the top of it?

PL: Yes. Outside, first when It started, but after it kinda died

down. Like was )ust runnin' the big thing runnin' along, you
know, big, lot a water runnin' along.

AR: And, and could you see the, could you see the white foam?

PL: Yes sir, I saw the white foam.

AR: And, and what sort of a night was it for, for visibility?

PL: Well, when it, when it, ah, went that died, died down was,
'twas very good after that.

AR: Very calm.

PL: Yeah, very calm like that.

AR: And was the moon out, or clear sky? Do you remember?

PL: Ah, clear, sk... not too clear, because of the, wind was
eastern and rainin', you know, and mist stuff, it wasn't good
time.

AR: Yeah? Whose dwelling houses floated off?

PL: Eh?

AR: Did you ever, did you ever know whose dwelling houses floated
off?

PL: No, I never. They were goin' here and goin' there and goin'
everywhere, you didn't settle nowhere.

AR: Um hum. And what sort of, ah, damage did it do to, ah, when
you woke up the next day, what did you see?

PL: Oh, my dear. When you, the next morning you saw something.
People walkin' around, right around. This harbour Is a'V',
you know?

I
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AR: Yeah.

PL: And you can walk right around it when the tide is out.

AR: Yeah.

PL: And, oh my, dishes and pots and pans and even the people's

bread-in-rise pans.

AR: You saw, you saw a bread-in-rise pan?

PL: Yeah, I saw in the, pan of dough. And he lifted it up in his
arms, some man lifted it up. "Just look what we have here."
Pan a dough with a, the ho.use was down near the water, you
know?

AR: Yeah.

PL: Terrible, terrible.

AR: So, ah, did any people get iniured? Were there any people
harmed?

PL: No! I never heard tell of one man gettin' hurt.

AR: Really.

PL: And no loss of life whatsoever.

AR: No, there were no loss of life in St. Lawrence I know of.

PL: No. No loss of life.

AR: That was very fortunate.

PL.: Very fortutiate. 'cause we're havin' loss of life since then,
I'm tellin' you.

AR: I'11 bet you have, with the mines.

PL: ... loss ... with the, with the mines. For God's sake, if you
went into the graveyard, that's the place to go.

AR: Yeah.

PL: Go see who went in the, in the mines.

AR: Yeah.

PL: Like of that. We got nothing left now.

AR: No, it's, ah, they speak of this town being a...

PL: No, no fish, no mines, no nothing. Men goin' t'school,

I
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children goin' t'school. Gettin' a day's work here, or a
day's work there. It's terrible, you know.

AR: Yeah.

PL: Terrible. And I don't know what they're goin' to do about it?

AR: You have grand ..., now, Mr. Loder was your third husband
then?

PL: Yes. Richard.

AR: And, um, I suppose you've got, still got family in St.
Lawrence?

PL: Well, my family's gone, now. There was twelve of, there was
ten of us in family.

AR: Yeah.

PL: Ah, four brothers and six girls.

AR: Um hum.

PL: And then Mom and Dad, the twelve of us. They're dead for long
ago. I'm the only one left.

AR: Well, you're 96 years old.

PL: I only, I only have, ah, um, nieces.

AR: Sure.

PL: Two nieces around here and nephews, that's all.

AR: Well, I was talking to your granddaughter in the drugstore,
now.

PL: Who, Pauline?

AR: I'm not sure I know her name. I, I went in the drugstore to
ask directions, and she said that you were her grandmother.
So that must be, ah, ...

PL: Oh, that's Betty I suppose?

AR: I suppose it is.

PL: is she workin' there?

AR: She's working there tonight, yeh.

PL: Yeah, that's Betty Bishop.

I
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AR: All right. Well, Betty Bishop is who sent me up here. 

PL: 	Is it? 

AR: And it was, ah, it was Ena Farrell Edwards who suggested I 
talk to you. And I thank you very, very much for having me 
into your room. 

PL: Oh, well, I'm only too glad to be able to help. 

AR: What I hope to do is put this tape into the, um, into the 
Archives at the, ah, at St., you know, either at the ... 

PL: Well, there's people now goes, goes into, um, goes into places 
up in Toronto and Montreal and, ah, when they shows a tape, to 
women 'specially, "My God, that's Aunt Pauline Loder, look! 
I know sure for she belongs home." 

AR: Yes. 

PL: I'm everywhere all over the world, 'cause people comes from 
all parts of the world. 

AR: Well, I'm from Halifax, so, ah, not so far away. 

11 	PL: No. 

AR: But I'll hope to put this tape into, ah, the Archives in St. 
John's, or into the Burin Heritage House, to let the young 
people listen to the story. 

PL: 	I got a, I got a niece's daughter in the, ah, hospital, nurse 
in Halifax. 

I/ 	
AR: Oh really. Which hospital is she in? Probably the Victoria 

General, maybe. 

PL: The Victoria I think. 

AR: Yeah. 

PL: Yeah. Royal Victoria. Her name is, ah, ah, what is her name? 
Mrs. Malloy, she goes .... 

AR: All right. 	Well, I was very pleased to find you in this 
evening, and I thank you very, very much for having taken a 
little time. 

PL: Well, sir, you're welcome. 	I gives a report to everyone I 
can. 

AR: Thank you very, very much. 

PL: Any, anything that I can do to help, I does It. 	And they 
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comes from everywhere and they sends me all kinds a gifts and
everything. And, ah, I'm very thankful for them. But I said
to a woman, person here not long ago, "The next crew comes I'm
gonna charge."

AR: Ha, ha, ha, haï

PL: Makes you laugh, you know?

AR: Well, I'm glad you didn't charge me, and I thank your roommate
very much for having me into the room as well.

PL: I just passed that as a joke, you know.

AR: Ha, ha,'ha, ha, ha!

PL: I wouldn't dream of chargin' anything.

AR: Well, thank you very, very kindly. The, um, (tape ends)

End of first part of the interview

Mrs. Loder then suggested to Alan Ruffman that she sing him a song
and, with a new tape in place, she did - in fact she sang two
songs.

1
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Transcript made
March 29, 1995
Wendy Findley

TAPE 94-7, SIDE 2, SATURDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 1994,
PAULINE LODER, ST. LAWRENCE, NEwFOUNDLAND (CONTINUED) - TWO SONGS

PAULINE LODER: Did you ever hear the song of the two orphans?

ALAN RUFFMAN: No, I don't think I know that song.

PL sings:

Two little children, a boy and a girl
Stood by the old church door
The little maid's hair was as black as the coal
And it's on the dress that she wore.

The boy's coat was faded, all tattered and torn
And tears stood in each little eye
"Why don't you go home to your mother?" I said
And this was the maiden's reply.

"Mama's in heaven, they took her away
Left Jim and I all alone
We came here to sleep at the close of the day
For we have no mama nor home."

"We can't earn our bread, we're too little," she said
"Jim is 5 years, and I'm only 7
We have no-one to love us since Daddy is gone
And our darling Mama's in heaven.

Our darling went out to sea long ago
We waited all night on the shore
As he was a life-saving captain, you see
And he never came back any more.

Then Mama got sick and took her away
They say, to a home warm and bright
She said she would come for her children some day
And perhaps she is coming tonight."

The sexton came early to ring the church bell
He found them beneath the snow white
The angels made room for the orphans to dwell
in Heaven with Mama that night.

AR: Isn't that nice. I appreciate that very, very much, Mrs.
Loder.

I
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PL: 	I'll sing you a song for your Mum. 

AR: All right. 	I'll have one more, ha ha hat 

PL sings: 

M is for the million things she gave me 
O means only that she's growin' old 
T is for the tears she shed to save me and 
H is for the heart of purest gold 
E is for her eyes with love light shining 
R Is right, and right she'll always be 
You put them all together, they spell 'MOTHER' 
The word which means the world to me. 

PL: And you. 

AR: Very good. Thank you very, very much. 

End of the second part of the interview 
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Transcript made
March 12, 1995
Wendy Findley

TAPE 95-1, SIDE 1, SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 1995,
MICHAEL JOSEPH TURPIN AND HIS wIFE PHILQMENA, ST. LAWRENCE,
NEWFOUNDLAND

Michael ('Mick'; also 'Mike'; he was called 'Mike' by his sister
and brother-in-law, Nellie and John Kelly)

- born August 22, 1912
- wife Philomena present in a wheelchair and on oxygen; did

not participate to any great degree
- lives on Water Street East, St. Lawrence
- mailing address: Water Street East, P.O. Box 651, St.

Lawrence, Newfoundland AOE 2V0
- phone (709) 873-2537
- interview length: 34.5 minutes

(first minute got erased in error, identifying Mr. Turpin and his
wife and the location) Mr. Turpin, who is now 82 and was 17 at the
time of the disaster, had been off cutting wood along the Corbin
Road, east of St. Lawrence and Little St. Lawrence, when the
earthquake struck on November 18, 1929.

ALAN RUFFMAN: Now, now about what time was it when you felt the
earthquake?

MICK TURPIN: Well, just as we were packin' up and leavin'.

AR: So it's just as it's getting dark.

MT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: And how long did it take you then to walk back that distance?

MT: Ah, I suppose about, ah, three-quarters of an hour.

AR: And so when you came back to the harbour, was the tidal wave
started?

MT: I went down to help me Aunt Kate with the cows because the
boys was all gone and her husband was in Saint-Pierre, and me
dad, to milk the cows 'cause they had two or three cows,
mostly everybody had them then, you know.

AR: Uh huh.

MT: All right? (voice of Philomena in background) She's
crippled, she's in a wheelchair, had a stroke 'bout 9 year
[ago].

AR: She's managing OK though?

MT: Oh yeah.

I
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AR: Good. So when you came down the harbour, had the tidal wave 
started? 

MT: Just started when I went up sit down and milk the cows, and I 
couldn't get a drop of milk out of them because they were 
going crazy. 

AR: They had been upset by the earthquake. 

MT: Yeah. Tremblin', you know? 

AR: And that was Just next door here in your family home. 

MT: That's right. 

AR: The small house is still there. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And that is, what colour house is it right now? 

MT: The little small one, they cut'n down made a little shack out 
of it, you know? 

AR: OK. (voice of Philomena in the background, "White") It was 
a two-storey house. 

MT: Yeah it was. 

AR: And they cut her down. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And when you started looking, how did you know the tidal wave 
was coming? 

MT: Well, I went down and I didn't know  'tu l I see the water, the 
sea comin' in. 

AR: And how'd it come in? 

MT: Well, it come in like a, well you want to see a big swell on 
the pictures. 

AR: Yeah. 

MT: Rolled in, rolled in, rolled in, you couldn't see Shingle 
Point, you know, everything was covered there. 

AR: Was it a breaking wave? 

MT: 	No, no, it Just rolled in. 	When he got in, in, in a little 

shoaler water he broke. 
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AR: OK, so it was not breaking when it came to Shingle Point.

MT: No, no.

AR: It simply rose up over.

MT: Rose up over. Yeah. And then ....

AR: And could you see the wharves then, or ....

MT: No, you couldn't see nothing. All the flakes and stages was
goin' and crackin' and rantin'.

AR: And, how, how could you see what was happening?

MT: Well, because a fine night.

AR: The moon was out.

MT: Yes, the moon was out was right.

AR: OK.

MT: Yeah, but he was, he was like, he was in a shadow or eclipse
or someth i n' , you know, at that t ime I s' pose wi th the bad
weather was comin' up, 'cause the next day it was a snow
storm.

AR: That's right.

MT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: And how, how high do you think the water came, ah, over the
normal sea at that time?

MT: Well, I'll tell you now how high it come. See that rec centre
up there?

AR: Yes, the new one.

MT: The new one. Well there was stages all along there right up
to the Mountie building, stages 'n' flakes on both sides.

AR: And this was, ah, this was open, this hadn't been filled in at
that time.

MT: No, no. No. And, ah, there was a two-dory- boat here, a
little Jack boat used to call 'em.

AR: Yes.

MT: And she was to her anchor, and she ended up at ....

AR: Wait now, where was the Jack boat anchored?

1
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MT: Right here In the middle of harbour here.

AR: All right, directly out front of your house then.

MT: That's right, that's right, where you sayin' it. Yeah. And,
ah, she went in to where the St. Lawrence high school is at
now, with her two anchors out.

AR: Oh, really?

MT: So now that was a, a nice wave.

AR: Now where, where did it end? We might get in the car, you
know, another time, go up and you could show me where that
ended vp. But, when you say up to where the high school is,

that ....

MT: Yeah.

AR: Almost to ....

MT: In on that meadow there, flat-like.

AR: Would It go right where the parking lot is, or }ust to the, be
Just to the eastward of the parking lot?

MT: No, no, went straight In through, because It was all, once
comin', once it come in, see, it opened all in where the bank
is at. None of that there then you see.

AR: Um hum. And how much do you figure that jack boat, boat drew?
What sort of water would it draw when it was floating?

MT: Well, well, not very much, a Jack boat, no more than 3, 4 feet
I s'pose.

AR: So, there had to be 3 or 4 feet of water in, in in the meadow
right beside the high school ....

MT: Yes, it not more because, ah, she had two anchors out.

AR: And she would have been dragging those anchors.

MT: Yeah, oh yeah, yeah. Just the same, you know, as a river.

AR: Whose boat was that now?

MT: God, I couldn't tell you. Someone from down around the bay
there, Rushoon somewhere.

AR: So he was just into the harbour for a visit.

MT: Yeah, he used to, he used to come here fishing in the Fall of
the year and then, sometimes they come from down the bay,

I
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Placentia Bay there, with a load of, of spruce and all that 
kinda stuff for .... 

AR: 	For firewood, for .... 

MT: For, for, for ah, for, and carts and piers and sell it, 

billets, and black spruce for making spruce beer and 
everything like that? 

AR: Um hum. 

MT: Eh? 

AR: So he had his boat go all the way in, almost to the, the 
Highway 220. 

MT: 	It took, it took the people a long time to get 'er out, but 
they hauled ter out; ways and blocks and tackles, you know? 

AR: Um hum. So she was able to use this boat again. 

MT: Oh yeah. Yeah. 

AR: Wow. 

MT: One, one hole, a little hole was punched in ter.* 

AR: Really. And did she ... the boat ... the boat ... they didn't 

used to name those boats? 

MT: Well, I wouldn't know a name, name. Now, they used to name 

them all the time. 

AR: OK. Now, do you think the water went as high as the highway, 
the paved road? 

MT: Oh, Just a ..., went higher than that because, the boat 
stopped only, only, ah, ah, 20 feet from the pavement there 
that goes in around the school, by the town hall. 

AR: Yes. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: Let's see if we can put that on the map. I think, ah, let's 

see now, here we are. OK. This is the soccer field here, and 
there's the high school up there. 

* In a phone call on August 14, 1995, Mr. Turpin was certain that 
this vessel had 2 persons in it and that it grounded and stayed 

put. He said it was about 35 feet long, had two masts and had 

sails. He indicated that the two fellows left in their dory (or 
walked ashore). 
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MT: Yeah. 

AR: And the town hall is, I guess that's the town hall, they don't 
have everything on there. 

MT: 	I'd say it 'tis. 

AR: But here's the, the water would have come up that brook. What 
do you call that brook, has she got a name? 

MT: Riverhead Brook. 

AR: Riverhead. 

MT: That's the name of the brook. 

AR: Riverhead Brook. And there's the meadow beside the, this is 
the high school here and they got the parking lot, right 
there. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: So she would have been, how close do you think she was to the 
paved road, that, that Jack boat? 

MT: Ah, 20 feet. 

AR: Oh really? 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And how close would it have been to where the high school is 
now? I mean, is it over that side, or closer to the brook? 

MT: No, he was, he was a little closer to the brook. 

AR: OK. 

MT: 	... than he was to, ah, the high school. 

AR: Now they show .... 

MT: But it was all the same lot of ground because that went 
through ..., the high road went through the ground there, see? 

AR: Was there a, was the paved road there at the time? 

MT: No, no, no, Just dirt road. 

AR: There was a bit of a dirt road, no, no pavement. 

MT: And wooden bridges. 

AR: 	So .... 
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MT: Any place that had a brook.

AR: Now where was the Government Bridge? They said the Government
Bridge went out, I read that in the newspaper. Which would
have been ...?

MT: The Government Bridge is right across, you know, I explain It
to you the best way I can, now, and tell you the truth of it,
ah. The Government Bridge was, ah, the one that crosses the
brook there now, only cement. We used to be an old wooden one
there then, see?

AR: So It would have been on the, what's called Highway 220.
[Note: the interviewer is confused here as to what bridge was
the 'Government Bridge' In 1929.]

MT: Yeah.

AR: And it would have been the old Highway 220 bridge.

MT: Yeah. (voice of Philomena In the background "... across from
the drugstore, you know where drugstore is?")

AR: I know where the drugstore is, yeah.

PT: Across from that.

MT: Yeah.

AR: So it's a, um, when I say, but on, on the Highway 220. (voice
of Philomena in the background "... is that 220?") Well, the,
on the ....

MT: well I ... well, I think, I think it is.

AR: ... the road from Lawn through to, ah, Marystown.

MT: That's right. Yeah.

AR: So it would have been that bridge and, and is that in the same
position as it is now? Or, you know, ....

MT: No, the main bridge now is farther out.

AR: When you say 'farther out', ah, you mean closer to the ocean?

MT: Yeah.

AR: So the, the Government Bridge would have been upstream a
little bit.

MT: Yeah.

AR: So, as you come down the hill towards the drugstore and you're
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heading towards the hospital, the old bridge would have been
to your righthand side. We may be able to show that in the
car, but .... (Philomena's voice in background "Yeah.")

MT: Hold on, now, let me see.

AR: As you come down past the ....

MT: You know the bridge that's there now? I'm going to tell you
right where he was at. You know the bridge that's there now?

AR: Yes.

MT: Well that's where the old Government Bridge [was] because the
road used to go right around the harbour, see?

AR: OK.

MT: You understand that now?

AR: It would, would come up past the RCMP, past the drugstore, and
it would go 'round the top.

MT: No, no. No. You come up. You go along by the RCMP building.

AR: OK, there It is right there, yeah.

MT: Yeah.

AR: Post office and the RCMP.

MT: And you see that brace that's there now, we used to make turn
there and go right around the harbour, see?

AR: Oh, OK.

MT: See?

AR: That's the Government Bridge.

MT: Right. See?

AR: C1ickI All right. Right near the Bank of Nova ....

MT: Now the one Inside where the, where the school is, that was
only put there lately for the children going across that brook
inside where the, where the drugstore is. [a footbridge only
across from the drugstore].

AR: All right. So the Government Bridge in 1929 was the one near
the Bank of Nova Scotia.

MT: Right.

1
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AR: Got it. I'm gonna write, I'm gonna write that right on the,
the map. Now, were there some homes that moved? Some
dwelling houses?

MT: Well, there's a couple there in the bottom on that flat there
off of Patti Handrigan's and their house, named by the
Handrigan people.

AR: No, no. I got a couple of those names written down that I, I
think I wrote them down 'cause I went through the newspaper
and I looked at the names that they had down. But you're
right, I think one of them was Hannington[sic].

MT: Yes.

AR: Ah, let's see if I've got It written down here now somewhere.

MT: Or Malloy, or Joe Malloy had houses in there too.

AR: Yeah. Ah, where is it now? Oh, I know, it's back here a
couple pages here. All right. There it is. What I found in
the newspaper was, ah, houses. Yeah, I got two different
stories from the newspaper. Some said there were nine homes
destroyed, others said there was eight moved and only one
destroyed. And, ah, but the names they had, Pikes, Hendrigan

MT: Mr. Walter Pike.

AR: Hendrigan was another one. [as spelled in the newspaper, but
Handrigan today]

MT: Yeah.

AR: And ....

MT: But now, Walter Pike, he didn't lose his house but he lost his
store and stuff like that, and his fish, you know?

AR: Um hum. What about this, it says Malloy was another one, and
Fitzpatrick was another one that they mentioned in the
newspaper.

MT: Yeah.

AR: Were those houses that moved too?

MT: No. The Alec Fitzpatrick house didn't move. That was his
name, Alec Fitzpatrick and 'Brose [Ambrose] was two brothers.

AR: OK.

MT: They never moved.

I
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AR: What was the Pike house that moved, or the ...?

MT: Ah, ah, Walter Pike, there you know where Albert [Aylward] got
the ... got the Mini Mart built there now, ah?

AR: OK.

MT: Right there, just you cross the causeway.

AR: All right.

MT: See?

AR: Sure, the causeway's right in here then?

MT: Yeah. Because all that used to be stores and stages up there.

AR: Even past the causeway up Into the RCMP, there was stores and
stages, there was ....

MT: Right.

AR: There was enough water for a boat.

MT: Yeah. Right.

AR: All right. And, ah, ....

MT: Same way on the west side the harbour, 'til they filled in,
see, because they filled that in and built the, the place(?)
and. the soccer field, see?

AR: And that came ... when did they build the causeway?

MT: Oh God, ah, about, I wouldn't be able to tell you now for
sure.

AR: Where was the telegraph office located, ah, that moved? She
went out into the harbour, I think.

MT: I don't remember the telegram office.

AR: They call it, the Postal, the word In the newspaper was the
Postal Telegraph Office, and it was Mrs. Fewer that used to
run that, um, that's the name they had. But It apparently
went out into the harbour. But that's not the building you
remember.

MT: No.

AR: That's all right. The, ah, ....

MT: Because Mrs. Fewer, see, used to have a, a post office because
I used to get 5 dollars a month for delivering messages.

I
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AR: OK, for the, for the telegraph, you'd take them around. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And when were you doing that? 

MT: When she want me she's put up paper in the, in the window, so 
if I see the white paper up, .... 

AR: You'd go over. 

MT: I go. You were round to kill yerself then to make a cent. 

AR: Now, now, where was that, that postal telegraph office 
located? Or when, when were you doing that delivery, when you 
were a young man, or old  •••? 

MT: Young, real young. 

AR: So that was ... that was before the tidal ... 

MT: Way before .... Yeah, before the tidal wave. Yeah. 

AR: Where was that, that postal, where was that office located? 

MT: Now I don't remember where, I believe she had it over on the 
west side of the harbour after. 

AR: After the tidal wave. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And where was it when you were delivering messages? 

MT: Way down the harbour. But that never went out. 

AR: Oh, what didn't? 

MT: That was, she had apartment in Uncle Vic's[sic] house. 

AR: OK. 

MT: See? 

AR: So, whatever moved in 1929 had to be in a different location. 

MT: Right. Yeah. 

AR: And what other buildings do you remember moving? 

MT: Well, I'll tell you now, th' was a lot of buildings moved, so 
were [the?] stages, but, ah, houses, ah, there was only a 
couple there in the bottom was I know for ... moved, and that 
was a Malloy man and a Handrigan. 
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AR: And I'd spell Hendrigan, I think I got from the newspaper, let 
me find it here, H-E-N-D-R-I-G-A-N. 	Hendrigan. [Handrigan 
today] 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: So his house moved, for sure. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: Where'd it move to? 

MT: Well it moved in over the meadows there. 

AR: Back up into the bottom. 

MT: Right ... stopped he like in breadth of that, where that boat 
was at, you know. 

AR: As far as that Jack boat? 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: Oh really? 

MT: Yeah. A little bit out from it, now, maybe a hundred feet or 
something, you see? 

AR: Back down, um, back down towards the, ah, towards the Bank of 
Nova Scotia area. 

MT: That's right. 

AR: So a hundred feet on this map is, ah, 1 to 2,500 ... so it's 
somewhere in there then. So we think the Handrigan house went 
into the ... did they use that house again, or, was she ...? 

MT: Oh yeah, they, they fixed it up again. The planchion[sic] (?) 
and everything, you know. 

AR: Now what about, where'd Malloy's house, where was it located? 
Do you remember where Handrigan's house was located to start? 

MT: Yes, it, there ... there ... somewhere around where the town 
hall was now, you know, the old town hall, the fire department 
got it now. 

AR: Oh, now, let's figure out the fire department. 	I think, ah, 
I think that's the, the fire department is right at the 
intersection, isn't it? 

MT: Right. (voice of Philomena in the background "Yeah") 

AR: So, this is the old town hall. 
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MT: Yeah.

AR: All right, 'cause that would confuse me. Old town hall. And,

so you think, which side of the old town hall was Mr.
Handrigan's house located?

MT: Right on the back of it.

AR: On the back being the, not the harbour side ....

MT: Say the hall here now, right here on the back of It. [shows
Alan]

AR: So we'il lust put it, we'11 put It, Just a, I'll put it ....

MT: 20 or feet or so.

AR: Now what I'm going to do is draw an arrow that shows it went
up to about there.

MT: Yeah.

AR: Now we're iust plus or minus. What about Mr. Malloy's house,
he said it moved?

MT: Well, uh, must be farther back than mine, mine, mine, ... I
know for ... No, unless it is Joe Malloy, 'cause he had a...
(voice of Philomena in the background "Rob(?) would know.")

AR: What ... now what was Mr. Handrigan's houseLsic] name, do you
remember his name?

MT: John Handrigan.

AR: It was John Handrigan. 'cause it didn't have that in the

newspaper.

MT: Yeah.

AR: And what was Malloy's name, do you ever remember that?

MT: I don't know, unless it's Joe Malloy.

AR: Might have been Joe. So I'11 put 'Joe' with a question mark.

MT: Because now I)ust remember he rowing up, that brook what's
there now 'round ... towards the rec centre, that was built
right up in front of the post office there now. That's OK.
(unintelligible voice in background) Right in front of the
post office now and tying onto his stage, you know, ....

AR: Oh really.

MT: ... and heavin' his fish up and splittin' it.

I
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AR: So that he, Malloy would have been somewhere in where the rec
centre is now.

MT: Right, only on the east side.

AR: On this side of the harbour?

MT: Yeah.

AR: So I'm Just going to put a, an approximate square here. He
would have been on the shoreward, he would have been on the
harbour side of the road, or on the upper ...?

MT: On the harbour side of the road.

AR: His family home, his dwelling home.

MT: Yeah. Because the road was widen ... widened out a bit, see?

Now ....

AR: But this fellow Handrigan, he, he was in back of the fire hall
so he was, he was well away from the water.

MT: Yeah, yeah, but It's low ground there, see?

AR: It is low ground, yeah. I'm going to write 'Malloy' here,
just as a ... I mean ... other fellas may tell me different,
you know.

MT: But now, perhaps the post office was there, but I don't know,
I don't remember that much about it.

AR: Where did Malloy's house end up? Do you remember where It
ended up to?

MT: Not very far from where, where, ah, he had it.

AR: Farther in, or ...?

MT: Oh yes, It went back.

AR: And it went back to the other side, this side of the road
then.

MT: Right.

AR: So I'm )ust gonna put an arrow and, puts it into about here,
and this is, I mean this is approximate, obviously. So
Malloy's house moved, we think It might have been Joe Malloy,
and this fellow John Handrigan's house moved and it moved some
distance.

MT: Yeah.

I
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AR: And he .... 

MT: But not the house that's there, that's up there now, that he 
died in, the poor fella, but he was livin' with his dad then 
I guess. 'Twas down on the flat, where Duff Handrigan has his 
house there now. You see a, a building there along side of 
the RCMP only on this side of the RCMP building. That's where 
they used to live then. 

AR: OK. 	(voice of Philomena in the background) So I, I've got 
the wrong place then for the Handrigan house here. 	I, I've 
got to, um, this is the post office here and that's the RCMP. 

MT: Yeah. (voice of Philomena in the background "And right next 
to them is Handrigans.") 

AR: So, it would have been, ah, to the north. 

MT: Yah. To the north it would be, yeah. 

AR: The first house north of the RCMP is where the Handrigan house 
was. 

MT: Right. 

AR: All right, I better ... and, and then when they rebuilt the 
house, they built it in behind the fire station. 

MT: That's right. 

AR: All right, so I'm gonna Just change this and show it moving 
from .... Was it, do you think the Handrigan house was in the 
same location as it is right now? 

MT: No, he's up on a higher hill. 

AR: Now. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: So he would have been down, closer to the, which side of the 
road do you think it was on, the Hendrigan house? 

MT: The east side. 

AR: It was on the east side. 

MT: The east side the road. 

AR: Not the water side. 

MT: No. 

AR: All right. Well I think we can put it in the front yard. 

1 
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AR: And show It moving there. So I think we just, ah, .... Now
that, that looks like it moved from, you know, the depth is
about 2 or 3 metres, you know, height of land, but it moved
some distance, didn't it?

MT: Yeah.

AR: But it's very flat.

MT: Yeah, very flat.

AR: Now what about this other one that's mentioned in the, they
talk about the Pike houses and the Fitzpatrick houses moving,
but you don't think the dwelling houses moved.

MT: Fitzpatrick house?? [pondering]

AR: You mentioned Walter Pike, ah ....

MT: Walter Pike, his house never moved.

AR: Didn't move.

MT: But I'll tell you, he lost his store and flake because he got
hit off in the water, and when he come over the water for to
see where he was at he couldn't see 'cause there was a washin'
tub ...

AR: Oh my goodness.

MT: ... half a barrel down over his head, see? He had to heave it
off.

AR: So he was, he was swept up in the water ...

MT: Yeah.

AR: ... but luckily didn't drown.

MT: Right.

AR: Boyt So he lost his flake and his store.

MT: Yeah.

AR: Now where was his flake and store located, ah ...?

MT: Well, just, ah, you know where our church lane goes up there
now.

AR: I don't, but I'11 figure it out, it's right beside the, not
beside the post office, oh it's this one here, here, it, it's

I
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this one here I think, coming up to the church. 

MT: Yeah. 	Now, Just one side of the [Aylward's] Mini Mart up 
there, Albert's place, they got. 	(voice in background, 
uYeah.") 

AR: 	So this is RCMP, that's the post office, all right. I'll Just 
keep these things straight in my head. So it was, it would be 
to the southward or the northward of the church lane? 

MT: The south. 	The house is still there, only they got it 
repaired ... an old model house. 

AR: Which colour is that house now? 

MT: White. 

AR: 	It's a white house ... 

MT: Snow white. 

AR: 	... and this is the old Albert Pike house. 

MT: Yeah. Walter Pike. [corrects Alan] 

(abrupt end of conversation. Gap three minutes, twelve seconds in 
error as conversation overwritten by 'Tidal Wave' song recorded on 
the evening of Pebrury 25, 1995 at Evelyn Grondin's home.) 

(interview abruptly continues) 

AR: ... wasn't there though? 

MT: No. No, it didn't go that far. 

AR: What's the Golden Age Club ... 

MT: Because tide Just rushed in, took everything with it ... 

AR: Yeah. 

MT: ... and then it went back again, but now I tell you, you could 
walk, if you took a chance but you couldn't do it, you could 
run across the other side. 

AR: You think right here ... 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: 	... you coulda run across to the, ah, ... 

MT: Right, to the pier. 

AR: What's the big brown building that's right across here [on the 
Minworth Pier]. 
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MT: That's, ah, fluorspar company built that there, a few year 

ago. 

AR: So that's storage for their ore. 

MT: Yeah. (voice of Philomena in the background "Which Golden Age 

Club were you talkin' about, were you talkin' Riverhead?") 

AR: 	Well, no, I, I'm confused. 	Clearly, I, I, I, there's two 

different homes then, is there? The Golden Age is a senior 

citizens' club. (voice of Philomena in the background "Yeah, 

we goes there for a beer ...") 

MT: Yeah, that's right on the side the road. 

AR: And that's right beside the Bank of Nova Scotia. 

MT: Yeah. Right. Right. 

AR: OK. All right. So certainly the water went in there. 

MT: Oh my God, yes. If that was there then, that'll be gone. 

AR: Yeah. 

MT: You know. 

AR: But what I'm inter.... 

MT: Well, people used to have barns in there for storing hay and 
now that went too, you know. 

AR: Um hum. 

MT: Because that was all hay land at one time. 

AR: Yup. 

MT: Even out where the rec centre is now,  'iii the tidal wave 

come. That was a meadow there, ah, Mrs. Sylvia Pike owned it 

and Uncle Vince(?) Flanny had land there. And it took the sod 

and (???) tore up and carried with it. 

AR: It tore the sod off the hay field. 

MT: Yeah. Right. 

AR: And where'd it carry the sod to? 

MT: Right in, scattered but all over the place, certainly at a 

time like that. 

AR: Yeah. 
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MT: And that's how they come to fill It in for to put the rec
centre there.

AR: So it's the manor I'm thinking about, the manor's in here.
She's in by the ... that's the town hall, and I think this is
the ... well I'm not sure they got the manor on here, it was
only built .... But the manor ... the question would be, is,
did the, did the tidal wave carry in as far as the manor?
(voice of Philomena in the background "No, Mick, did -it?")

MT: No, no, not in there.

AR: OK.

MT: No. No, definitely. Never went much farther than the town
hall in there.

AR: The new town hall.

MT: Yeah. Mighta went 30 or 40 feet inside of it.

AR: OK.

MT: Yeah.

AR: But that's, you know, that's getting up to a fair height
there, that's up about, that's about 30 feet above sea level
right there.

MT: Yeah.

AR: So that's a fair height.

MT: Yeah.

AR: But she didn't come, you know, what I think It has a bit of a
momentum that carries it up, you know, along the low land ...

MT: That's right.

AR: ... but she didn't necessarily come too high on the side here.

MT: No.

AR: Would it [have] come across the East Water Road though, all
along here.

MT: Oh that was right up, like I said, half the yard there, right
up, right up the harbour. You'd be days and couldn't of had
a job [gettin'] right (?) up the harbour with wreckage, you
know.

AR: Could you, could you tak... ah, I mean, the road would have
been blocked with the wreckage.

I
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MT: Ah, 'twas.

AR: And what about on the other side, the, the West Har..., ah,
Water Street, was she blocked with wreckage?

MT: Not that much.

AR: She's a little higher.

MT: Little high, 'twas way higher over there, see, and then the
wharf, you know, saved a lot of it. [Shingle Point]

AR: Yeah.

MT: It took the pressure.

AR: Well, that's fascinating, ah, interesting stuff. And, I, ah,
I don't know whether there's anything else that you recall
about this tidal wave. How many waves did you see, now? When
you were stan....

MT: Two. Two waves.

AR: You saw two coming in here.

MT: Yeah. One was the first one was the big one.

AR: Um hum.

MT: But the second one was, ah, a bit lower. 'Cause we run right
up here where our houses is when the thing come because you
could see, you know, the water was rising, apparently it was
coming.

AR: Yeah. And what do you remember of the noise?

MT: Oh, gee whiz. Used to rattle the covers on the stove.

AR: That's the earthquake, you mean?

MT: Yeah.

AR: Or, or Just the tidal wave?

MT: No, no. Just the earthquake.

AR: She rattled the covers on the ....

MT: Stove used to shiver Just same as somebody was shakin' it.

AR: Did any chimneys come down?

MT: No, there was no chimleys come down, not now as I know for,
but, ah, we never had no ... mostly then lot of people used to
have stovepipes.

I
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AR: Yeah. So they were tied up with wire, then.

MT: Yeah.

AR: And what about the, ah, what about the, ah, the noise of the
tidal wave?

MT: Roar.

AR: Like a breaking wave.

MT: Right. Just same as you be outside hear sea breakin'.

AR: Um hum. But she, she would-roar right the way through here.

MT: Yeah, yeah. Now, there's something I'm gonna tell you 'bout
Victor Turpin's stage, where would that be at now?

AR: Now, Victor Turpin's stage is right, we think it's this one
right, just down in front here.

MT: No, no, not that fella. He was called after his dad. This
is, ah, Uncle Vic.

AR: Now I don't know where that one is, ah, ....

MT: Ah, just down below us. (voice of Philomena in the background
"You'd have to shout ...") Yes, that was her son's father.
(PT: "That was Alfred's father Vic.) It was a big stage, two-
storey.

AR: I think this is Charlotte Turpin's, let me see, see if I get
this right now. I, I have to always work this out very
carefully as which house i s which, but I think this has got to
be Charlotte Turpin's house right there.

MT: Yeah.

AR: Now, where was ...

MT: 'Twas a peak roof house one time, but It's not now, they got
it cut down, see?

AR: All right. Now what about, this is, this is ...

MT: That, that, that stage, he's stage, that was right down in
front of us, on the waterfront.

AR: And his name was?

MT: Victor [Turpin]. Junior, well, the old fella.

AR: All right.

t
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MT: He had a son called after him, see. The fellow that bought 
Joe May's place there. 

AR: Just down below here. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: 	So, this is the, ah, the senior, Victor Turpin Sr. we'll call 
him. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And what about, you were gonna tell me a story about him now. 

MT: Well, he come in through the harbour in a little open skiff, 
him and, uh, Joe Turpin from Saint-Pierre. This is the fella, 
now, I was tellin' you about that couldn't see Lawn Island up 
off of Lawn. 

AR: Yeah, they think the Lawn Islands might have been covered with 
this ... the tsunami. 

MT: It was covered. 

AR: OK. 

MT: 'Twas covered, with that sea, see? 

AR: And so they ... 

MT: And they come down when they turned the cape, "Christ, Joe 
boy" he say, "there's something wrong!" he said. "I, I said 
to you say comin' down off of Lawn  Islands  something wrong?" 
because the swell was so big and open, no breakin' waves, no 
wind, see? 'Twas calm. 

AR: Um hum, um hum. 

MT: 	If 't had been any wind ... 

AR: You'd understand. 

MT: You should have lost everything with the wind, on that much 
sea because it took tops off it, see? The wind would. 

AR: So when they showed up the harbour ... 

MT: So they come in through the harbour 'mid all the stuff goin' 
out through, now that's the fella that said to buddy about the 
horse. So he come in and he said "God" he said "I can't get 
into the stage" he said. "It's all gone, stage head and the 
flakes." So he come in around where he used to have ... he 
come in around a big rock what was there, and he put her up on 
a little newt[sic] (?), and everybody grabbed ahold to the 
skiff and hauled her over to the stage, and that's where she 
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AR: And tell me about the horse, 'cause we wouldn't have [hadj the
tape on when you were telling me about the horse. These

fellas saw the horse?

MT: Well, ah, he saw the horse with his head out through the door
and he was winker, well we called him winker, you know,
screechin' like horses do.

AR: Um hum.

MT: And Bob, boy, he got out through the door and swam ashore and
landed over a place called Island Rock.

AR: Long Rock.

MT: Island Rock, we calls it.

AR: On? (PT: "Island.")

MT: Islandt Rock.

AR: Island Rock. OK. Island Rock.

MT: Yeah. 'Twas flat, you know?

AR: And the horse )ust took off then.

MT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: Must have been scared.

MT: Yeah..

AR: Now ...

MT: He had he for years after.

AR: Whose horse, whose horse did she belong to?

MT: Tom Pike.

AR: Tom Pike.

MT: Thomas Pike, he was in the first World War.

AR: And he had his barn right on the Shingle Point.

MT: Right. Yeah.

AR: Or the point of the .... And the, um, tell me about the, now
who was riding with Victor when they were coming back from
Saint-Pierre with the ...

I
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MT: Joe Turpin. 

AR: So it's Joe Turpin and Victor Turpin were coming back in their 
open skiff. 

MT: Right. 

AR: Would it have had a motor then? 

MT: Oh yes, 8 horsepower Acadia. 

AR: So they were coming into the, ah, the harbour and met all this 
debris. Did they see any houses floating then? 

MT: Well, stores.  There you wouldn't tell a house then, you know, 
from a store because it'd be down low, 'cause people used to 
have some great stores, you know, for, uh, mendin' their 
twine, one thing and the other. 

AR: So Victor and Joe. Now, were they related to each other? 

MT: Ahhh, distance. 

AR: OK. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: And were returning from Saint-Pierre. Well, I'd heard about 
that before. 

MT: Did you? 

AR: And, I'm pretty sure that I was talking to one of the fellas, 
um, from Grand Bank that came Into this harbour shortly after 
which, with a, with a, you know, fairly big boat of cargo and 
they couldn't land anywhere 'cause the .... What happened to 
the Government Wharf at the end of the, ah, the point of 
beach? 

MT: Well that one wasn't built there then. 	But the Government 
Wharf then was on Shingle Point. 

AR: At the end of Shingle Point. 

MT: Yeah. That was washed out, see? 

AR: It was. 

MT: Yeah. 

AR: So you had no way of ... 

MT: That's how the flake never come to  corne, all that was washed 
out. 
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AR: So you had no place to land a boat then.

MT: That's right.

AR: How did you get, ah, supplies ashore when the ...
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MT: Well, you hauled ashore, you know. High water, you bring it
ashore in a dory or something.

AR: Do you remember the MEIGLE coming in?

MT: I can remember the MEIGLE, ARGYLE, CLAYCLOE[sic) and PORTIA.

AR: Now do you remember the MEIGLE, though, as being a rescue
ship?

MT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: What did she do for the community here, then?

MT: Well she done a fine lot a stuff, boy, but I don't know that
much about it, but I'll tell you this much, though, the old
PORTIA. I can remember that the weather was so hard that you
used to come in off of Calipouse there, that big bluff head on
the east side there. And we'd go out with the hand slide and
she'd lop up along side the ice and hoist the freight out and
put it on our slide and we'd bring it in, 'cause me uncle
Victor Turpin had a business, see?

AR: So you used the ice as the landing point in the winter times.

MT: Right. And hauled it in on the, on the slide.

AR: Wow. So, what else do we, should we record then about, ah,
about this event? We certainly got the houses that moved, and
we know a bit about the stages that moved.

MT: Yeah.

AR: And your skiff going all the way over to the other side there
[above Doctor's Cove] ...

MT: How are you, my son? (someone coming in. PT: Come in,
sir.")

AR: Well, we'll Just say ...

MT: ... tape recorder.

AR: What I'll ask first, though, is Just make sure that's it's OK,
that you're comfortable ...

MT: Bringin' groceries, something to eat, boy.

I
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AR: All right. Now, you're, are, are you comfortable with me
using this for this, ah ... study?

MT: Oh, I don't care, I don't care.

AR: 'Cause what I'd like to do ...

MT: I'm only telling the truth!

AR: Well, I know you arei And what I'd like to do I s, I'd like to
put the tape in the Archives at some time so other people
could listen to it. Would you mind doing that.

MT: Well, I don't care!

AR: 'Cause what I'm gonna do is, I'm gonna make a ... I'm gonna
make a ... [transcript]

MT: I'm used to that because, ah, I had it here with the sailors
and in the TRUXTON and POLLUX wrecks, see, I was the f I rst guy
out at that wreck.

AR: Oh, you were one of the fellas got down to that too, eh?

MT: First. First sailor. I'm gonna show you to him now.

AR: All right. Well, I'll just stop the tape here for a minute
and, ah, I have got to figure out how to do this. I)ust do
... (tape shut off).

End of interview

I
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11 	 Transcript made 
March 13, 1995 
Wendy Findley 

TAPE 95-1, SIDE 2, SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 1995, 
ARCHIBALD JOSEPH SLANEY, ST. LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND 

IT Archibald Joseph Slaney — born 1912 
— lives on Water Street West, St. Lawrence 

11 	
— mailing address: P.O. Box 53, Water 

Street West, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland 
AOE 2V0 

— phone (709) 873-2899 
— interview length: 25.5 minutes 

ALAN RUFFMAN: ... you and I can Just sit here with the map, and, 

If  
ah, I'll get my pen out and we can, you, feel free 
to sit down and we'll look at this as we .... 
Well, let me start. I'm talking to, it's Arch? Or 
Archibald? 

ARCHIBALD SLANEY: 	Arch. Arch. Archibald. 

11 	AR: Arch Slaney. And what, do you have a middle name as well, Mr. 
Slaney? 

11 	AS: Ah, Jack. 

AR: Jack? 

11 	AS: Yeah. Joseph. 

AR: So you are Archibald Joseph Slaney. 

1 . 	
AS: Yes sir. That's right. 

AR: And now, how old were you at the time of the tidal wave? Were 
you a young man? 

AS: Oh, I was only young, yeah, yeah, yeah. About 29 I'd say. I 
was born in '12. 

AR: So you're the same age as my father, so you would have been 
about 17 years old at the time the tidal wave came in 1929. 

AS: How many? 17. 

AR: 	Seventeen, I think. 	If you're born 1912, ... 

AS: Twelve, yeah, yeah. 

11 	AR: So you're 'bout 17. So you were a young man. 

ir AS: Yeah, yeah. 
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AR: Do you remember the tidal wave then?

AS: Well, yes I remember because, ah, we were up to a house where
they used to play cards.

AR: At the time of the earthquake?

AS: At the time of the tidal wave.

AR: OK. Where were you when the earthquake occurred?

AS: Ah, well in the 'quake, ah, I was in, I, I, I was in this, ah,
in this house.

AR: OK. Whose house was that you were at?

AS: Oh, ah, Fitzpatricks house, that's right near the [old
Catholic church] hall, yuh.

AR: The hall being the, which hall are we talking about?

AS: Yeah, ahhh, the Catholic hall, ahh ...

AR: On the other side ...

AS: It's not where it's to now, but, ah, that was the old hall,
you know?

AR: And then, what time of day did the earthquake occur?

AS: Ah, oh, I'd say, ah, 7 or 8 o'clock.

AR: OK. And, was it dark when the earthquake occurred?

AS: Ah, I'd say Just comin' dark.

AR: OK. And, and when did, how much later was the tidal wave
then?

AS: Oh, an hour or so later.

AR: And you say you're at a felia's house where they're playing
cards.

AS: Yeah.

AR: Whose house was that you're at now?

AS: The Fitzpatricks.

AR: The Fitzpatricks. 'Member whose name?

AS: Well, ah, Ambrose Fitzpatrick.

I
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AR: OK. And whereabouts was that house located, then, when the, 
is it still there, or has it been torn down? 

AS: Well, ah, ah, you know, ah, ah, ah, it's torn down now. But 
there was a house built right there where that was built. 

AR: And is it on the east side or the west side of the harbour? 

AS: On, on the west side, on the east side. 

AR: So we go across the causeway, um, which way do you turn to get 
to this house? 

AS: Ah, ya, you go, you go across the causeway and you go right 
straight up the [Church] lane. 

AR: Oh yes. 

AS: And on your right, on your right there's a new house built 
there. But that's where the old house ... 

AR: And is it the first house on your right, or the second? 

AS: The first house on the right. 

AR: All right. 	I'm just going to show this on .... 	So this was 
Ambrose Fitzpatrick. 

AS: Yeah. 

AR: And that's where ... 

AS: You're goin' across the causeway. 

AR: And you go up that lane. What's that lane called? 

AS: Ah, that's the Church Lane, see? 

AR: That's the Church Lane, OK. 

AS: The Catholic, ah, church. To the Catholic church. 

AR: All right. That's called Church Lane. Um, and so when you go 
up Church Lane the first house on the right is where Ambrose 
• • • 

AS: Where Ambrose, ah, Fitzpatrick. 

AR: Fitzpatrick. That's where you were, then, when the tidal wave 
came. Now how did you know the tidal wave was coming? 

AS: 	Well, I, I didn't know at all. 	I didn't know at all until, 
ah, until the sea started goin' in and out, you know. 
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AR: And, and how did you know that was happening? What, what, 
what brought that to everyone's attention? 

AS: Well, I, I don't know, there was a kind of a commotion out on 
the road and that, and we went out to see what was goin' on 
there, see? 

AR: Could you hear it? 

AS: Oh, could you hear it? Oh my God! The sea used to go out, 
you know, you know, as far as Herring Cove. 

AR: Yes, I know where Herring Cove is. 

AS: Ah, almost go out to Herring Cove, I'd say. 

AR: The sea withdrew. 

AS: Oh, yeah. Between Herring Cove and, ah, Blue Beach. 	Blue 
Beach, it's a place on the west side ... 

AR: Yeah, I know where that's at. 

AS: 	... of Blue Beach, and, ah, almost go out to ... 

AR: So, [the] sea dried right out. 

AS: The sea dried right out. 

AR: So you could've, you could've walked across, you think you 
could've walked from the Shingle Point beach right across to 
the other side. 

AS: Ah, almost, yeah. 

AR: Wow. 	So then what happened when the water started coming 
back? 

AS: Oh, when the water started t' come in, well, my God, ah, boats 
and everything was washed, right from where you goes out to 
the, ah, wash, the fish plant down there now. 

AR: Um hum. Shingle, Shingle Point. 

AS: Yeah. Out to the fish plant. Everything was swept away in 
that then, ah, flakes and ... and stages. 

AR: Um hum. Now, were you living in your house? Your house is 
this one right here, and were you in this house at the time? 

AS: 	I, I was on the east side. 

AR: At the Ambroses' house. How high did the water come up ...? 
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AS: No, no, I, I wasn't there, wasn't there, but I was down, down
here somewhere, see?

AR: So your family home was on the east side.

AS: Yeah, my family home was on the east side.

AR: In 1929. Now, is that house still there?

AS: No, no. No, It's gone.

AR: it's gone. How high do you think the water came on the east
side?

AS: Where's the Church Lane there?

AR: There's the Church Lane. How high, how ...

AS: No, no, the, the other, the other church, see? The Church of
England Church?

AR: Oh, now, I have to figure that out. I think, ah, I'm not sure
I know which one is .... Oh well, we'll figure . ... How,
when you were in Ambrose, ah, Fitzpatrick's house and the
water came in, how high did the water come? Did it come as
far as Ambrose's house?

AS: Ah, no. Ahhh, because of the fact that there was more level
ground in here for it to go, go in, far as the hospital, see?

AR: So, how high do you think the water came over where you were
that night at Ambrose Fitzpatrick's?

AS: Ohhh, I say it came, uh, came up over the road.

AR: Over the east ... Water Street East.

AS: Came on the east side, ahhh, over the road ... (coughs).
Excuse me.

AR: And were there any ...

AS, It came up to, towards the old hall that was over there. [he
means the old church hall]

AR: And that would be the old town hall?

AS: Yeah, the old town hall.

AR: Now, where Is, where was that old town hall?

AS: Oh, I say, ah, could be a little bit in front of the other one
that's there now.
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AR: OK.

AS: Yeah.

AR: And when you say 'the other one', you're referring to the fire
station?

AS: Ah, no, I'm referring to the one that's built there now, see?

AR: The hall.

AS: Yeah, the old hall was, ah, could be a little bit in front of
the other one.

AR: And what's the name of the hall that's there right now?

AS: Ahhh, ...

AR: Who owns the hall?

AS: Ah, the Catholic church, Catholic.

AR: And Is that the one they use sort of the ... a, um, bit of a
club?

AS: Yeah, yeah, yeah.

AR: And there's cars parked in front of it.

AS: Yeah, yeah, that's right, yeah.

AR: So, there was a hall in front of that at the time.

AS: I, ah., I. I wouldn't say much in front of it, but, ah, the sea
went almost up to that building because, ah, I seen, I seen
parts of buildings and stuff like that, you know.

AR: Yeah. Were there any dwelling houses that moved?

AS: Were there any ...?

AR: ... dwelling houses that moved?

AS: Ah, not, not very many here.

AR: Now there were at other places.

AS: There was a, there was a few, and ah, you know where the
Mountle building is to?

AR: Yes, I know which one Is the Mountie ....

AS: Right, right next to the Mountie building going north.

I
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AR: OK.

AS: Yeah. There was a white house, there's a white house there.

AR: Whose house was that now?

AS: Ah, that was, ah, oh dear. [he does not remember]

AR: Was that this fellow Hendrigan?

AS: Handrigan, yeah.

AR: Handrigan.

AS: Handrigan, yeah.

AR: So i t was just to the north of the RCMP and i t was a white
house.

AS: Yeah, yeah, yeah.

AR: Where'd it move to?

AS: But I mean, ah, it was green at the time, you know.

AR: OK.

AS: Was green at the time, but, ah, their, their house was moved.

AR: And where did the Handrigan house move to?

AS: Well, ah, it didn't go very far. it didn't go very far
because, you know.

AR: OK.

AS: Yeah. Probably only went 50 or 60 feet and that because, ah,
tide goin' way back in towards the school, you know, the high
school?

AR: Yes. Do you have any idea how far towards the high school the
water went?

AS: I'd say it went in to the high school. Went in to the high
school or [to the] Lawn road, the road goin' to Lawn.

AR: Do you think It went to the north side of the Lawn road?

AS: Ah, ah, It's possible, It could. it's possible it could.

AR: Now, how do you know the water went that far? What, um, what
let you know how far?

AS: Well, ahhhh, our Judgin' by the, how high the tide came that

I
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east side and the west side, you know. 

AR: Was there debris left? 

AS: Well, there was ... there was garbage in there and that, yeah. 

AR: What sort of garbage got left up there? 

AS: Well, wood, wood and stuff like that. 

AR: From the stages. 

AS: Stuff that was washed away from the .... 

AR: What d'you call the brook that comes down? There's a brook 
that comes down behind the manor and into the .... 

AS: Yeah, yeah. 

AR: What d'you call that brook? 

AS: Ah, what d'you call that brook? Ah, ah. Hell. 	I'm, ah, ... 
I'm ah .... 

AR: I've heard the name Riverhe... 

AS: 	I'm due to ... ah, lack of, ah, memory now, you know. 

AR: Oh, well, that happens to us all. Happens to us all. Now the 
other thing, do you remember where the Government Bridge was? 
You referred to the Government Bridge. 

AS: The Government Bridge? 

AR: She went out in the tidal wave. 

AS: The Government Bridge? 

AR: Yeah. Do you remember what, what was the Government Bridge? 

AS: The Government Bridge? 

AR: 'Cause they, they used to have a road that went around the, 
the Bridgehead Road went around the top of the harbour, didn't 
she? 

AS: Yuh, yuh. There was no causeway there. 

AR: No, no causeway at the time. 

AS: At the time, yeah. 

AR: Now were there other big buildings that moved? Do you know 
any other big buildings that moved? 



1 
170 

AS: Ah, I can't say I know. Because I can't understand. There 

was a house, down where the fish plant is to. 

AR: Yes, Just, ah, whose house was that now? 

AS: Right out, that man used to look after the wharf. 

AR: Yes. 

AS: And, ah, all the steamers were comin' here and goin' as far as 
Port aux Basques and as far as Lamaline comin' back. And 
that, and, ah, this man was, uh, nothin' that happened down 

there .... 

AR: What was that fella's name? 

AS: Ah, Pike. 

AR: Pike. Do you remember his first name? 

AS: Oh, I'll tell you, ah, George Pike. 

AR: George Pike. 

AS: George Pike, yeah. 

AR: I'm Just going to write it right on the map here. Now George 
Pike, I think I was told that he was the father of Gladys. 
That's the same fellow ... 

AS: Of Gladys, Gladys. Gladys was, ah, was, ah, married to a man 
two houses from here. 

AR: OK. 

AS: Two houses from here. But, ah, if you, ah, you got time for 
you to see Key Pike. Key Pike, he can tell you. 

AR: What's his first name now? 

AS: Kevin. 

AR: Kevin Pike. 	Now he's the fella with all the photographs, 
isn't he? 

AS: Yeah, yeah. 

AR: Now, I, I have him on my list to see. 

AS: Oh yes, yes. 

AR: Now where's Kevin live now? 

AS: Yes. He lives up on the back road, ah, way out. 
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AR: On Laurentian, on Laurentian down towards, ah, towards the
south. Now I was told I should definitely go see him.

AS: Yeah, oh yes.

AR: 'Cause he's got a fine collection of photographs.

AS: Oh, yes, yes, yes. He got quite a collection of, ah,
photog...

AR: And I knew, I'd been told this fella's, you know, was the
father of Gladys Pike but no-one could remember his name. But
it's George.

AS: George, yeah. George Pike.

AR: Yup. Well that's the ...

AS: I, I, I can remember well because him and other people used to
go to card games, see?

AR: Yes.

AS: And when they go to their card game, to their church, to their
church activities?

AR: Um hum.

AS: And, ah, someone, ah, got dirty or something and, ahh, said
something to George Pike.

AR: Oh oh.

AS: "Old fellow", he said, he said, ah, "old fellow", he said, "I,
I, I paid for those cards, I'll )ust play 'em Just how I
like." (laughs) Yeah.

AR: Well. Now, there was a horse out there too, I think there's
a story about a horse.

AS: Horse ... Yes.

AR: What's the story about the horse?

AS: That's right. I, I don't know the story, but there was a
horse out there, yeah.

AR: He kept a barn, did he, ah, George Pike?

AS: Yuh, he kept a barn, he kept a barn and he used to rear
vegetables too. He had a, he had a garden there. He had a
garden ...

AR: Right out on the Shingle Beach.

1
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AS: Yeah. Oh yes. Yeah. And a beautiful garden, he used to rear
cabbage and ...

AR: Now, right down in front of you here, now I get my map right,
now. The fluorspar built a big brown building. What do you
call that wharf? [The Minworth Pier]

AS: The big brown building.

AR: You know, it's Just down, ah, I guess it's behind the, ah, I
guess it's, for the storage of the ore. There's several piers
and I get my names all muddled up here.

AS: Ah, could be Etchegary's?

AR: Mighta been, yeah. I. I don't know, ah. If you come right
down Director and, you know, if you come down Director, if you
were not, if you forget to put the brakes on, you'd go right
out on a pier. What pier is that, y' know, down Director
Avenue? [The Alcan Wharf]

AS: Come down Director, Director.

AR: But that, ah, you may call it a different ...

AS: Ah, ah, hold on ..., yeah, yeah, ah, yeah, If you comin' down
Director that's the fluorspar that's there.

AR: Yeah. OK. And then, what did they call this little lane
right beside you here?

AS: Ah, that's, ah, Welch's Lane.

AR: That's Welch's Lane.

AS: Yeah.

AR: All right.

AS: Welch's Lane. Goes up there, or, ah, it goes up to the back
road. [to Laurentian]

AR: Yup. Now, is there anything else you remember about the tidal
wave? Did you watch the wave come in?

AS: Oh yes. We watched it. Actually, ah, there was a lot of
people up to the priest's house. Father Thorne was here then
from Torbay.

AR: Father Thorne was the fella, yes. I've seen a picture of him.

AS: Yeah, yeah. From Torbay. And there was a lot of people up
there. Now I was, I was there for so long and then I left
from then ... Yeah ... curiosity ...

I
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AR: And the, how many waves did you see?

AS: Oh, I don't know ... ah ... two or three waves, you know. I'd
say somethin' like, ah, somethin' like three.

AR: And, did the wave Just, did it Just flood in or did she break?

Was there a breaking wave?

AS: Oh, ah, once it went out, it started to come in, and, ah, then
it was a br... [Alan interrupted assuming the answer].

AR: And do you remember where she started breaking? Where did the
wave start breaking? Did you, did you watch it come down the
harbour. at all?

AS: I, I'd say, ah, out there almost out to Herring Cove point?

AR: OK. Well, I, I thank you very, very much. I found this very
interesting, and I'll be talking to other people in the
community and trying to put the whole story together.

AS: Yeah, yeah.

AR: And seeing if we can't get a good idea of how high the water
came and, ah, what damage she did.

AS: Ah, ah, didn't, it didn't come up here now because, from here,
from this house, from this house to that house there, lookl

AR: Yes, the yellow house.

AS: Ah, ah, there was a, your used to had to go down the hill, and
like that, and come up over there where, ah, by that yellow
house. [points southeast]

AR: OK.

AS: Because there used to be a good dropa water run down here.

AR: A bit of brook coming down there.

AS: Yeah, there was a brook comin' down here [to the southwest],
and, ah, comin' through my, ah, through my garden there, yeah,
in my, end of my garden.

AR: But do you think the water came, ... did anyone ever, ... did
the water come up onto Water Street West?

AS: No, no. Never came up here.

AR: Not this high.

AS: Because, ah, 'twas all lower, you know, than what it is now.
Director's fillin' in, in thè harbour all around now.

1
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AR: Yeah. Now where was the old school? 

AS: The old school? 

AR: I, I, I talked to Lou Etchegary and he told me, Lou Etchegary 
told me the water came up around the old school. 

AS: The old school? 

AR: Yeah. I don't know what he was talking about. 

AS: 	I, I, ah, the old school, the only thing I knows about the old 
school, that was the hall. 	It was the bottom section of the 
school, bottom section of the hall was the school. 

AR: Was the school. Now which hall are we talking about? 

AS: Ah, ah, the old hall, see? Not, not the one over here. 

AR: That was on, on the west side? 

AS: Yeah. On the east side. 

AR: On the east side, the one that's down of front here [of Stella 
Maris Hall]. 

AS: Yeah, yeah, yeah. 

AR: Where would Lou Etchegary have lived then, in 1929? Did you 
know Lou? 

AS: Right there, look! [points to northwest] 

AR: That house next door, Just across, ah, Welch's Avenue [Lane]. 

AS: Yeah, yeah. 

AR: Well, that's interesting, now. That, that'd be that one right 
there [marks map]. 

AS: Did you say Lou? Gus, Gus you mean? 

AR: Well, they're, Lou and Gus were brothers, weren't they? 

AS: Gus, ah, and Theo. 

AR: There was three of them. Theo, Theo, Lou and Gus. 

AS: Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah. Yeah, I knew them well then. 

AR: You did, eh? Now, Lou's died I think, hasn't he? 

AS: Ah, Lou's died, yeah. 

1 
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AS: Ah, no, no. Theo's still, ah, still, he's dead too. He died

AR: What about Gus?

AS: Ah, he, Gus is alive.

AR: Where's Gus live now?

AS: Gus, ah, lives In St. John's.

AR: In St..John's, eh?

AS: Yeah, yeah. He's married and in St. John's.

AR: And Gus ... which one of them was in the, uh, the fish plant?

AS: Which was in the fish plant, Gus.

AR: Gus is fish pl..., is ... National Sea or FPI? ... Anyway ...

AS: Ah, ah, I don't know exactly, you know ... the Initials ...

AR: 'Cause I talked to, um, I talked to, to, this is some years
ago, I talked to Lou Etchegary. [circa 1984 or '85]

AS: Yeah.

AR: And he recalls the water coming up around the school.

AS: Yeah.

AR: But not taking the school. They had to go to school again,
you know? But that would have been the school over here.

AS: Yeah, yeah, that woulda been the school, ah, part of the hall.
The hall was on top, see, and the school was down below.

AR: All right. The hall on top.

AS: Yeah. Because the school, the other schools were a way up, a
way up in the meadow, see?

AR: And so this school was a Catholic school, was i.t?

AS: Yeah, that's right.

AR: And so it's in front of that building that's there now, down
close to the road.

AS: Yeah.
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AR: Probably a little farther down. Now do you remember a fella 
named, um, Patrick Albert who had an oil factory? 

AS: Patrick Albert. 

AR: Do you remember that oil factory? 

AS: 	I, I worked with him. 

AR: Did you? 

AS: Oh yes. Yeah. 

AR: Did you work in the oil factory then? 

AS: 	I worked in the oil factory, yeah. 

AR: Now what happened to it in the tidal wave? 

AS: Ah, what happened tlit? Oh, well, I guess It's all swept out 
and that, you know. 

AR: You don't remember whether you could work there afterwards. 

AS: No, well, ah, I probably worked there before. 

AR: And what about Malloy? Do you remember the house owned by the 
Malloys? 

AS: Malloys. 

AR: I don't remember their names. 

AS: Ah, Claude Malloy. 

AR: Claude Malloy. 

AS: Yeah, Claude Malloy, and, ah, Aunt Kate, Aunt, Aunt Kate, uh. 

AR: And what happened to their house? 

AS: Ah, that was a distance up in the lane on the east side, Just, 
Just, ah, Just, ah, where you comes across the causeway. 

AR: Come across the causeway, yeah. 

AS: And, ah, 'bout here, 'bout here somewhere. 

AR: So, it was near Church Lane, was it? 

AS: No distance, no, no distance from this house here. 

AR: This is Ambrose, ah, Fitzpatrick's house. 

1 



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
1
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

AS: Yeah, that's right.

AR: So it was a little bit to the south?

AS: Yeah, a little bit to the south, yeah.

AR: And so that's where they ...
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AS: Oh, I say it could be, it could be here. There's one there
and, ah, ...

AR: Yeah, well these are the houses, these are today's houses.

AS: Yeah, yeah.

AR: What happened to Claude Malloy's house now?

AS: Ah, nothin' happened to it because it's, ah, a distance away
from the, from the salt water, see? Where the water came in.

AR: He was safe then.

AS: Oh yes. Yeah, yeah.

AR: All right.

AS: And, uh, and, uh, and Mike Malloy's is right behind it.

AR: OK

AS: I'd say those and those, look. This one and this one.
[pointing at map]

AR: Just to the south of, um, ...

AS: Yuh, Just to the south.

AR: The newspaper said that one of the Malloy houses moved, but it
didn't say which Malloy.

AS: Oh, well I'11 tell you what. They didn't say which one, but
I'11 tell you what, ah, could be, could be, ah, Joe Malloy's,
ah, that was, that was, ah, Just after you turns the Riverhead
Bridge to go in towards the graveyard.

AR: Yes.

AS: Going towards the graveyard.

AR: So, Joe Malloy's house may have moved.

AS: Yeah, Joe Malloy, yeah, that might have moved, but, ah, I
wouldn't, I wouldn't exactly know, you know. But I knows the
Handrigans, there, that wasn't too far away from, only as far

I
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as from here to that one there [pointing out window] from the 
Handrigans it moved, see? And there's more in the line of 
fire, more in the line of water than, ah, the Handrigans was, 
because had to, had to, the water had to spread out. 

AR: Now whose house are we talking about here? Which house was 
more 

AS: Joe Malloy's. 

AR: Joe Malloy's was more in the line of fire. 

AS: Yeah, yeah, yeah. 

AR: So it may have had, it may have floated off. 

AS: 	It might have floated off, yeah. 

AR: Now do you remember any boats that came up into the, into the 
meadows? 

AS: Yes, there was vessels in here and that and, ah, boats and, 
ah, they, they, they came in for quite a bit and that .... 
Yeah, yeah. 

AR: Well, I might like to talk to you again, and I found this 
very, very helpful. What I'd like to do is make a transcript 
and, ah, I'm gonna mail that back to you and see if I got it 
right. But, do you have any, any objection if I put this tape 
in the Archives eventually? 

AS: No, no. 

AR: So other people could listen to it. And what I'll do is, ah, 
maybe I'll just turn the tape off here. 

End of interview 

(This interview was followed by a second dub of the Tidal Wave Song 
recorded on the evening of February 25, 1995 at Evelyn Grondin's 
home.) 
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Transcript made
March 14, 1995
Wendy Findley

TAPE 95-2, SIDE 1, SUNDAY, FEBRUARY 26 1995,
GERTRUDE PRANCES TURPIN (N$E KELLY) AND NORBERT LIONEL TURPIN, ST.
LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND

Gertrude (Gert or Gertie) Frances Turpin
- family name Kelly, father Tom J. Kelly who carried

one of Tom Pike's children to safety on Shingle

Point
- born 1919
- lives on Water Street East with her husband Norbert

with home care staff

Norbert Lionel Turpin - born 1914
- quite deaf, did not participate much
- mailing address: Water Street East, P.O.

Box 483, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland AOE
2V0

- phone (709) 873-2815
- interview length: 34.5 minutes

ALAN RUFFMAN: Well, OK. Now we're talking to, I don't even think
I know your first name, now. I know it's Norbert,
Norbert Turpin.

GERTRUDE KELLY: Gert, or Gertie. I got three names.

AR: You're Gert.

GT: Gert, Gertie, and Gertrude.

AR: But Gertrude is what your mother gave you. And you are [née]
Kelly, Gertrude Kelly?

GT: Yeah.

AR: And do you have a middle name as well, Mrs. Kelly?

GT: Frances.

AR: Frances. And Norbert, were you, ah, do you a middle name?

GT: Norbert Lionel.

AR; Norbert Lionel.

GT: Turpin.

AR: Turpin. And we're on the east side, but you didn't live on
the east side when you were a small girl.
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GT: No. I lived on the west side.

AR: Where was your family home?

GT: My family home is still over there.

AR: What colour is it then?

GT: It's a wine, a great big long house and the shop was 'cross
the road from us.

AR: What's the shop say onto it now?

GT: Now, they beat out all the windows and they had to put boards
on it. The boys, when they came home in the summer.

AR: So it's, is the shop still have a sign onto It?

GT: No, no. The sign is gone.

AR: so what colour is the shop?

GT: The shop is grey, isn't it Nor[bert]?

NORBERT TURPIN: Yeah, yeah.

GT: It's just across from the house, across the road. And then
down from that is a slaughterhouse, and then from that is a
stage.

AR: All right. So if I go past, I go past Aylward's ...

GT: Ah, if you see John, if you see John Kelly, me brother, well
he'll show it to you.

AR: OK. Now you were ...

GT: And, ah, where Aylward's got their, um, place built over
there, their business ...

AR: Yes.

GT: That's where daddy had his restaurant. And after, after ...
[her father was Tom Kelly]

AR: Your house Is a little bit to the south of that_, to, ah, you
go up, past Aylward's, past Director Drive, and then that's
where your house is? [Alan is confused]

GT: No. You, you pass, wait now.

AR: You come across the causeway.

GT: Yeah, and you turn and come down and then, it's a old shop
there, um (voice of unidentified housekeeper in the background
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"Just before you get to [the] K. Karen [Motel]") Just before
you get to ...

AR: Oh, there's a red, there's a red house.

GT: Listen, our house its Just opposite the K. Karen [Motel].

AR: Oh I know where it is then.

GT: And the shop is below the road. The slaughterhouse is there,
where they used to slaughter the cattle, and the stage is out
there.

AR: So the. stage is still there, the slaughterhouse is still
there, and the old shop with the boards on the windows is
still there.

GT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: So, so this was the Kelly, the Kelly premises.

GT: Eight, eight, ah, rooms upstairs there.

AR: In the house.

GT: Fifty-two feet one long, uh, fifty-two feet long. The hall
wa s .

AR: Wow. Well, how big was your family then? You must have had
room for ...

GT: Four. But, my father, in them days when he was in business,
when, when they, when the people would come out, agents, they
had no place to stay.

AR: So he served as a hotel.

GT: So, so he used to take the people in, and when he'd buy cattle
from different people up the shore he would, you know, he'd,
ah, put 'em up when they'd come.

AR: Sure. And the cattle would come in by ship.

GT: Yeah. He used to take them i n, ah, he used to charter two

boats from Fortune.

AR: Um hum.

GT: And, um, so he'd go up to Charlottetown and he'd get his
cattle ...

AR: Bring 'em back ...

GT: And his horses. He brought back about 10 horses one time.

I



1 
182 

AR: Wow. 

CT: Oh he loved cattle. And he brought back pigs and he used to 
rear pigs himself, eh, and then cows and have calves in his 
slaughter, some then in the Fall. [corrected when transcript 
was sent for review to, ft... slaughter, cows ec pigs is in the 
Fall.") 

AR: Now where were you when the quiver came, when the earthquake 
came? You remember the actual shaking? 

GT: Oh yes. 

AR: Where were you located then? 

CT: In the same place. 

AR: In your home [on Water Street West]. 

CT:  Yeah. And my brother was up in the barn, and he was, he's 
dead now, he was feedin' the horse. And, ah, anyway, it 
knocked him down right by the horse. 

AR: Oh really. He, he was thrown to the ground? 

GT: To the floor. 

AR: Or the, did the horse knock him down? 

CT:  No. 	I don't know. But he's, he's thrown down on the floor 
anyway. So after, he got frightened and after that he came 
down to the house. So, after the ... 

AR: Did anything break in your house? 

CT:  No. 

AR: Nothing fell off and broke. 

GT: No. But after the, after the dinner was over, supper we used 
to call it in them days, Daddy said, now, everything was 
quietin' down, he said "I'm goin' down for me poker game." 
They'd have a poker game once every week. 

AR: And he would be going to this fella Tom Pike's. 

CT:  Yeah. 

AR: Out on, and is, Tom Pike's house was out on the ... 

GT: Where the ... 

AR: On a point of land. Where the fish plant ... 
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NT: Where the fish plant was. (corrected when the transcript was
sent for review to, "... plant is now.")

GT: Out there, over there where the stage I s. Where the, um, f i sh
plant. Right there. The very place.

AR: Was that Shingle Beach, Shingle, Shingle Point?

GT: No, no. You're talkin' 'bout Shoal Point now.

AR: Well, I just wondered if, if that point of land had a name to
it. What did you call that?

GT: Um, what is that now? Blue Beach. No. I forget now.
[added when the transcript was sent for review: "I
believe they called it Pike's Beach."]

AR: But anyway, it was the same, same point of land that has the
fish plant on it now.

GT: Fish plant now. And the house and the barn was there,

yea. The house and the barn was there, and when Daddy
heard the roar, him and the other men said it didn't
sound good. So, they went out and they saw the big sea
comin', just like a lion. And they went in and ...

AR: Ah, how could they see it? Ah ...

GT: They went out and looked. Oh that was like, you know,

um, like that ...

AR: What sort of a night was it?

GT: It was a, a bright ... you know, kind of a bright night
(??) and all. And, ah, anyway they went, and the first
thing Daddy said was "Let us get the children out of
bed." They went up and took one each under their arms.

AR: How many children were upstairs?

GT: Oh, well, it was Geraldine, I think, and Karen and
Roul[sic] and, ah, Jean ... was ... ["Kevin" added after
the transcript was sent for review - Kevin Pike was not
born until after the 1929 tsunami.]

AR: Four children at least.

GT: Four or five anyway, and anyway they took one each under
their arms and they went in over the beach.

AR: To run to the west side.

GT: To get in, ah, you know, before that would go. So they
just landed In when the house went, and. the, and the
barn.
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AR: And, the barn had the horse in it. Tell me about the horse 
now. 

CT:  And the horse went out, she got out and, and swam ashore. 

NT: Yeah. 

GT: But now from here over to the community, over to the fish 
plant, you could walk across the water, wasn't a bit a water 
in this way. 

AR: When the water drained out. 

GT: When it went out. 

AR: You could have walked right across from the fish plant to the 
other side. 

CT:  Yeah, yes. Right ... walk right across. And then, after 
that then, ah, you know, it came back again. 'Twas three 
waves, wasn't it, Nor? 

NT: Yeah. 

CT: And I know it took the crosses out of the cemetery; it's that 
far away. [she is referring to to Mount Cecilia Catholic 
Cemetery] 

AR: Well, now you were mentioning up at the bridge, up at the 
Riverhead, you told me it was ... 

GT: Yes, where the water crossed that to go to school on old 
pieces of stage and flakes and everything. 

AR: And that was, ... there was no causeway at the time. 

NT: Oh no. 

CT: No, no. 	No, that's only built up Just late years, the 
causeway. 

AR: So, um, now were there any other debris up there? I mean, it 
was the ... all the broken stages, was it? 

GT: Yes, and flakes, you know, where they used to dry the 
fish. Everything was all bundled up. 

AR: Where was your school at the time? It was over on ... 

GT: Over on, over on this side, yeah. 

AR: Near the church. 

GT: Yeah. It's taken down now. 
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AR: So, you have to walk back and forth across all that ...

GT: Oh, no buses then. No, we didn't have any buses.

AR: Now you mentioned that the wave went on up the river.

CT: Yes, and It took the headstones and took some of the crosses
out of the ground.

AR: And, would it be, where in the, was the graveyard in the same
place?

GT: Same place it is now.

AR: So it must have crossed the Lawn Road then.

GT: Yeah, it did. It went, 'cause the brook there, see?

AR: Yeah.

GT: You see that brook?

AR: It would follow the brook.

GT: Yeah. And went right in and it took to the, now on that side
we had a piece of land, and that's where the, that's where
the, um, the pharmacy is built now, on our land. We sold it.
We sold that land to ...

AR: That was quite ... to the pharmacy.

GT: To the pharmacy.

AR: Was that flooded, d'you think?

GT: Yes, it went right in. 'Member there's a house used to be in
there, now what's the name of the people? I forget now. And
Daddy, when they went away, Daddy bought the house from, the
land and everything. But, ah, ...

AR: Was there any houses, ah, moved? Any dwelling houses moved?

GT: Just Ben Slaney, Ben Slaney's house? Ben Slaney.

AR: Ben Slaney's house moved.

GT: OK, yes, 'cause it's, 'twas right close to the, to the road
over there?

AR: To the, to the Bridgehead Road, or to ...?

GT: Just this side of the Riverhead Bridge, yeah.

AR: So, it would've been on the east side road, Water Street East.
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GT: Yeah.

AR: And Ben Slaney's house, where did it move to?
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GT: Oh (it was) beat up when it went out. But I think it was Mr.
Ben Slaney's house now. Or, was it, um, Maizie (?) and her
house, Nor? Ah, I forget that man's name. 'Cause remember,
they bought, ah, Mr. Lou Etchegary's house after and towed it
down, remember? I think it's, I can't remember his name.

AR: I'd seen in the newspaper, I'd seen a name Molloy.

GT: Yeah.

AR: And I'd seen the name Hendrigan.

GT: Molloy. That's the land.

AR: You think his house moved?

GT: That Daddy bought ... it was Molloy, I think they bought.
And, ah, who else, what did you say?

AR: I thought maybe Handrigan Is another name I saw.

GT: Yes, Handrigans lived there too. Yeah. Duff Handrigan's.
Nor, remember?

NT: Yeah.

GT: They lived right there, there by the road. Just where the
police building is.

AR: Yes. OK.

GT: Right there, now that's where the house was.

AR: Where, where the RCMP building is.

GT: Yes, is now, yeah. And there's still, they built up a new
home there after, and i t ' s st i 1 1 there, you' 1 1 see I t, on that
side of the Mountie building.

AR: To the, it be to the north side of the Mountie building.

GT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: That house was built in the same location?

GT: Yes, the same location as the old one was.

AR: The old one which moved.

GT: Yeah.

I
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AR: And, and whose house was that that moved. 

GT: That was, ah, Handrig... a ... a Handrigans'. 

AR: Maybe Handrigans'. 

GT: Yeah, Handrigans' house. 

AR: The, the other thing that I read in the newspaper articles 
from 1929 is the, they said the Government Bridge went out. 
Do you remember the bridge? 

GT: Government wharf? 

AR: Well, no, the government bridge. Did the bridge go out across 
the stream? When you were walking to school, how did you get 
across the stream? 

GT: We'd go across on the flakes. 

AR: 	So there's all this debris. 

GT: Ah. Was all piled up. 

AR: Filling up the brook. 

GT: Yeah. Filling up the brook. 

AR: So you didn't need the bridge anymore. 

GT: No, we didn't need the bridge then. 

AR: 	I see. 

GT: We went through, look, you know, twistin' your feet and 
everything gettin' it over. Hoppin' over sticks and 
everthing, you know? That was clear? ... 

AR: Now tell me, you mentioned that the telegraph station, was it 
the post office and the telegraph station in the same 
building? 

CT: Well, yes, yeah. And it was, um ... 

NT: Yeah. 

AR: On the west side? 

GT: On the ... on the west side, yeah. And, ah, this old lady 
used to do the telegraph. She was an old maid, Miss Fewer, 
Celia [Cecelia] Fewer. 

AR: Celia [Cecelia] Fewer was her name. She was a Miss Fewer. 
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GT: Yeah. 

AR: OK. 

CT:  She was an old lady, you know, she wasn't never married. 

AR: A lot of the telegraph operators were women, weren't they? 

CT:  Yeah. 	And my sister, now, took the course from her. 
Telegraphy. I think it was over to the house that we used to 
use for her learning, I don't know where it went to ... 

AR: Did your sister become a telegraph operator too? 

GT: No, but she learnt it. 

AR: OK. 

CT:  But she fetched up up in the States, in Boston. Twenty-nine 
years. She worked with the, the United States Lines Company 
for, ah, I don't know how many years, and they moved to New 
York but she didn't like New York 'cause all Daddy's people 
were in Boston. So, then she went to work with, um, with, um, 
what is it now? United States Lines first, and then she went 
with Keystone, one of the biggest firms in the States. 

AR: Did she ever come back to Newfoundland? 

CT:  Not to live. Come back to die. 

AR: Yeah. 

GT: She got cancer and I had to go up and get 'er. 

AR: Boy. 

CT:  Yeah. Twenty-nine years. 

AR: Where did the telegraph station end up after the tidal wave? 

GT: Well, the old telegvis... ah, the old post office, as we 
called it until, is over there now but It's, ah, rented. The 
Frenchmen bought it and they made two apartments, some people 
livin' upstairs and living down. 

AR: Now is this the post office that went out in the harbour. 

GT: No. That was one was put there after. 

AR: OK. And, the post office that went out in the harbour, the 
telegraph. 

GT: Got beat up. 
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AR: It got beat up. They never used it again.

GT: Yeah. No, never used it. And, and, ah ...

AR: Do you remember whether the, the light was still burning in
the post office out in the harbour?

GT: Can't remember. But I know ...

AR: Where abouts did it end up out in the harbour? Do you
remember seeing it floating offshore?

GT: You couldn't see nothing 'cause it went right out to sea.

AR: OK.

GT: But, ah, Cusicks too, Norbert, was livin' there by the post
office, remember? Tilly Cusick? And they lost their home
too.

AR: So they were, they were on the west side.

GT: Yeah, by the post office.

AR: Now Cusick's a name I've never spelled before. How would you
spell that name?

GT: C-U-S-S-E-K.

AR: Cussek.

GT: Cusick.

AR: What was their first name?

GT: Ah, Q-U-S-I-C-K. Q. Ah, ah, I don't know. I know Tilly, she
lives in St. John's.

AR: She was the, she was the mother of the house, was she, or was
she ...? [she probably was the sister of Stephen and an aunt
of John Cusick of Herring Cove]

GT: Well, her mother died when she was young, and she had a
brother George but he died. But she's livin' in St. John's on
her own there so ... In apartment. In some apartment In
there, Tilly is.

AR: OK. So Tilly Cusick ...

GT: Yes.

AR: ... her home went out on the west side ...

GT: Yeah.
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AR: ... and got smashed up. 'Cause I, I hadn't seen that name
before, but I ...

GT: Yeah. Tilly Cusick, I remember her. And then, um, ...

AR: Do remember ... now, did your father's ... had the
slaughterhouse. Did It get filled up with water?

GT: Oh yes, everything came in. But that's (??) ...

AR: Did the water come up over the road?

GT: Oh yes.

AR: On the west side, or iust up to the road?

GT: It came up so far, It didn't come right up over the road.

AR: Not on the west side.

NT: ... (??) never got across the road.

GT: No. Not, ah, 'cause it's like at a bank. You knows when you
go over it's like a bank, eh?

AR: Yes.

GT: And that kept the water. But over on this side, now, the
water came all In over here 'cause It's level, eh?

AR: And so it would not have come ...

GT: Now, all the people over on this side had to leave their homes
and go for the ...

AR: The high ground.

GT: High ground, go up to the meadows and that to, ah, get away
from the ...

AR: Now, your father had, J ust across the road was the restaurant.

GT: Yeah.

AR: No, it wasn't built yet, was it?

GT: What?

AR: He, he built the restaurant after the tidal ... [when the
transcript was sent out for review Mrs. Turpin corrected this
by adding, "restaurant was built before the tidal wave"]

GT: No. When Daddy came here, he bought this house, ah, well, he
lived in this house, and Cy Beck wanted it ... (??) And he,

r
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ah, came here as policeman. And, so he got, instead of goin' 
out payine rent, he went t'work and he bought the house. 

AR: OK. 

GT: Then, after he bought the house, he took one of the rooms and 
he made a shop out of it. And my mother ran ... 

AR: For groceries. 

GT: Yeah. My mother ran the shop and he used to do all night 
duty. 

AR: But the water didn't come across into the shop. 

GT: NO, 

AR: 'Cause you were high enough. 

GT: High enough sure (?) ... But, anyway ... 

AR: When did he start the slaughterhouse business? 

GT: So, oh, he, he built the, don't know when he started that. 

After, after the tidal wave, anyway, he did that, he, um, he's 

AR: But he didn't have a, he didn't have a stage down there after. 

GT: Now, he had the restaurant still there when the Americans were 
drowned. [1942] 

AR: OK. 	But you don't recall whether he was still a policeman 
when you were, you were seven years old. We figured out you 
were seven. [actually closer to ten years old] 

CT: No, he, he was, had it given up then. He was transferred to 
Corner Brook, and because we were small and, ah, most (?) were 

goin' to school, he didn't want to ... 

AR: Leave home. 

GT: Leave, ah, leave, no, he said movin' around, the youngsters 
had been knocked about, and, ah, it's different schools. So 

he preferred that, we stay here. He knew it was a good place 
to do business. And now, it used to be men coming here in 
boats, sellin' fish, ah, buyin' fish from the men.  You used 
to, you used to dry the fish and then, um, the boats from 

Marystown they would all come in and buy it and go and sell it 
in different countries. So, he was a, my father was a funny 
man. So, Uncle Duff [Dolph = Alolph] used to ... 

AR: This, now this is Tom. 



I
r
I
I

I
t
I
I
^
1
1
1

t
I
I
I
I

192

GT: Yeah.

AR: Tom Kelly.

GT: He used to, he used to say, Uncle Duff now is a businessman
where Bud Giovannini got his, his store over, his, ah, club.

AR: Yeah.

GT: And, ah, he lived Just down from us. So, ah, he was always
complainin' to Daddy, you know, 'bout everything, see? So
this night Daddy went out on duty, and, ah, he was tellin' us
about it, and he had a, a chalk, white chalk?

AR: Yes.

GT: And 'er's a great big shop window there, and he says, "Ought
for ought, two for two, and none for, for ah, all for smut,
all for smite, but none for you." And this for Mr. Uncle
Duff, see? And, next morning he gets a call, "Tom, come over
and find out who put that on my windowl" And this was Daddy!
And so he came out, he came 'round the shore another night on
this side, and he only had flashlight, 'stand [understand ], and
billies and that. So when he was coming down the harbour, he
didn't have the light on, Just up where Father's, y'know where
his father lived. He didn't know nothing, he was taken right
off his legs. You know what it was?

AR: No.

GT: A cow. She was lyin' down on the road and when she got up,
she took ...

AR: He tripped right over it.

GT: No! She kept him on his ... on her back.

AR: Oh really!

GT: And what a fright he got.

AR: I'11 bet.

GT: Oh, he had an awful lot of big scares. Oh my. I'm tellin'
you.

AR: Now, where was, where was your family home, Norbert?

GT: Up here. Up the road.

AR: On the, on the east side.

GT: Yes. They had a shop but it's taken out of it now.
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AR: Now, did the water come into Norbert's house?

NT: No. No ... landed aside it.

GT: No, no, no. Just to the stages and that, you know?

AR: Did it come across the road where your house was, Norbert?

GT: No. No, didn't it? (to Norbert] Didn't, didn't go over the
road.

NT: No, no, no.

GT: Because there's a bank, seè?

AR: Oh, so you're up on ...

NT: ... up on the side.

GT: They are up on the upper side.

AR: Which house is, is it still there, the house?

GT: Yest Yeah, bay windows, is It, bay windows?

AR: So as I go back down the road, it's a white house, is it?

GT: Yes, white house.

AR: How far down is it ...?

GT: It's, ah, let's see now, um, ... Sandy Lake's is there, and
Harriet Tarrant's Is next, and El Murray's is next, and, um,
Gabe'Cusick's is next, and then, the fifth house.

AR: Fifth house as I go back down with the bay windows.

GT: Yeah, yeah.

AR: That was Norbert, Norbert's family home, then.

GT: That was his father's, yeah, yeah.

AR: And the water didn't come up onto the road 'cause you're
higher up there.

GT: No, no.

AR: But the stage went.

NT: Land's too high there to take it.

GT: Yeah, yeah. Land's too high, yeah. But, ah, his father was
a business, businessman and he was a fisherman too.

r
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AR: And, now, was there, was there any compensation for the damage 
that was done here? Did you, did the, did the people get any 
compensation? 

GT: Ah, I think they got a little, some of them .... But, a lot 

of them got welfare and that and, you know what he used to 
get, my father? They used to send it to him, but the ... all 
of ground flour, whole wheat. 

AR: Yes, OK. 

GT: They wouldn't give him white. And we used to love ... 

AR: So it was cheaper, it was cheaper to get the brown flour, was 
it? 

GT: Yeah. 	And we used to love the white flour, ah, the brown 
flour? And Daddy'd change it. T'give 'em a second white for 
to get the second flour whole wheat. [note added by Mrs. 
Turpin when the transcript was sent for correction, "Tom Kelly 
traded the whole wheat flour that welfare gave the people for 
white flour. Government would only give brown flour, sugar, 
butter, molasses. Just ruff  food."]  

AR: Oh really? 

GT: For us. 

AR: 	'Cause you guys liked ... 

GT: 	'Cause we loved it. And he knew it was healthier for us. 

AR: Sure. 

GT: 	See? He was keen. 	I'll tell you. 

AR: Now you should tell me a little bit 'cause, I'm not doing 
research on it, but I'd like to hear a little bit more of that 
story you told about the two ships [wrecks of the TRUXTON and 
POLLUX] when they came in. 

GT: 	Oh, the two, It's like I said ... 

AR: How did you first hear about it? There was someone ... 

GT: That man, that gone ashore down there, brought him up to my 
father's shop 'cause there was only one teléphone in the 
harbour, and it was my father's. 

AR: And where could you ... 

GT: And that was one square one used to go on the wall with a bell 
on it. 
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AR: And you ring it, by hand.

GT: And you ring It. With your hand.

AR: And where, where could you get out to, Argentla, could you?

GT: Yeah. He got to Argentia from it. Well the man got Argentia
himself, and then when the head fellows came, of course, they
came to Dad. And then they went to where the men was [at the
TRUXTON and POLLUX wreck sites].

AR: And your father had built the restaurant by then.

GT: Yes.

AR: Was it open?

GT: Oh yes. He had It, ah, almost finished. And he had all
hardwood floor upstairs, and he had speakers everywhere for
the girls and the boys to dance. And, ah, so anyway, they
bought mattresses, laid them all around the floor, and then
the restaurant, at the part down below then, was a kitchen.
And, ah, It's like I said they brought the boys up from the
boat, to brew 'em soup and different things. 'Cause the poor
men were too sick, only a drop of soup they could have. And,
um, so ...

AR: And, this, this is where they brought them In on the slides.

GT: Yeah.

AR: From Shoal Cove, was where it was?

GT: Well, I mean, some people had them In their homes too. We
couldn't store 'em all. I had five up to our house, and Dad

AR: Were you, were you married by that point, or ...?

GT: Nooo, no. Was still single.

AR: You would have been ...

GT: I was 28 when I got married.

AR: Yeah, OK.

GT: But anyway, ah, he, um, my mother was down there and all the
women around were helpin' the doctors, ah, to put the, and
this is what they used.

AR: To get the oil out of their eyes.

GT: Castor oil.

r
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AR: Castor oil. 

CT:  Yeah. And when they left, they had gallons and gallons there. 

They said to Daddy, "You keep it." 

AR: So they brought the castor oil in from Argentia, did they? 

CT: On the boats. 

AR: Wow. 

CT:  Yeah. 	Big boats. When the men'd get a bit better, they'd 

take them and put 'em 'board a boat and bring 'em to Argentia. 

AR: Yes. 

GT: But there's a few of 'em, poor Mum used to say, "They'll never 

live, they should have leaved 'em." 

AR: 	'Cause they got seasick. 

CT:  Because they were dyin'. No, they were dyin' then. But they 

died on the way. Yeah. Died goin' to Argentia. 

AR: Yeah, wow. Now you said, I heard, you mentioned they dropped 
blankets. 

CT:  Yeah, from the planes. 

AR: To the community here? 

GT: Ah, yes, ah, Lawn Point. 

AR: Even right out there. The weather must've cleared up then 
fairly soon afterward? 

CT:  Yeah, yeah, yeah. Well, they used tidrop the blankets down. 
My brother and them used to pick 'em up and roll the men up in 

them. 

AR: Now you mentioned that there was one fella had a suitcase he 

was holding. 

CT:  Yeah, that was the paymaster. 

AR: And this was the pay. 

GI': Yes, he had the pay. 	'Cause Roach was wonderin', he said, 

"What are you doin' with the, you know, why are you ..." 

AR: Now who, who, who was Roach? 

CT: He was my brother. 
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AR: OK. He was older than you.

GT: Kelly. Kelly. Yeah. He's t'oldest [of] the family.

AR: Yes.
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GT: And, ah, so he said, ah, "What are you holdin' onto that for,
sir?" he said, he said, "Why don't you get in, wrap, so I can
wrap you up warm. Whatever you got there," he said, "I'll tie
it on to the slide." This old-time slide, see? And, ah, he
said, "Well," he said "to tell you the truth," he said, he
said "It's the payroll."

AR: Oh really.

GT: And, ah, he said, "Well, you got no worries, sir, because that
man there is honest as the sun and I am honest. I don't need
your money." But, where they done wrong, 'cause Daddy told
them, they should've kept the money and gave it to the ship
when it came in. But they brought the man in, laid him down
on the floor, and laid the suitcase by him, and he died, and,
of course, someone took the money.

AR: But, you couldn't hide that money In this community, it would
show up awfully quickly.

GT: Well, some of them, some of them went to the States after the
lift.

AR: Oh, OK.

GT: So, I ... (chuckled).

AR: You don't think i t's In a basement here still somewhere?

GT: N000. And, ah, it was a laugh here, sir. I don't know if it
was true or no. One man, they said, used to take, take the
money out, you know? And when he died, they had it hidden
under his pillow and, in the casket. And they never thought
about it, and when he died they buried him that day, you
'members that Norbert? They went in and dug a hole.

AR: To get the money out, oh dear! (laughs)

GT: I'm tellin' you, some queer things went on.

NT: That'a be ... (unintelligible).

GT: But, anyway, 'twas everything went on. But, ah, it's like I
said, my brother John now was over on the road there last
year, and this American was out with a, a, you know the
program they have every year for the, they had it for the
POLLUX there last week. And, ah, he passed along and he stop.
He said, "I don't know, sir, who you are," he said to John,
"but I saw you before."

1
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GT: He said, "I saw you before." But he had a horse, they Norb.
had a horse and Roach and they had horses, on this side of,
ah, you know.

AR: Your brother, ah, John i s older than you as well, then, i s he?

GT: John, no, he's younger.

AR: He's younger. Was he alive at the time of the tidal wave,
then?

GT: Oh, yes. John will tell you p'haps more than I can.

AR: What age is John now?

GT: John is 73, i think. Yeah.

AR: Seventy-three, and so he would have been, ah, eight years old.

GT: Yeah.

AR: And you're 75.

GT: Yeah.

AR: So you're 10 years old at the time of the tidal wave.

GT: Yeah, yeah. But anyway, ah, it was an awful, you know, a
terrible thing. I wouldn't want it to happen no more, no.

AR: Well, I don't think so, and I think the, the reason I'm doing
this'map is just to give people a little bit of assistance.
But it's also very interesting, you know, I think, for people
to know how much of the community was flooded. I never heard
before that it went up into the cemetery.

GT: Yeah. But, ah, what was puzzling people, they knew those two
men were gone to Saint-Pierre.

AR: This is Joe Turpin and victor Turpin.

GT: And Vic... No. Joe and Little . .. ah, who was it? Joe and
Little Saint, wasn't it? Was it Little Saint and Joe?

NT: Yep.

GT: Yeah.

AR: Who was Little Saint, now? I, I, I heard ...

GT: He lived in the States for years. He died up there.
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AR: But I was told It was Victor and Joe Turpin were coming back
from Saint-Pierre.

GT: It could be. But I thought it was Little Saint. But anyway

AR: And Little Saint was a nickname for the man, was he?

GT: No, that's his name.

AR: Ooh, Little?

GT: Lili. Lill Saint.

AR: Oh, how do you spell that first name? Is it ...

GT: L-1-double L, I think. S-A-I-N-T.

AR: Like a French name.

GT: Yeah. And his wife was still alive in the States.

AR: Is she? OK?

GT: And she's a hundred and something, I believe.

AR: Wow.

GT: But I know he got a family up there, all his children are up
there, and, ah, but uh, he went to the States to live after.

AR: So he, anyway, these two fellas were coming back from Saint-
Pierre. What were they ...

GT: People were worried about them, you know, because they didn't
know if somethin' is gonna run into 'em, eh? But they met all
the stages goin' out but they didn't know what was up.

AR: Of course.

GT: And then they J ust got in, of course, was a great time,
because, ha ha, the cops that were after them were floating
around, they could bring in what they liked then. Yeah.

AR: (laughs) You wouldn't be quite so safe today.

GT: Yeah, yeah. No, you wouldn't be safe today. But now, people,
oh my God, they was so glad when they saw the men, they saw
them alive, you know?

AR: That would be the first ship that came in or the first, ah,
what sort of a boat were they in now?

GT: A little skiff boat like you see in the harbour.

1,
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AR: Would you use it, sails, or a motor? 

CT: No, a motor, Just, ah, you know, little, like the fishing 
boats here. Yeah. 	(??) up. 

AR: And what happened to the other boats in the harbour at the 
time of the tidal wave? Were there any other boats in the 
harbour? 

GT: Oh, yes, they were all beat up. But we saved ours. 

AR: Now, where does your boat, where was your boat anchored? 

CT:  Anchored just out from the shop. 

AR: Down by the, ah, ... 

CT:  By the side of our stage, yeah. 

AR: What happened to that boat now? 

CT: Oh, I don't know. Daddy sold it, I guess, after. 

AR: But, during the tidal wave, what happened? 

CT: No, Daddy didn't sell it because Roach and Norbert they went 
fishin' in it after, but I think Roach sold it to some, ah, 
his father-in-law up in Lories. Traps and everything. 

AR: Now, what happened to it, to, to it during the tidal wave, 
though? You almost lost it in the tidal wave. 

GT: Oh yes! 	It went right out, the water, but she stayed there 
[on the harbour floor]. 

AR: When the, when the, when the ... 

CT:  When the water went out, she didn't take her. 

AR: OK. And the fellas 

CT: And then, they went down then and they pulled it up. A crowd 
a men. 

AR: So, in between the waves. 

CT: Yes. 

AR: Or, when the water first went out. 

GT: Yeah. They went down and pulled the boat up. 

AR: Now, did you actually see the wave coming in yourself? 
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GT: No, we were in the house then. 

AR: You didn't, you heard it, did you? 

GT: We heard the roar, didn't know what it was, we went and knelt 
down on our knees prayin'. 'Cause Daddy was gone, we didn't 
know what to do. 

AR: So you, how many were in your house at the time? 

GT: Mom and I and, ah, my two brothers. 

AR: What was your mother's name? 

CT: And my sister. Madeleine Furlong. 

AR: Madeleine. 

GT: Kelly. Kelly. Now she was a Furlong from St. John's. 

AR: Furline. F-U- how would I spell ...? 

GT: F-U-R-L-O-N-G. 

AR: F-U-R-L- 

GT: O-N-G. 

AR: Furlong! OK. So she was a Madeleine Furlong from St. John's. 

GT: Now she had, ah, a nephew used to have barber shops. I don't 
know if you knew him. 	Bill Furlong, he had them all over 
town. •  

AR: No, I don't think I knew those, that barber shops at all. But 
in your house ... 

GT: No? And he died with a heart attacks, so he's dead now. 

AR: So you had your mother in the house when the tidal wave came, 
and how many other brothers and sisters were there? 

GT: It was, um, my two brothers and, and my sister and I. 

AR: And what were your two brothers' names and your sister's name? 

CT: Ah, my sister was Marie. 

AR: Marie. 

GT: And, um, Roach and John. 

AR: Roach is your brother, and John ... 
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GT: John's my brother.

AR: ... is the John Kelly that's over on Laurentian.

GT: Yeah.

AR: The four of you and your mother were in, in the pantry?

GT: Yeah, in the kitchen.

AR: And, when you heard the roar you didn't go out and look?

GT: No, we just knelt.

AR: And how long did you have to kneel before it was all over?

GT: Well, we knelt 'til Daddy came.

AR: OK.

GT: But then, we went to lookin' then, you know. Daddy wouldn't
let us go handy. We just went out on the back.

AR: Now, what did you see when you looked, ah ...

GT: I saw all the boats and the stages goin' and comin' and goin',
you know.

AR: So, you were able to see them come in at one point ...

GT: Oh yes.

AR: ... and go back out.

GT: Yeah. Go out. Rush. Oh, It was just like a lion. You
wouldn't believe it.

AR: The wave.

GT: Yeah. And roar, you know?

AR: And when you say a line, what do you mean by that? [Ruffman
doesn't hear the word 'lion']

GT: Yeah, a lion's roar, you know.

AR: Like, was it a breaking wave, like, ah, coming in on the
beach?

GT: Yes, yeah, yeah. Yeah.

AR: Now where were you, Norbert, when you watched it? Were you on
this side?

I
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NT: Yeah.

GT: He's ...

AR: Haw, how old were you at the time, then?

NT: I don't know now.

GT: Well ...

AR: How old's Norbert now, then?

GT: Now, he is 81.
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AR: He's 81. So you would have been, you would have been 16 years
old.

NT: Yeah.

GT: Yeah. He's more! And, and Mrs. Murray. That's, I guess you
know, must know Murray. In St. John's?

AR: I don't think I do, no.

GT: Well, he died, but, but now, his mother [Mrs. Murray] and his
mother [Mrs. Turpin, Norbert's mother], they all made for the
presbytery, for the church.

NT: Yeah!

GT: Up to the priest!

AR: Fair enough.

GT: Went right up. That was the further ... that hill i s, well
not where the church is now, 'twas further up.

AR: Good high ground.

GT: Yeah. They went up on the high ground. They all went up
through the meadows.

AR: Now what happened the next day? Ah, you, you woke up the next
morning, it must have been some mess.

NT: Oh yeah.

GT: Yeah. Oh my gosh, It's terrible. Not the next morning but
for months they was, you know, wasn't cleared up.

AR: It took months to clear up. How, how long did you have to
walk across that debris?

GT: Oh, over a month. Because there was no, no 'dozers in them,

I
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those days or, you know, J ust all, everything was done by hand
and the horses.

AR: And what happened with the, um, the weather?

GT: Well, the weather wasn't too bad, was it, Norbert? I can't
remember the weather.

AR: Yeah.

GT: But I know we used t'have to go to school, I know. And, ah,
if we're late for school we'd be excused, you know.

AR: And there was nobody, nobody died in this community.

GT: No.

AR: Were there any close calls, any close, ah, ...?

GT: No, only just Daddy and them, now, if they didn't have t'get
in [the water].

AR: When they were pulling the boat up.

GT: They, they would've been gone.

AR: And, and the other fella, I, I remember Ena Farrell Edwards
told the story of the horse. But, d'you remember the name of
that horse? Tom Pike's horse?

GT: No. But you'll get it from Kev.

AR: Kev. And where's Kevin live? Kevin Pike.

GT: Kev lives over on that side.

AR: On the west side.

GT: Yeah. He lives, Ena Edwards lives there, but you got to go
further up the road, socko(sic] (?), and you make, there's a
turn there and turn that way. You should go that way.

NT: He's the Justice of the Peace there now.

GT: He's Justice of the Peace.

AR: He's the Justice of the Peace.

GT: Yeah.

NT: He's got a diary ... (??)

GT: Yes. Kev keeps a diary of everything, eh?

I
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NT: He's got a good hand? 

AR: Now, you mentioned someone else kept a diary. Aubrey Edwards. 

GT: Aubrey Farrell. That's Ena's, Ena's, ah, brother. 

AR: Yeah. And, so his diary, maybe it's available and ... 

CT: Oh, I imagine. 	'Cause he, you know, he's still alive. 

NT: Key  Pike, now, he ... 

CT: 	But Key  now, you get ... you ... he really ... 
got everything over there. 

AR: Now, I've been making a tape here, and what I'm going to do 
is, I'm gonna make a copy of the tape, you know, I'll write it 
down. And I'll mail that back to you to have a look at and 
make sure we got it all correct. [phone rings] 

CT:  Yeah. 

AR: But, would you have any objection if we eventually had this 
tape in the Archives so that they can hear your story? 

GT: Ha, ha. Nol 

AR: That'd be OK, would it? 

CT:  Yeah. 

AR: And that's, ah, 'cause I think it would be quite valuable for 
people. 	But we should answer this phone now, they got the 
phone going. 	I'll just turn this off. 

End of interview 

Mrs. Gertrude Turpin added comments to the transcript in September 1995 after it 
was sent out for review. In response to my August 1995 query, "In looking for 
'tidal wave' material in the Provincial Archives of Newfoundland and Labrador in 
St. John's, I found that three other houses floated that I was not familiar with. 
They were the dwelling houses of Benedict Slaney, Mrs. Ed. Lundrigan, and John 
Beck. Can you tell me where these houses were located in 1929 before the 'tidal 
wave'? I also know Angus Pike's house moved, but as yet I've not really fixed 
it on the map except I know it was on the west side near Water Street West and 
Pollux. Simdlarly, I knowMichael Fitzpatrick's house moved,  but  again I am not 
exactly sure where it was located before the events of November 18, 1929, except 
that it was near Notre Dame Street and Water Street lest. I would appreciate any 
help or guidance that you can give me to exactly locate the 1929 positions of the 
above Slaney, Lundrigan, Beck, Pike and Fitzpatrick homes before the 1929 'tidal 
wave' moved or destroyed them." Mrs. Turpin replied in September 1995, "Ben 
Slaney's house was on same piece of land just closer to the water. Angus Pike's 
house was close to Isabell Farrell put across the street before the "tidal wave". 
Michael Fitzpatricks house was on the saine  piece of land that it is on now 
(between Allan Slaney dc Sam Tobin) but it was closer to the water [before the 
'tidal wave']." 
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Transcript made 
March 17, 1995 
Wendy Findley 

TAPE 95-2, SIDE 2, MONDAY, FEBRUARY 27, 1995, 
MRS. EMMA BLANCHE PIKE, MOTHER OF LEVI, AND LEVI PIKE, ST. 
LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND 

Emma Blanche Pike — born 1903, circa early Spring 
— family name: née Blagdon, Mrs. Charles Pike 
— mother of Levi Pike 
— mailing address: Laurentian Avenue, P.O. Box 

548, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland AOE 2V0 
— phone (709) 873-2344 

Levi Pike — born 1923, circa March 
— lives on Laurentian Avenue, St. Lawrence, with 

wife Mildred (née Hillier) 
— son of Emma Blanche Pike 

— interview length: 25.5 minutes 

Also spoke to earlier, but did not tape record 
Mildred Pike — born ?? 

— family name Hillier, from Point au Gaul 
— mailing address: Laurentian Avenue, P.O. Box 

548, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland AOE 2V0 
— phone (709) 873-2344 

Conversation began after Alan Ruffman had talked with Levi and his 
wife Mildred Pike. 	Levi and Alan went to Blanche's home behind 
Levi's. 	So Levi was present for the full interview and he 
participated throughout. 

BLANCHE PIKE: You've seen a lot of people? 

ALAN RUFFMAN: I've seen a lot of people, um, I've talked to 
Mildred Pike, ah now wait, I've got, I've talked to 
Mildred [interviewer is confused for a bit], ah, 
ah, Gertrude Turpin. And I've talked to Charlotte 
Turpin. And I've talked to Michael Turpin, I 
think. And I've got some more to talk to as well. 
I've talked to Pauline Loder. 

BP: Yeah. Well, I remember the day quite plainly. It was a, a 
lovely, lovely clear day in, ah, on a Monday. And a lotta 
people had their washing on the line, of course. And you'd 
never think there was anything, you know, to disturb the 
peace. And I was making bread, and all of a sudden everything 
went, ah, ah, trembling. And I said,  "Oh! A, a truck!" And 
then I said, "Oh, an earthquake." And one, I had one little 
girl runnin' about in her gleeEsic] (?) and the other little 
one came and, and clung into me. She was frightened. 
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AR: And where was, where was Levi at this time?

BP: And I was expecting to see the house ... go. But everything,
and shelves and cupboards fell down. And, ah, well, it

passed. And my husband was down on Corbin Road working, and
they had to walk up, they had to walk way up from Corbin. And

I had the supper on the table, I was gettin' my bread made
before they'd get home. And, um, another man that we were
livin' with at the time then, he was over in Farrell's store

packing fish. And, we, At was 7 o'clock when we were having
supper, and this man, Mr. Jim Shea, um, raced in and he said,
"And boys," he said "if you want to save your property or your
dory, you better get down." He said, "The tide is gettin'
very high." So they went down and tried to secure the
property, and there was a big flake, f i sh flake, down there by
their property, and, ah ...

AR: Now, was this on, was this on Shingle Point? Was this on
Shingle Point, or ...?

I
LEVI PIKE: No, she don't know where Shingle Point is.

AR: Oh, the point of ...

' LP: You know, she, this Is down in front of our place she's
thinkin' about ...

AR: Oh, OK.

' LP: Along the shore.

BP: Say it loud enough for me to hear, now.

^ LP: No, I'm explaining what you're saying there. (louder so his
mother can hear]

AR: Ah, this is Levi explaining.

LP: He said', ah, he said "Did you know if it was down around
Shingle Point?" And I'm saying to him "No." Shingle Point is

^ what we used to call the beach, see?

BP: Oh, Is that what it is?

' LP: Now, that's what the proper name is here, is, Shingle Point.

^ BP: I never knew.

LP: But now, where you were talkin' about is right down along the
shore there. The Saints' property and along there. And our

^ property.

I
BP: Yeah. Yeah. But the property was all on the sea side, of

course.

AR: And you said there was a big flake there.

I
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BP: Yeah. 	There was a big flake there, but we didn't own the 
flake. 'Twas somebody else's. But, ah, the, the men were on 
it and my husband, and, ah, I don't know where the other man 
was, but the flake went from under 'im. 

AR: Wow. 

BP: And, ah, the property down there, one house floated away down 
by the shore. 

AR: Who, whose house was that that floated? 

BP: One house was down there right by the shore, and that, ah, 
floated. But it didn't get out of the, didn't get out of the 
area. 

LP: Whose house, he ask you. 

BP: Oh, that was Uncle Angus, we called him Uncle Angus. Angus 
Pike. 

LP: Angus. 

AR: Angus Pike's house.? 

LP: Angus Pike's house. 

BP: Yes. 

LP: Carl's brother. 

BP: And, ah, his grandfather was living right next door. 	The 
water came into their house, but it didn't take the house 
away. 

AR: Now what was, what was your, his grandfather's name? 

BP: Levi Pike. 

AR: So the Levi Pike house had water in it but it didn't float 
away. But the Angus Pike house did float. 

LP: 	(unintelligible) 

BP: And there was also a family living on the point of that beach, 
right by the wharf. 

AR: That was Tom Pike. 

BP: Tom Pike. 

LP: George. 

BP: Somebody told you that. 

1 
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AR: Well, I've been talking to Levi.

BP: And, and they got out when the sea came in over the beach,
they got up and ran, you know, ran up the beach. And they had
a little horse in the stable, and they couldn't let it out.
But the sea knocked the door out, and the poor little thing
raced up the beach.

AR: Now, there were children in that house out on that point.

BP: Yeah. They got out with their children.

AR: Who, do you remember who the children were?

BP: Ah, well, they had, um, all girls then. I would say, ah ...

LP: Gladys?

BP: Probably just Margeurite and, ah, what's the one ...

LP: Gladys. Gladys!

BP: No, Gladys wasn't livin' there then.

LP: Oh, I don't know. For sure that was her daughter.

AR: So they were all, they were all daughters at that time.

BP: Tom Pike and Aggie and their children.

LP: Tom and Aggie lived there then.

BP: Yeah.

LP: But what about Uncle George, weren't they livin' there too?

BP: No, they were in the States, they were In the states.

LP: Oh, yeah, they were in the States. Right you are.

AR: OK, well that fits. So, George, George and his wife had gone
to the States.

BP: Yeah. The ones that owned the home were in the States, and
that was their son Tom living there, with his wife, and a
child Marguerite, and, ah, I forget the one's name, the daddy
couldn't of had any more than, what, two children then.

LP: No, he couldn't have. 'Cause Kevin would be too young.

AR: Now, what other buildings floated? Do you know other
buildings that got wet or floated?

BP: Oh, there was, there was a big, ah, store on the other side
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that formerly belonged to his grandfather Bradley. But the

Holletts bought it. Oh, it was a very, very big store.

LP: A big fish store, you know?

BP: And that was out ...

AR: This, was it on the point?

LP: No, it was a way over.

BP: And that was out, that was the way out in the middle of the
harbour in the morning. And longers and uh, you know, that's
what they called what the flakes were made out of.

AR: Yes.

BP: Oh, the harbour was afloat with all kinds of, ah, everything
that could move, you know?

AR: You, you called them 'longerson'?

BP: Longer... they called them long...

LP: Longers.

AR: Longer, longer sticks!

BP: Longers.

LP: Yeah, was long ah, ... sticks from, vary from an inch to three
inches in diameter.

AR: All right.

LP: Long sticks.

BP: You know, it's like firewood. Long, tall firewood. Well, the
harbour was full of that.

AR: Did any other dwelling houses get moved? Do you know if any
other dwelling houses got moved?

BP: Oh, yes. Up the Riverhead. There was no causeway across
there then, and, ah, ah, the sea came in, oh, I, I can see
that sea now. It coiled up, and it went right up there and
washed the houses away. But I don't think they-floated out,
they iust went up the hi 11 , the ground was pretty level up

there.

AR: Do you know whose houses moved? Did you ever know ...

BP: The Handrigans lived there then, two families of Handrigans.
But, ah, I really don't know their names. Two small green

I
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houses, you don't remember them? [to Levi]

LP: No, I don't remember them. But, it was John Handrigan, wasn't
It? Uncle John Handrigan?

BP: And there was another one, you know where, ah, where, ah, ah,

LP: Where Jack Handrigan is, yeah.

BP: That the Tarrant lives now. And what's his name, ah ...

LP: Carl.

BP: Carl Tarrant lives now.

LP: Oh yes, yes.

BP: There was a Molloy lived there, and his house floated but it
didn't go out.

AR: OK. And I, I've seen a...

BP: Right by the brook, you know, by the Riverhead Brook.

AR: OK. There was also a Fitzpatrick house that moved, I think.
But I don't know where it is.

BP: Yeah, there was a Tom Fitzpatrick, his house went. And their
clothesline and the whole works.

LP: (chuckles) ... clothesline ...

AR: Really! Now, how far up, how far up to the Lawn highway did
the water go?

BP: Oh, i t went up, i t went up a good, a good piece f rom the road,
good piece from the road.

AR: Where was the telegraph station that Mrs. Fewer, Miss Fewer
was running?

BP: That was, ah, at, I think that was over on the other side,
then over to Turpins' probably. Over to, ah, where, ah,
Charlotte Turpin lives now. They had one part of the house
for a, for a, they let it for an office. But after that it
was brought in, ah, ...

AR: To the Etchegarys??

LP: I told him now, no, not Etchegary. There's the place I was
telling you about.

BP: ... brought up there where that, ah, ...

I
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IL?: 	I told him about that, I told where that is, now I point it on 
the map. So, he knows where that is. But I, I didn't know it 
was on the other side, I thought there was, the old, the old, 
ah, telegraph station was somewhere in that area, up here. 
West side. 

BP: No, over, over in, ah, ah, Vic Turpin's house it was. 

	

LP: 	Is that where it was? 

BP: That's where, ah, Cele Fewer used to ... 

LP: 	Is that right? 

BP: She was the operator then. 

LP: I never knew that. 

BP: For years. 

11 

	

	AR: Now, 
how would you spell 'Cele', how would you spell her name? 

LP: Cecelia. 

BP: Cecelia. 

AR: Cecelia, but you called her Cele. 

LP: Cele. 

11 	
BP: I don't know really. F-U-E-R. I suppose her name, I suppose 

her name was ... 

LP: The first name, he wants to know. 

BP: Celeste? 

LP: Ce, ce, Cecelia, wasn't it? 

BP: Eh? 

LP: 	I thought it was Cecelia. 

BP: Well, he used to call her ... 

LP: He called her Cele, Cele Fewer. 

11 	BP: Probably Cecelia. Well, that's good enough anyway. 

AR: And now, were there any boats damaged in the harbour? Do you 

11 	know if boats were damaged in the harbour? 

BP: Yes, there was a lot of damage, lot of people lost their 
property, lost their fishing gear, their lines and ... 
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LP: Stages, you know. 

BP: You know, their trawls, what they call the trawls. 

LP: The boats, the boats he was askin' you about. The boats. But, 
I, I, seems to me like there was not a lot of damage to boats. 

BP: Yes, there's some boats damaged, but I don't think anybody 
lost their boat. 

LP: 	... May not have got together. You know ... I realized this 

afterwards. But when I went down with my father, that time I 
was telling you about, on the road, they had all the boats 

that were all in that area at the dock, there was quite a few, 
the dories, the dory's a boat, came all, all up across the 
road. On the road, they were. 

AR: To get them away from the water. 

LP: To get them away from the water, y'see. And I guess they were 
afraid the water was gonna come back again, or somethin'. 

AR: Now, you mentioned when your father took you down the road, 
may be an hour after, the boats were still moving. 

LP: There was, there was a boat, I was tellin' you, it was a boat, 
that was an abandoned boat, actually it was down in the bottom 
of the dock. It belonged to the Giovanninis. It was an old 
boat that was abandoned there for years. We used to play 
aboard her. And there was broken deck and timber and stuff, 
you know, it was Just like, ahhh, a derelict. 

AR: But she floated? 

LP: But she floated and floated out to the dock. And this is what 
I was tellin' you about, how I wanted Dad to rescue this boat. 
(chuckles) 

AR: So you could continue to play in it. (laughing) 

LP: 	I s'pose. 

AR: And how old were you now, Levi, at the time? 

LP: 	I was six. 

AR: Six, and so that makes you, ah, 71 now? 

L: 	Almost 72. 

AR: Almost 72. But now, you [to Blanche Pike in a louder voice so 
she can hear], you must be now older than your son, now. How 
old were you in 1929? Or how old are you now? 

LP: 	Born in 1903. 
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BP: Oh, well now, I'll soon be 92 now.

AR: Ninety-two. So you were, 65, 75, you were 26, 27 years old at
the time.

BP: Yeah. I suppose.

AR: And had 2 or 3 children, 3 children at that time.

LP: Three, I think.

BP: I always got to do a little bit of arithmetic. [Alan laughs]

LP: Stella, Stella and Freda were born, were alive then right,
they only had 3 children then?

BP: I had 3 but, ah, there's Violet that was born in November
then, that same November.

LP: Before or after the tidal wave?

BP: After. Oh, she was born in January. That was in November,
she was born in January [1930]

LP: Yeah, so you were pregnant with Violet.

AR: So that was the fourth child she was pregnant with.

LP: Yeah.

AR: And what was your husband's name?

BP: Charles.

AR: Charles, in 1929.

BP: Well, I was frightened.

AR: I'll bet you were.

BP: And I couldn't go, I wanted to see what was goin' on outside,
and I couldn't leave the children. I went out for a little
bit and I had them in bed, when I came back they were all
sitting on the table, with a kerosene lamp and that, now that
frightened me.

AR: 'Cause of fire.

BP: Yes.

LP: They knock over the lamp.

BP: But I got out the Bible and I started to read, try to make my
soul forget about it, 'bout the end of the world.
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AR: How, how did you know the tidal wave was coming? How did you
... could you hear it?

BP: Well, it was just, it struck me, when I felt the earth.
First, when they had old noisy trucks here, and I thought, "A
truck, a plane, an earthquake." Just like that.

AR: This was the earthquake. But when the tidal wave came, that
was two hours later.

BP: Yes, that was 7 o'clock.

AR: And that was, the only reason you knew it was coming 'cause
the man came up and shouted. There was a fella came up and,
and warned your father to, ah, go down.

LP: I guess, I don't, I don't exactly what happened there. I
don't know.

AR: You, you said that someone came and warned.

LP: Who told, who told,*who came up to the house ...?

LP: Uncle Jim. Uncle Jim Shea.

BP: Jim Shea. A man by the name of Jim Shea.

AR: So this is Pauline Loder's brother ...

LP: Pauline Loder's brother.

AR: Jim Shea ... so ...

LP: Yeah.. He was a famous character around our neighbourhood
'cause he used to come to our house all the time.

AR: I see.

LP: And play cards every winter, you know.

AR: When you looked out, could you see the water moving?

BP: No, because I was up the hill too far. But, I, I'd go down to
the bottom of my lane and I could see it. It, but the, It
went out the harbour and it all piled up high, there at the
point of the beach, and it piled up and It came In, it, it
drove everything before it.

AR: And was there, could you see the white water at the top of the
wave?

BP: No, I didn't see it.

LP: There must have been some foaming now.

I
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BP: But there was people comin' from Saint-Pierre, oh I'm sorry.

AR: That's all right.

BP: And people comin' from Saint-Pierre that same evening, and
they didn't feel a thing, or know a thing.

AR:That was Victor Turpin, wasn't it?

BP: Yes.

AR: And his son, that was his son, ah, Albert.

BP: You got that ... they probably told you that ...

LP: Alfred. [corrects Alan]

AR: Alfred. And then there was also Joe Turpin on board, and a
fella named Lake, I think.

LP: That could have been Uncle Billy.

BP: Well, that's the house, there, the telegraph office was at
that time.

AR: OK. So, I, I, I've read stories about, ah, Father Torn,
Father Thorne was helping repair the telegraph afterwards,
'cause the telegraph went out, so they had to get the, ah, the
telegraph poles put back in. But there was no communication,
I don't think, to the outside.

BP: The tidal wave didn't touch anything in that office 'cause it
was up ... you know, the sea couldn't get up there.

LP: The poles, the poles you're talkin' about.

AR: The poles came down, yeah. Do you think the telegraph office
was high enough that it didn't get touched.

BP: Yeah, you can see the house here. Water didn't go up there,
unless they had it brought ...

LP: That house couldn't get touched over there.

AR: Yeah.

BP: ... On this side, that, by then, I don't think they did.

LP: Yeah. What, what happened was the pole was goin' up the road
and into Riverhead in the low, in the low areas, I guess, some
of the poles got knocked down. That must've happened.

BP: Oh yes. Yeah, yeah.

I
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AR: Now, you mentioned ... were there some of the businesses on 
this side got water into them? You know, which businesses had 
damage done to them on the, on the west side? 

BP: Well. 

AR: 	Farrell's might've. 

BP: 	I don't think Farrell's property .... 	They, they weren't, 
they weren't doin' much business this time at the store, at 
this time, I think, the store was more or less, ah, ... 

LP: Well, the store was up high, as I can remember ... 

BP: Yes, up high, very high. 

LP: 	... and there was a single storey. The store was level with 
the road ... 

AR: OK. 

LP: 	... see. But they had the bottom part, bottom part was ... 

BP: Level with the road. 

LP: 	... the fish store, a trap store, you know, storage of the, of 
the traps. They were heavily into traps ... 

BP: And there was a lot of, a lot of property outside of it like 
flakes and, ah, stages and all that. No, I don't think the 
store was hurt. 

LP: They had a large area there. 

AR: So, most of the stores were on the, most of the shops were on 
the west side, level with the road. And so they wouldn't get 
flooded. 

LP: That's right. 	Giovannini's is the same, see? 	Giov... 
Giovannini used to live where, where Aylward's is now. 
Giovanninis had a store there. That's not, well, the ancestor 
of Bud, you know, his place up here now, the hotel. And, ah, 
they had, they had the same thing, their, their store was 
level with the road, and they had a, a storage place for their 
traps and their fishing gear underneath, you know, because 
they were heavily into trapping in those days, they had the 
store. 

AR: So, even if that got wet, it wouldn't matter. 

LP: No, it didn't matter very much, It's Just a matter of haulin' 
the traps out and lettin' em dry on the flakes again, you 
know? 
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AR: Today, though, it seems to me that, ah, the downstairs of 
Aylwards would get badly flooded out, ah, the furniture part 
there. 

LP: Oh yes, that would be very vulnerable there now. 

AR: And there'd be a few other businesses that might be 
vulnerable, ah, like those new apartments they built. They 
aren't, they're not occupied yet, but, where the little 
takeaway is? Ah, Just past Aylwards and past the, ah, motel, 
there's a fella had a takeaway, ah, had a restaurant for a 
year or two in '89. 

LP: Oh, yes, yes. Tom, Tom Slaney. Yeah, he, he would be a bit 
vulnerable to ... 

AR: Or, those new, um, those new apartments behind there look like 
they're down another level. 

LP: Yeah, they're Just a little bit below the road, if you will. 
Yeah. It would be in, ah, in danger there if the same thing 
happened now ... for sure .... Yeah. 

AR: Do you remember when, um, when Tom Pike moved his house off 
the point? 

LP: Off the beach? 

AR: Off the point of the beach. 

BP: 	I, I, I know 'bout him moving out of it, all right, but, ah, 
I don't know what time it was, and they, they went on the 
other side, then, I think. 	I don't know if they stayed ... 

LP: 	I was telling him, it was not long after the tidal wave, 
that's what I thought. 

BP: Oh, it wasn't long. No. 

LP: Wasn't very long. Next year, or something like that periaps. 
And he moved over in Tarrant's house, didn't they? 

BP: The Cape View, it was then. 

LP: Oh, the Cape View House, right, yes, that, that wasn't 
Tarrant's, that was one of the Turpins owned that. But then 
they moved down in the, they moved down in the other place 
then, afterwards. 

BP: Well, they built a house afterwards, while they were still 
there they built that house. 

LP: What house? 

I 
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BP: What Gerald is living in now.

LP: Oh yes, yes, that was a big house then.

BP: But Gerald had it cut, Gerald had it cut down.

LP: But then they moved down in Tarrant's house for a period of
time before he came over here? I believe they did.

BP: Moved where?

LP: Down in, one of the Tarrants' houses there.

BP: No.

AR: (laughing) Doesn't matter, doesn't matter.

BP: No, they stayed there. They stayed there 'til they came in
their own house.

LP: 'Ti! they built this one.

AR: Now, Blanche, do you remember any of the, the, the, ah, rescue
effort? Do you remember any of the relief effort that came
down from St. John's, the help? Did you get much help from
St. John's after the tidal wave?

BP: Of the help?

AR: Some assistance. Did the government give some assistance?

BP: Well, ah, there was blankets and clothing sent ... But ...

LP: Yeah,. there was, there was, there was some assistance no
question about that ...

BP: I don't think the committee was very fair with it.

AR: No!?

BP: Well, they gave clothes to the people to the people that lost
it, their line full of clothes and their houses, you know.

LP: Fair as they could, I suppose, under the circumstances.

BP: But, um, there was a lot that I don't know what they did.

AR: Well, there was other communities harder hit, ah, in terms of
people losing their homes. Point au Gaul was, ah, where your,
where Levi's wife Mildred came from, and she was a, a Hillier?

LP: Hillier, Hillier.

AR: Mildred Hillier. I mean, she remembers a lot of damage in

I
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Point au Gaul.

BP: Oh, they'd be worse off up there because there was several
people drowned and down to Burin, they ... their houses went
so quick, and it's so level up there.

AR: And, in Port au Bras there was eleven houses went in Port au

Bras. ... So ...

BP: Yeah. 'Twasn't that bad here.

AR: You only got one back [in Port au Bras].

BP: There was nobody drowned here.

AR: Were there any people Injured here? Any people that were hurt
by the tidal wave?

BP: No, I don't think.

L: I can't recall anybody. No, I can't recall anybody, any

reports. There could have been some people certainly, but, I

don't remember.

AR: So mainly property damage?

LP: Right. Was property damage, for sure.

BP: Uncle Wall was out being in the middle of 'the strand', when
that wave that came in.

LP: Was he?

BP: With the dory, you know, he saw it coming and got, ah, secured
his dory. He wasn't very far out.

AR: Who was this now? This was your uncle ...?

BP: Well, that's Walter Pike, on the other side. His dory had

gone out, but, ah, the, the strand was dry then, and him and
his son were tryin' to get the dory in, and they saw the wave
coming so they put a little bit of effort in and got, got to
safety, ha ha.

AR: So they, they saved the dory too?

BP: Yes.

AR: OK. And he lived on the east side.

BP: Ha ha. [agreeing]

AR: Albert lived on the east side?

I
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LP: Walter. [correcting Alan] 

AR: Oh I'm sorry. Walt, Walter lived on the east side? 

BP: On the other side. 

LP: The east. 

AR: OK. 

LP: The same house my daughter lives in now. 

BP: 	I don't hear too well, you know. Well I ... 

LP: 	In faxt it's ... It's the oldest house in town. 	Farrells 
claim that they got the oldest house, but that house over 
there ... Uncle Wall's house we used to call it ... now, he 
wasn't my uncle, but we always used to call him Uncle Wall 
because he was an older person, you know. And his son married 
my aunt. 

AR: OK. 

LP: Annie, Aunt Anne, and he, ah, he, ah, inherited the house, of 
course, when Uncle Wall died, and the house was, ah, you know, 
for sale. So I bought the house, you know, for my daughter, 
I rented it out for a while. And they came home and lived in 
it, they were; she was on the mainland, got married and she 
came back, and they moved into the house and they're there 
ever since. They got a little greenhouse there, along side. 

AR: How, how would you know the age of that house? 

LP: Well, I know it's very old, and I know, ah, from, from, ah, 
from him telling me, you know, stories about ... 

AR: Him being? 

LP: Uncle Wall. 

AR: Uncle Wall. 

LP: Yeah, 'cause he was, you know, he died in '75, I think it was, 
he was sick. Now he used to come over t'our house all the 
time and play cards and that, him and Uncle Jim Shea and, and, 
um, my foster grandfather who lived with us for years until he 
died. And Dad. They used t'sit around and play Auction or 
Crib or something, you know. 

AR: 45's? 

LP: 45's sometimes, yeah, Auction, and sometimes Crib. And I used 
t'join in with them sometimes when I got old enough, eh? But, 
ah, of course, ah, he used to tell me the stories about, you 
know, when he was a boy, you know, and, and when he went to 
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live in the house. 'Cause, ah, you know, It wasn't his
father's house, but he went to live with the old gentleman who
was a Pike also, who lived in it, who built it In the first
place.

AR: So it's gonna be the late 1800's.

LP: Oh yes, it was built way before the turn of the century, way
way before that. Very old.

AR: The reason I'm interested, Levi, is that, um, I'm doing a
tree-ring project with a fellow in Winnipeg, trying to get the
tree-rings for the Burin. And It's old houses like that, if
you ever take a beam out of it, ah, cut us a slice, that is
about 4 inches thick, because we'd like to look at the, the
tree-rings, ah, with the thought that those may be tree-rings
that cover the, much of the 1800's.

LP: Oh yes. Yeah, it could be, could be ...

AR: Um, and that's something that we're keeping our eyes open for,
those old houses. So I' 11 have to get you to mark that one on
the map too.

LP: I must, ah, I must, ah, I must remember that.

AR: Well, I should thank you very, very much for your, your help.
it's been very, very i nteresting.

BP: Sorry it wasn't more help.

AR: Would you mind, would you mind if I put a copy of this tape in
the Archives, so other people could hear It sometime? Would
that be airight if we put a copy of the tape in the Archives?

LP: He wants to put a copy of the tape in the Archives. In the
Archives in St. John's?

AR: Yeah.

BP: Oh, if you want to, It's OK with me.

AR: Now, what I'11 also do is, I'll make a paper, I'll make a
transcript, I'1-1 make a paper, I'11 write out what you said
for me, and I' 1 l mail that back to you so you and Levi can
look at it and see If I've got any errors.

LP: (laughs)

BP: Yeah, lots of errors probably.

AR: Thank you very, very much. I appreciate it.

BP: Oh, you're finely welcome.

AR: Great. And I'll turn the tape off now. Well that's very
good.

End of interview
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Transcript made
March 20, 1995
Wendy Findley

TAPE 95-2, SIDE 2, second interview on second half of this side,
follows imnediately on the Pikes' Interview, MONDAY, FEBRUARY 27,

1995,
ELIZABETH MADELINE SLANEY, ST. LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND

Elizabeth Madeline Slaney - born 1910
- family name: Hayes. Then married

Michael Quirk, later married a
Gregory Slaney after Mr. Quirk's
death.

- mailing address: Water Street West,
P.O. Box 191, St. Lawrence,
Newfoundland AOE 2Y0

- phone (709) 873-2589
- interview length: 11 minutes

ALAN RUFFMAN: I'11 start now, and I'm talking to Elizabeth
Slaney.

ELIZABETH SLANEY: Slaney, yes.

AR: Yep. Middle name Mrs. Slaney?

ES: Yes, Mrs. Elizabeth M. Slaney, Madeline Slaney.

AR: Madeline Slaney. Now you weren't a Slaney though, you were?

ES: I was a Hayes first, and then I married a Quirk. [she does not
use the 'e']

AR: OK.

ES: And he died, and then I married a[Gregory] Slaney.

AR: That's why Gregory [Quirke, the town clerk] is your son.

ES: Quirke is my son, yes. [Greg does use the 'e']

AR: And then you remarried to a Slaney.

ES: To a Slaney, and he's dead too now.

AR: Now you weren't here in 1929.

ES: No, no. I never came here 'tii 1930, April the 9th of 1933.

AR: Where were you living in 1929?

ES: In Saint-Pierre.

I
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AR: And, were you married at that time?
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ES: Yes. No T I wasn't married at that time, is right. I got
married In, ah, wait now, that was in, what time, in, the
tidal wave?

AR: It was November 18, 1929.

ES: November the 18th. And I got married in, ah, December the
4th, of 1929 [later she corrected this to 1928 when she was
mailed the transcript to review].

AR: Just after the tidal wave.

ES: Yeah.

AR: And you married a Saint-Pierre man.

ES: I got married, no, I married a St. Lawrence man, but he was
working in Saint-Pierre with MacDonald.

AR: Gotcha.

ES: And, ah, I met him there, eh?

AR: OK. Now, did you feel the earthquake in Saint-Pierre?

ES: Yes, we did. I was settin' down [at] me sister's house and
everything started to shake, the dishes on the shelf, and she
had, um, a garage out by her, ah, house, and there's a tank of
oil in it, and we thought this what was after explodin'.

AR: Wow.

ES: But that's all, that's all it 'twas.

AR: Now, how old were you in 1920, or, how ...?

ES: I was born in 1910.

AR: 1910. So you woulda been 19 years old ...

ES: Yeah, 19.

AR: ... when you first went to Saint-Pierre.

ES: No, no. I was young when I went to Saint-Pierre.

AR: Oh, really? Oh.

ES: Well, a couple a months old, that's all, you know?

AR: Vous êtes bilingue?

I
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ES: Yeah. 	I was, um, I went to Saint-Pierre in the war, in 19 
and, um, 22. 

AR: OK. 

ES: And we all had to Join under the French flag, see? 

AR: 	I see. 

ES: Yeah. Yeah. Because at that time they was puttin' English 
people in jail, 'cause the war was on, see? 	If you didn't 
Join the French. 	So I, I ... 

AR: During the First World War. 

ES: Yeah. I had a bit of French anyhow. 

AR: So when you felt that earthquake, did you know what it was? 

ES: No, we didn't. Until they got a message, ah, couple a days 
after, because my husband, the man that I was marryin', he's 
brother was workin' at Saint-Pierre at the same time? And 
they called for him to  corne home. 

AR: Because of the disaster over here. 

ES: Yeah. Yeah, that's right. 

AR: And that's when you realized what the tidal wave had done. 

ES: Yeah. We realized then that's what it was, eh? 

AR: Did you, did you have the tidal wave in Saint-Pierre? 

ES: No, had nothing', Just shakin' of the ground. 

AR: But, the, the water didn't  corne  up and do any flooding there? 

ES: No, no water, no water anything like that in Saint-Pierre. 

AR: So you didn't know anything about the problem over here? 

ES: Nothing at all about the problem over here. 	So, then after 
that we heard that this house was taken from the Riverhead and 
carried in to the old football field. 

AR: Now, whose house was this? 

ES: This was Molloy's house. Um, I don't know what his name was 
now. He's in the States anyhow. 

AR: You mentioned Tom Molloy. 

ES: Yeah, but I don't think the name was that. 

1 
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AR: The other name I've heard is John [Joe] Molloy. I did't know 
whether .... 

ES: John Molloy, probably that's who it was owned this house. 

AR: So was it empty at the time of the tidal wave? 

ES: Oh, yes, yes. Nobody livin' in it, he was in the States for 
years. 

AR: And so, this house moved. 

ES: Yeah, this house moved, from in there, and my brother-in-law 
from Parker's Cove was comin' from Saint-Pierre the same day, 
and he, the tide took his boat, and carried it right in the 
bot tom.  

AR: Now, who, who was your brother-in-law? 

ES: Sam Synard. 

AR: Sam  ••.? 

ES: Samuel Synard. 

AR: 	S, S, Sinyert. 

ES: Yeah. 

AR: How would you spell that last name? 

ES: S-Y-N-A-R-D. 

AR: Synard. 

ES: Yeah. 

AR: Is that a French name? 

ES: 	No, I don't think so. 

AR: No? So his, he'd come from Saint-Pierre on the 8, on the 
Monday, on the 18th. 

ES: Yeah, on the boat, yeah. And the tide took and carried right 
in the bottom. 

AR: What sort of boat did he have now? 

ES: Well, one of those little jack boats, eh? 

AR: OK. 

ES: Yeah. And then he ... 

1 
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AR: So he anchored it out off, out in the harbour here?

ES: Never anchored it at'all because she carried right in, and ...

AR: He was in itl?

ES: Yesf All the crowd what was comin' from Saint-Pierre, how
ever many men had in't, and then when the tide come out, the
wave went out, she carried her out again.

AR: And they all survived.

ES: They all survived, yeah.

AR: And that boat didn't get bash, bashed up.

ES: No, I don't think so. They got home in her anyhow.

AR: Now, do you know how far in they went?

ES: No, I don't. I would, ah, say up by, um, where the firehall
is up now, a bit farther and that.

AR: Well you said the old football field, that would be ...

ES: No, this is a house. This is my house, was in there.

AR: Oh. OK. Now, where is the old football field?

ES: Do you know in, you knows where's the firehall's at?

AR: I know where the firehall is.

ES: Town council?

AR: Yes.

ES: Well, 'twas right there. That's the, that field's there,
that's ....

AR: Would It be on this side of the Lawn road or the far side of
the Lawn road?

ES: You goes in, the hospital this way's on that side.

AR: So as you come, as you come past the drugstore and you turn
left along the Lawn road.

ES: Yeah, the Lawn road, and this is the ballfield there then.

AR: Be on, on your left side and on the south side of the road.

ES: Side, right, yeah, yeah. I think that's the side it was on.
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AR: So, the Molloy house went right in to that?

ES: Right into that, yeah. That's when we bought it, that's where
we bought it at.

AR: I bet you got it for cheap money then.

ES: Oh, if we have a hundred and fifty bucks.

AR: A hundred and fifty bucks, but you had to move itl

ES: Yes, we had to move it.

AR: So was your husband Mr. Quirk that moved it back to here?

ES: No, 'twas his father, and sent him tobacco from Saint-Pierre,
and flour and stuff like that, and they got a crowd then at
that time 'cause times was poor, eh?

AR: Yeah.

ES: And then they moved back the house here for us.

AR: How did they move the house?

ES: Well, I ...

AR: Were you around, did you see it happen?

ES: No, I didn't see it happen, sir, no. But they had to take the
chimley down, I know that, and I seen houses came after I came
here, and they had like those big poles.

AR: Um hum.

ES: And they used to put 'em down on the ground and roll your
house on it.

AR: And then they'd, they, they would roll i t along the poles.

ES: Yeah, so far along, 'bout how far they could get It at the
time, eh?

AR: Then they moved the poles.

ES: No. Yes, by the time the house come off of that pole they put
It, one in front.

AR: OK.

ES: Go behind get the other one, see?

AR: Fascinating.

I
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ES: That's the way how, they ...

AR: Now, when did you, then, come and live in the house, they got
It all fixed up before you came.

ES: No. Ah, I come in, no, we come fixed it up. I come home in
'31 to see if I like St. Lawrence, and, ah, I didn't care much
about it now, but I still come. And then we fixed the, we
come here in '33 to live.

AR: And what was your husband's name?

ES: Mike Quirk.

AR: Mike Quirk.

ES: Michael Quirk, yeah.

AR: So that's Gregory's father.

ES: That's Greggy's father, yes sir. [Greg Quirke, the town clerk]

AR: All right. So, Mike and yourself came back here in '31 to
live.

ES: In '33.

AR: '33 to live.

ES: He didn't come back right away, but I did.

AR: OK.

ES: Becau.se he was, um, he was an, um, he was a harbour tender, in
Saint-Pierre? And, ah, he had to stay on a couple a months
after I come here. Me and my mother and my son come here, as
I had a son three years old.

AR: Now, do you know whether the water came up onto this property
in 1929?

ES: I don't think sir, I don't know. I wouldn't be able to tell
you that, now, because I really don't know.

AR: And the other thing your probably don't, you may not know. I
was told the telegraph station moved, and it was near here,
but I don't know where it was to.

ES: No, or l don't either, sir. Because, ah, 'twasn't very much
here when I come now, but there's more here than there is
today, In the meantime. And that, but, ah, I wouldn't know
much about that. But I know now for sure in Little St.
Lawrence you would get a lot of information about the tidal
wave.

I
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AR: Now, your family, though, was a, your family was a, a, a St. 
Lawrence family. You were born here. 

ES: Me? 

AR: Yeah. 

ES: No, no, no. 	I wasn't born here. 

AR: Well, where were you born? 

ES: I was born in Jacques Fountain. Fortune Bay. 

AR: OK. 

ES: Yeah. Yeah, and me father got killed and me mother took us 
all to Saint-Pierre, see? 

AR: Oh, OK. Now why would your mother have gone to Saint-Pierre? 
Was she of French ... 

ES: 'Cause she had relations. 	She was, her, ah, mother was 
French. 

AR: So that's why you grew up in Saint-Pierre then. 

ES: Yeah, yeah, that's right, yeah. 

AR: So that's quite, ah, probably quite fortunate you were in 
Saint-Pierre as opposed to living in that, that house, the 
Molloy house. 

ES: 	That's right, sir, yes, yes. 

AR: Do you know where the Molloy house was actually located on the 
other side when she moved? 

ES: 	I believe that there's, um, just up there by, um, back of the 
firehall. 

AR: Just behind the firehall. 

ES: Yeah. 	I think they might be up a little bit further, now, 
'cause what I was told, eh? 	I don't knows, I never saw it 
before. 

AR: And now when you say up a little bit further, you mean in 

which direction? 

ES: Back. 

AR: North a bit? 

ES: Yeah. 
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AR: So, towards the drugstore a little bit. 

ES: Yeah, yeah, yeah. A little bit that way. 

AR: OK. And, it must've been, did you, it must've been a, a devil 
of a Job to get the house repaired. Did it have any floors 
still in it? 

ES: No, sir, it had nothing at'all. 	'Twas nothing put up in it. 

Not, you know, only the old paper and canvass and that kinda 
stuff was all tore up. 

AR: Now what about, was there a waterline inside where the water 
had come up to? Could you remember seeing a waterline? 

ES: No, I never seen, no, no, sir, nothin' like that. Never. 	I 
guess the waterline and all that was cleaned up, I guess, 
before I got here, see? 

AR: Yeah. 

ES: I guess these people cleaned all that up, you know. 

AR: Because, I, I don't know how high the water has to come in a 
house like this to actually, ah, actually move it. 

ES: 	I know, I know what you're sayin'. 

AR: Because I've, I've only been in one house that moved in the 
tidal wave, and that was down at, ah, Taylor's Bay. I've been 
in a house that moved in the tidal wave there. But I must 
take, I must tomorrow make sure I take, get a good photograph 
of the Molloy house. 

ES: Yes, yes. And, um, there's another person could tell you a 
whole lot about the tidal wave, is Pauline Slaney. 

AR: That would be Pauline Loder. 

ES: Pauline Loder she was, yes. 

AR: 	I've talked to her, actually, up in the senior citizens'. 

ES: Oh, did you? Oh, I see, yes. 

AR: And who else do you think could be able to help me, now? 

ES: Ah, let me see. Aubrey Farrell. 

AR: I hope to be, I haven't talked to Aubrey Farrell yet, and I 

hope he, he, he has good days and bad days. 

ES: Yeah, yes, that's right, yes, but he could tell you too. And, 

let me see, who else would be ...? Pretty well all the old 
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people is gone, eh?

AR: Um hum.

ES: I wouldn't know about anybody [else].

AR: Now what, what, what age are you now? You're ...

ES: Eighty-four, sir.

AR: Eighty-four. So you certainly, ah, you would have been 19
years old at the time that earthquake hit.

ES: Yeah, yeah, that's right, yeah.

AR: But, um.

ES: But I'm only goin' by what they told me when I came here,
'cause I didn't see none of it, eh?

AR: Sure, but you certainly felt it.

ES: Yeah. And that, but, I met the old man up here, now, that's
o l d Mr. Quirk, my husband's father, he used to come down every
day and tell me about it, you know?

AR: Sure.

ES: Asked me what we hear in Saint-Pierre, and what we feel in
Saint-Pierre, and all this kinda stuff.

AR: And where was your husband's father at the time?

ES: He lived )ust back of us here.

AR: Just up back. So this is a Quirk property.

ES: Yeah, this is Quirk, all this is Quirk property.

AR: You moved the, the new house on the bottom of the, the Quirk
property.

ES: Yeah, that's right, sir. Yeah, yeah.

AR: And did Mr. Quirk, your, your father-in-law, lose any

property?

ES: I don't think, sir.

AR: He didn't have a boat out there or anything.

ES: No, no, no. He didn't have nothin' like that, no.

AR: Well, that's most Interesting. I'm delighted to have found
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ES: I is always home, sir. 'Cause I'm crippled up with arthritis,
I can't get out, eh?

AR: well, you gotta be careful on the ice too.

ES: Yes, yes, yeah.

AR: And, ah, I've been talking to your son over at the town hall
a few times. And he's been helping me out quite a bit, and I
certainly appreciate it.

ES: Yes, yes, yes. Yeah.

AR: Now, what I plan to do is, I'm going to write down your, your
post office box number, and I'll mail you back, I'll make a,
a, I' l l wr i te down what you said and I' 11 Just make sure we
got it right and all the spellings right.

ES: Yes, yes, yes.

AR: But, the other thing that, I wondered if you would mind if I
eventually put this tape in the Archives so other people could
listen to it?

ES: I don't care, sir, what you does with it.

AR: No problem with that, eh?

ES: No, no, no.

AR: Well, I'm delighted to find you home this afternoon.

ES: But that's all I can tell you, now, where, you know, just what
people told me, eh?

AR: Sure. Well, that's good information for me.

ES: Yeah, yeah, yeah. That's i t, sir.

AR: And, um, what I've got to do Is, I'm going to get the map out
and try and plot on where your house was to.

ES: Yes, yes.

AR: And, um, maybe someone else can tell me, actually make sure I
know Mr. Molloy's name.

ES: Sure, right where it's at, yeah, that's right, that Mr.
Molloy, yeah. Joe Molloy.

AR: You think it was Joe.

I
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ES: Yeah. Joe Molloy.

AR: Joe Molloy.

ES: Yeah, Joe Molloy is right.

AR: Well, I'll write that down on the map right now, and I'11 Just
turn off the tape recorder right now. I think I'm pretty well

End of interview
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Transcript made 
March 22, 1995 
Wendy Findley 

TAPE 95-3, SIDE 1, MONDAY, FEBRUARY 27, 1995, 
JOHN M. KELLY, ST. LAWRENCE, NEWFOUNDLAND 

John M. Kelly (Jack) — brother of Gertrude Turpin (née Kelly), 
lived on Water Street West almost opposite 
the present Oceanview Motel 

— born May 1, 1922 
— lives on Laurentian Avenue with his wife 
Mary Ellen (Nellie) Kelly 

Mary Ellen (Nellie) Kelly (née Turpin) 
— born 1927 
— sister of Michael Joseph (Mick) Turpin 
— mailing address: Laurentian Avenue, P.O. 

Box 521, St. Lawrence, Newfoundland AOE 2V0 
— phone (709) 873-2864 
— interview length: 42.5 minutes 

ALAN RUFFMAN: 	... and I think it's goin'. 	So, now, who am I 
talking to now? 

JOHN KELLY: 	You're talkin' to John Kelly. 

AR: John Kelly. Got a middle name, John? 

JK: John M. 

AR: John M. 

JK: John M. Kelly. 

AR: You don't tell me what the 'M' is. (laughs) 

JK: Ah, well, ah, the 'M', the older people, I was born the last 
of April, and the first of May, they used to have that called 
'Holy Mary Month'. So me mother put 'M' there — Mary. 

AR: That's the 'M'. 

JK: That's the 'M'. 

AR: And that was 1922. 

JK: That was 1922. 

AR: At the end of May, end of April you were born. 

JK: Yeah, right. The first of May, see? 

AR: You were about seven-and-a-half years old when the earthquake 
came. 
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JK: Yeah.

AR: Do you remember the earthquake?

JK: Yeah.

AR: Where were you when the earthquake hit?

JK: I was in the house.

AR: And that was in ...? Not ...

JK: And everything start to shiver ...

AR: Now, not this house here. Where was your house at the time?

JK: That's the old red one down there, Just, Just down over the
hill there.

AR: Oh, ah, right close to the road. That red one there.

JK: Right close to the water.

AR: Right across from the, ah, Oceanview ... K. Karen [Motel].

JK: Yeah, right. Right, yeah.

AR: And that was the Kelly home then.

JK: That was the Kelly home then, yeah.

AR: All right. And I think I got that marked on the, I think I
finally sorted that out. I, I, you know, get myself confused
occasionally, but ....

JK: Yeah, right.

AR: All right. So that one there is. Now, who were your parents?

JK: Ah, Thomas Kelly. T.J. Kelly.

AR: So 'Thomas J.'

JK: Kelly.

AR: 'Kelly home'.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And that's where John and Gertrude [lived].

JK: Yeah.

AR: And, and so you were seven-and-a-half. Did you know what the

I
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earthquake was at the time? 

JK: Well, we didn't know what it was then, any more than 
everything Just started to shiver, you know, the, um, all the 

cupboards. The dishes and everything started to rattle and 
that, you know. We didn't know what it was. And, and then 

the, the, the wave came that night, and we were foolish enough 

to come up and come into the house and everybody sat there, 
sat down and had the rosary. Well, we, we, we could have been 
drowned! (laughs) 

AR: Were, were you outside when the tidal wave first came? 

JK: Yeah. Yeah. 

AR: What, what did you see when the tidal wave came? 

JK: 	It Just came right in, a big wave like, and went right in 

through. 

AR: Was it, was it a breaking wave? Was breaking wave foam on it? 

JK: 	Yeah, like, like, like 'twas rolling. 

AR: Um hum. 

JK: 	Like 'twas rolling. 

AR: How could you see it when at night? 

JK: Well, there's a, kind of a moonlight that night, see? 

AR: OK. 

JK: A moonlight, see. 

AR: And so she rolled right through. 

JK: Rolled right through and right in, went right in, and there 
was a boat out here in, in, in the, ah, middle of the harbour. 

AR: Anchored. 

JK: Anchored. She was about a hundred ton boat, I guess. And she 
dragged the anchor and went right in, pretty 'nigh into where 
the school is now, and came out again. 

AR: Really. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: And do you know whose boat that was? 

JK: 	No, I don't. 	I really don't know. 
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AR: You, you saw the boat moving. 

JK: Oh yes. Yes, the boat went in. 

AR: And she came back out. 

JK: Dragged the anchor and came, came back out. Or they cut the 
anchor or something in there, and came out. 

AR: Were there fellas on the boat? 

JK: Yeah. Yeah, I, I don't know now whether 'twas two or three. 
'Cause she was only a small, ah, freighter or somethin' like 
that, you know, at that time. 

AR: What kind of a boat would you call that? 

JK: Kind of a sloop thing, you know, it's only just two masts in 
it. 'Bout a hundred ton, now that's what she was. Not a very 
big boat. 

AR: Pretty size of a boat. 

JK: Well, she was, you know, 'way ahead of, ah, one of them flat 
skiffs then, see, because they were only around 28 feet, see? 

AR: And did you see more than one wave? 

JK: No, that's the only thing I, I saw. 	'Cause like I told ya, 
then, we all come in the house then and had the rosary. 
(laughs) 

AR: And your mother pulled you back in, did she? 

JK: Yeah, yeah. We all went In then. 

AR: What was your mum's name? 

JK: Madeleine. 

AR: So Madeleine said, "Come on back in, it's safer inside." 

JK: Yeah, yeah. 	... Yeah. 

AR: Now, you were telling me about a house that moved. Where? 
Whose house was that that moved? 

JK: That was John Handrigan's, up in the upper end-  of the town 
there. 

AR: And where did John Handrigan's house start from? 

JK: Ah, right from where the old firehall is to now, that's the 
one up here at the end of ... across from the Mount le building. 



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
1
I
I
1
I
I
I

239

AR: And that's what I call the old, ah, was that the old town
hall?

JK: That's the old town hall, yes.

AR: But it's got fire trucks in it right now.

JK: Right, yeah. Yeah.

AR: 'Cause you only got one firehall, I think, at a time?

JK: That's right, that's right, yeah.

AR: So Handrigan's house, would it have been right on the same
location, or ...?

JK: Ah, pretty well in the same location there, maybe a little
further back, you know, in the field there, but it left that,
and it went right in to where that gas station is to ... In
there now by the cemetery.

AR: So it, it ends up at, at the Irving station, do you think?
On, so it was on the far side of the brook.

JK: Yeah, right.

AR: All right. So, either here or there. Now, did any other

houses move?

JK: No, that's the only one that I can remember.

AR: 'Cause when I talked, I was lust talking to Elizabeth Slaney.

JK: Yeah.

AR: She, she was married to a Quirk.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And she says the house she lives in actually moved, in the
tidal wave. It was a ... it was a...

JK: Yeah, yeah. That, that was, ah, if I can remember now, that
was the house was in there where the gas station's to there
now. It did move probably some in there, see, 'cause this is
where Handrigans' went in along side of that one, see?

AR: OK.

JK: So, ah, that was, ah, fella by the name of Joe Molloy [who]
owned that house.

AR: Well that, she mentioned that was Joe Molloy's house, um.
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JK: 'Cause we bought the, the old man bought that land after,
after the tidal wave.

AR: The land that the house was on.

JK: Yeah.

AR: Where was that land?

JK: Right where the drugstore is to in there now.

AR: So the drugstore land was where the Molloy house was.

JK: Right. Just inside the drugstore.

AR: So Kellys, ah, bought from Molloy.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And did you put a drugstore up, or was that ...?

JK: No, no. That, ah, a gentleman from St. John's. The Moores.
Ken Moores, I think his name is.

AR: OK. So Joe Molloy then.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And was that an occupied house? Was there a family in that
house?

JK: At that time there was nobody livin' there then, sir. No, he
was gone away or, gone somewhere anyway. But, ah, they, they
bought that after that.

AR: Well that's interesting. 'Cause I, I get different stories
about where that Molloy house was, um.

JK: Yeah.

AR: But it woulda been right on the site of the drugstore? Do you
think it was down close to the road, or ...?

JK: No, 'twas a little, little to the north, I'd say, of the
drugstore.

AR: Where the, ah, on the parking lot there?

JK: Yeah. A little farther. Oh, I'd say handy about where that,
where that gas station's to there now. Might be a little bit
this, this side.

AR: And then, so the Molloy and the Handrigan house ended up

beside each other.

I



I
I
I
1
I
1
I
I
I
1
1
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

241

JK: That's right, yeah.

AR: Did you go up and see them then, ah?

JK: They, they pulled that down then with tackles. And they
pulled it out and then the old fella decided he'd, ah, he'd
put It up on the hill, right where it's to now.

AR: So who moved it up onto the hill? The, the, this was the
Handrigan house.

JK: Jack Handrigan. Jack Handrigan.

AR: So Jack Handrigan moved It up, ah ...

JK: On the hill.

AR: To get it up above the water.

JK: Yeah, up above the water. Yeah.

AR: How would you spell 'Handrigan' now?

JK: Ah, H-A-N-D-E-R.

AR: I-G-A-N.

JK: 1, I-G-E-A-N, or somethin' like that.

AR: Yeah. Jack Handrigan moved up onto hill.

JK: Yeah.

AR: 'Cause that's the ...

JK: Where Roy is there, see? The hill, see.

AR: So it gets It up above any water that's going to come.

JK: Right, yeah, yeah. 'Fraid the water t'come again, you know.

AR: Now were there any other houses moved? Any other dwelling
houses moved?

JK: No, not to my knowledge. (voice of his wife Nellie in the
background "What about the one was down on the beach?") Oh
no, that was st i l l, ah, that was, um, down there where the
fish is to now.

AR: on, on the point of beach there.

JK: Yeah. There was a house there, 'cause that's where my old man
and four or five more were in playin' a game of poker that
night.

I
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AR: So, Thomas was, ah, Thomas was in playing poker at, ah, this 
woulda been the Pike house. 

JK: Yeah. Tom Pike's. 

AR: Tom Pike's house. 

JK: Yep, 

AR: Now, he had some children in that house. 

JK: Yes, he had, ah, about, ah, I'd say 10 or 11. Because they 
all took a, a youngster apiece, 'cause this fella went out to 
use the bathroom, was no bathrooms then at that time, you 
know, you have outhouses. 

AR: Yeah. 

JK: And he went out, and the water was up around the house. Now, 
that house didn't move. Why, the water passed right in 
underneath it. The old government wharf used to be out at, 
out there at that time, see? 

AR: Out at the end of it. 

3K: Yeah. 	So they left with a youngster a piece when the wave 
went out, and ran with the youngsters in over the beach. And 
then he came home, Tom came home, me father. 

AR: To find out what happened to his own house. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: Did the water come up onto Water Street West at all? 

JK: Ah, it came right up to our house there now, that one that's 
down there now, that old red one. Came right up on the level 
there. 

AR: It came across the road to the, the level of your, the red 
house that's there now. 

JK: Yeah, yeah, right. 

AR: So it, in a couple of places it came up over ... ah, now did 
your, your father was into the slaughter business at that 
time. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: And he used to be a policeman, is that right? 

JK: That's right, yeah. 

1 
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AR: When did he start the slaughter business with, uh, with the
cows coming over from Charlottetown and ...?

JK: Oh, I'd say that was back in the, uh, in the 50's.

AR: So it was after the tidal wave then.

JK: Oh yes.

AR: Long after the tidal wave.

JK: Oh yes, long after the tidal wave.

AR: So, what was his business at the time of the tidal wave?
What, what sort of work did he do at the time?

JK: He was, ah, doin' a little business there in that little
store's there now, ah, the lower side of the road there, a
little grocery store, you know.

AR: OK.

1K: And, ah, he used to buy in the local meat, you know, and sell
it?

AR: Did he have any damage done to the store by the tidal wave?

JK: No, no.

AR: The shop didn't have any damage done then?

JK: No.

AR: 'Cause it must've had ...

JK: No, I'm ahead a me story there now, no. He wasn't there at

that time. There was a house, a house, there was a house
there all right.

AR: Oh, was there?

JK: Yeah. A fella there by the name of, ah, Johnny Pike.

AR: OK.

JK: And he had a, a, a small son around my age, I guess.

AR: Um hum.

JK: And they left, and they went up through the field here, and
went Into a stable, to get up from the water. And now old
peo...

AR: 'Cause there was, there, there's a, right now there's a lane

I
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goes all the way up to, ah, Laurentian, isn't there? 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: There's a lane right the way through. 

JK: Yeah. 	Right. 	So, anyway, that's where they went, figured 
the, the water was gonna come in again. So the old lady, she 
grabbed a bottle of holy water, she thought. 

AR: Ah ha. 

JK: And 'twas for to shake over the, the child's head, and this 
was a bottle a cod oil, ha ha! And in the dark she, she 
smeared the cod oil all over him when they all come to the 
hall she had a bigger Job on her hands. 

AR: Oh boy. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: Now, so this, this, your father didn't have a grocery store at 
that time. 

3K: No, only up 'cross the road. They had a grocery store then on 
the end of that big red house. 

AR: OK. On the road side. 

JK: On the road side, yeah. 

AR: Now did the water, came up to it but not into it. 

JK: 	Not Into it, no. 

AR: All right. 	So that's a very good measure of how high the 
water came. 

JK: Right. Yeah. Because at that time, see, there was a kind of 
a hill there where that house is to. 

AR: Yes. 

JK: And the same way up, um, half ways to town here. Two hills 
like that, see? And then the water came right in, and come up 
on a level. 

AR: And so you were in the low part there. 

JK: Yup. Right. 

AR: OK. 'Cause as you go up towards the, ah, Aylward's there's a 
little bit of a hill even now. 



I
I
I
1
I
I
I
I
t
1
I
1
I
I
I
I
I
I

245

JK: Yeah. Right, yeah.

AR: Now, the other thing that, um, where did Miss Fewer work as
the telegraph operator? Where was the telegraph station?

JK: Ah, the telegraph station now was right up where, ah, ...

AR: This is the one in '29.

JK: Yeah. Ah, the telegraph station is up there now, where was a
big house there alongside of a chicken coop. [see 10 lines
down]

AR: Was that, was that the Etchegary house?

JK: No, no.

AR: 'Cause that, I know which one's the Etchegary house, um, Arch
Slan...

JK: Yeah. Well 'twas up, ah, farther up.

AR: Farther up.

JK: Yeah.

AR: Ah, beyond the causeway then.

JK: Yeah. Beyond the causeway. Right alongside of, ah, a chicken
coop, you call it there. Kettle's. [he is referring to Em
Kettle's chicken takeout on the water side of Water Street
West, northwest of Mannix Causeway Road]

AR: All right. Well, I'll go and find that.

JK: Yeah.

AR: But what, what ...

JK: Well now, that was, that was the post office, and, ah, not
wireless, 'twas telegraphy, is it, or something of that sort.

AR: Telegraphy, that's right. And Miss Fewer was the

telegraphist.

JK: Yeah. And, ah, ...

AR: Now, they come in now? It's OK, just doing a little taping.
Want me to stop? (voice in background "No, that's all right."
A male arrives.) Now, but that telegraph station went out
into the harbour. I was told it floated out into the harbour,
and Miss Fewer, I mean I read the newspapers and it said the
telegraph station got flooded out, but maybe not.
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JK: Yeah. it could be down where, ah, where she had the house
there with the Laurentian was to. I wouldn't doubt the water
went into that.

AR: Now, where, where was ...?

JK: That's right where the, where the club is to down here now.
our house was on the other side of that, see, this one down
here?

AR: That's the red house.

JK: Yeah. Right here, look. [moves to front window to point]
(voice of Nellie Kelly in the background "Excuse ... I had a11
that in the paper cut out one time.") 'Twas a little peaked
roof house there, see? Right on the other side of the
Oceanview here.

AR: To the left? ...Black ... Oh to the right, yes.

JK: Now, there was a big house there by the name of Molly Baker.
Only this year they shifted that ...

AR: And where did Miss Fewer live?

JK: She lived over to the right.

AR: In that little house that was there.

JK: Yeah.

AR I ...

JK: I wouldn't doubt the water went into that house. She used to
use that as a... she had a rig out there for, for usin' the
telegraphy there too, see, the stormy weather when she, when

she couldn't get out.

AR: Oh well, that probably is the answer. So, just so, the tape
didn't hear that, I'm gonna, it's right where that lane goes

down. Right now there's a lane goes down beside the, ah, the
Oceanview, down towards the water, and her, Miss Fewer's house
would have been lust about on that lane.

JK: Yeah. Was about, ah, about to the right [phone rings], a

little farther to the right there.

AR: A little bit to the south. Beside, southward.

JK: Yeah, yeah, right.

AR: OK. [rings] So, um, and she would've had some telegraphy in
there.

I
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JK: Yeah, right. 

AR: I wonder if that's [rings - answered by Nellie] the house that 
went out, um. What was Miss Fewer's name now? 

3K: Ah, Cecelia Fewer. 

AR: Cecelia Fewer. And she had a, a, a telegraphy office there. 

3K: Yeah. 

AR: Um, so that may be that she was in there. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: Ah, this was here winter station, as it were. 

JK: Yeah, right. 

AR: Her stormy weather station. 

JK: Stormy weather station, see? 

AR: I wonder if that's the answer? 

3K: Yeah. Could be. Because her mother was alive then, you know, 
the people, you didn't have no radios or anything at that 
time. They'd be knockin' on the door, you know, askin' her 
what, what was the news on the postal boat, and she said, 
they'd be askin' Cecelia about the coastal boat, she said, and 
they're comme in the harbour, want a know the news on 'er. 
And she'd be comin' into the harbour. 

AR: Just even then. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: 	'Cause she'd be able to get, ah, she'd get from the telegraph 
when it left the, the last town. 

JK: Oh yes. Yeah. 

AR: Which coastal boats used to visit here? 

JK: Ah, the old HOME, that I can remember now. The old HOME and 
the old ARGYLE, and the PORTIA. And, um, ... 

AR: Do you remember any boats coming in after the tidal wave, ah, 
with, with the relief supplies or ...? 

JK: No, I don't remember. 

AR: 'Cause you were pretty young to know about that. 

JK: Yeah. Know nothin' to take notice of anything like that, you 
know. 
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AR: But you would have been in school then?

JK: Yeah.

AR: Where, which school was your school?

JK: Ah, there was a school then over here, ah, right where, ah,
Stella Maris is to now.

AR: OK. And it was, ah, It was Just In front, was it, that was
your school?

JK: Yeah. Yeah.

AR: How did-you used to walk to school then?

JK: Well, we used to walk right over 'round town, right.

AR: 'Round the bridge, the Riverhead.

JK: Yeah, Riverhead, yeah.

AR: Now, after the tidal wave, what was that like? Was there ...?

JK: Well, ah.

AR: Was the bridge out, or ...?

JK: No, no. That bridge, ah, they had to put a bridge there.
Small bridge up on top, you know.

AR: Um hum.

JK: Now, right where they got the causeway there now, that was
what we used to call 'the strand' there, you know, there was,
that's has been built and put there, you see?

AR: What was 'the strand' made out of?

JK: That was, ah, just, ah, just, ah, landwash, you know? 'Cause
there was, ah, ah, a meadow in on the back, and finally, with
the waves comin' in, you know, not the tidal waves, it all
washed away, see?

AR: Now, was, was there sand in the, in 'the strand', or was it

...?

JK: Oh yes.

AR: ... little rocks?

JK: No, no. Sand. Real sand.

AR: Do you remember whether there was any sand there after the
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tidal wave? Would you walk to school along 'the strand', or
would you normally go 'round the road?

JK: Yeah. Oh yes. No, you could go across 'the strand' too. We
used to go across 'the strand' then. Many's the time I got
the feet wet.

AR: How did you get across the brook, though? Ah ...

JK: Oh, well, the, the, the brook, see, wasn't, wasn't too, too
high there, you know. 'Twas only when, like, you had a big
rain, rain like that to be, probably right to your knees or
something like that. But after a couple a days that would run
right down, eh?

AR: But yoü don't remember any changes to 'the strand' with the
tidal wave.

JK: No, no. No. No.

AR: 'Cause I, ah, I remember talking to one person who said it was
very difficult to walk around the Bridgehead to go to school
'cause of all the, the logs and everything that were there.

JK: Oh yeah. All, all debris and stuff like that. Oh yes, from
the stages.

AR: How long did that last?

JK: Oh well, that lasted for, for weeks, you know. People picking
it up, you know, and gettin' the best out of it for, for to
put in other places they had, you know, and probably burn it
too, you know.

AR: Now, when I talked to, ah, to one fella, he thought the Jack
boat that, he said there was a Jack boat that went right up
and he thought it anchored itself up in the, ah, up in the
meadow. But you think it just went right back down with the
waves.

JK: No, ah, went in and come out again, see?

AR: And did you see it then afterwards?

JK: Ah, he went out that night, so they said, now.

AR: Just got the hell out of here.

JK: Yeah. Got out, yeah. And, ah, there was, ah, two fellas came
from Saint-Pierre that night, a fella by the name of, ah, Joe
Turpin and, ah, Victor Turpin. He was a man used to do
business over there.

AR: Yeah.

I
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JK: And, ah, they didn't know what to make of it. They never felt 
anything on the ocean. And when they started to come in 
through the harbour, they started runnin' into the stores and 
flakes and everything, you know. 

AR: 	I'll bet they did. 

JK: And they didn't know what was, what was, had been goin' on, 
you know. But they didn't find anything on the water, so they 

say. 

AR: Did your family have any, any losses of the flakes or 
anything? 

JK: No. We  lost, um, Just a, a stage head, like, ah, the old man 
had there for, ah, we used to put in ice, see? 

AR: For the meat. 

JK: Ah, no. For, ah, for the Nova Scotia fellas used to come down 
there in what they used to call a capelin skull. 

AR: Yeah. 

JK: And, ah, they'd come in, they'd bait up with the capelin and 
then they'd come and buy the ice offa the old man, then, for 
5 dollars a dory load. 

AR: Five dollars a dory load. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: Good price? 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: And, ah, did you lose some of that, ah, the night of the tidal 
wave? 

JK: No. Never lost anything there. 

AR: Yeah. But the only thing you lost, your family came up pretty 
well then. 

JK: Yeah. Oh yes. Yeah. Was only just the front, ah, front of 
the, front wharf, that's all. 

AR: Was swept away. 

JK: Um. 

AR: You're a little bit protected there, but, ah, you know, the 
wharf, the big, the big, the main point, the point of beach, 
the, I guess they call it the Shingle Point. 



251 

JK: Yeah. Yeah. 

AR: That took a lot of the ... 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: But even so, you saw that wave come right in. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: Do you think the wave went up over the Lawn highway? 

JK: What, in, inside? 

AR: Inside. Did it get as far as the town hall or the, the 
Lawn highway? 

JK: No. 	I don't think. 

AR: You think it stopped short. 

JK: Yeah. 	I think it stopped short of that. 

AR: But, we know it got to the, ah, we know it got to the Irving 
station. 

3K: Yeah. Would have got to the Irving station across from that, 
you know. 

AR: Had enough, it had enough to float the, um, ... 

JK: The boat in, ah, in that way and come out again. 

AR: Now, where was the old football field? They talked about the 
old football field, one house maybe ending up in the old 
football field. Where was the old, ah, you know, the ... 

JK: Well now, ah, right out through there they used to use that 
for a football field one time 'round back of the old firehall 
there. That was a football field, they used that one year for 
a football field. 

AR: 	In behind the old firehall was a football field. 

3K: Yeah. 

AR: And was there another football field up by Hospital Road? 

JK: Yeah. Yeah. 	Up by, ah, right in front of the new school. 
Father Thorne's church property. That, that was a ... 

AR: Now, when you say 'in front' of the new school, which, which 
direction do you mean? 
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JK: That'd be out to the north, er, the south.

AR: So that, on a downhill side, towards, towards the harbour.

JK: Yeah. Yeah.

AR: Um, and, d'you remember playing football there when you were
going to school, or ...?

JK: Oh yes. We used to go in there and, and kick ... kickball

there. That's then when the hay was cut, now, you know,
because they, ah, you could only play soccer then after the,
the hay season was over, you know.

AR: Yeah. 'Cause that's, ah, I get different stories, I must say,
as to where these various houses went. But It sounds like
only one or two houses, the Molloy house and the Handrigan
house are the two that moved.

JK: Yeah. Yeah, the two that moved, yeah.

AR: And the Molloy house has ended up back where Elizabeth
Slaney's living.

JK: Yeah. Right.

AR: And the Handrigan house is that dark yellow house that's up
above the hill, over there, you pointed out to me, and I gotta
go over and take a photograph of that so I remember.

7K: Up on the hill, yeah. Yeah. They got a piece taken out of
the back of it there now.

AR: Oh, they takin' the house down, are they?

JK: They started t'take it down all them old people are dead now,
see?

AR: Yeah. That's a historic house. If it moved in a tidal wave,
it should be kept.

JK: Yeah. Should be kept see right. Yeah.

AR: Now, was there any damage done out near the mouth of the
harbour?

JK: Well, ah, all, all the stages, everything was cleaned right
up, right up on both sides, see. There was an*awful lot of
people there see had the, had the waterfronts then, right from
our place up there, there was Quirkes and Slaneys and all them
people had waterfronts, see, right up, right up through there.

AR: And they lost their, ah, ...
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JK: They lost everything, you know, everything, everything ...

AR: What was on a stage to lose? I mean, you, you had your

flake.

JK: You had your flake and, ah, I suppose a lot of people had
anchors and stuff like that. Well, probably they got that
after the tide went down, but, ah, the rest of It was gone,
flakes and old stages and everything like that. Cleaned right

out, you know.

AR: Some, ah, do you remember the sound of the tidal wave?

JK: Now like a roar, to me. Just the same as a...

AR: Different than the earthquake, though.

JK: Yeah. Yeah.

AR: Just like roaring, breaking waves.

JK: Yeah. Yeah. Just like a roar, it was.

AR: Yeah. Well, it would have been quite something. Boy, I don't
think I want to live through it.

JK: Yeah, yeah. [phone call over - Nellie comes in]

AR: Now the one puzzle I got, you know, your sister Gertrude
remembers some headstones going.

JK: Well, that would be over here, see?

AR: And that's almost certainly got to be that graveyard in front
of the, ah, the Stella Maris.

JK: Yeah. No, no, would have been Stella Maris. (voice of wife
Nellie in the background "Stella Maris, yeah. Yes, was a
graveyard there one time?") Yeah. Yeah. See, they removed
all them bodies, see, after, ah, after they built the hall

there, see?

AR: You remember that graveyard too. [to wife] (voice of wife
Nellie in the background "Oh, I can remember that graveyard,
yes.") Now, but you weren't in this community ... ("No. I
was in it, but I wasn't born.") When were you born, now? ("I
was born 19, 1927.") Twenty-seven. Oh, you were two years

then. ("Two years old. Yes, so I don't remember nothing.")

Now, I don't know your name, I'm sorry. ("Nellie.") You're
Nellie Kelly. ("Kelly.")

JK: Now there was this ...

AR: Now Nellie's not your first, your real name. That's a

I
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nickname. 	("No. Mary is my first name.") Mary ... 	("Mary 
Ellen.") Mary Ellen. And you got called Nellie. ("Nellie, 
yeah.") And born in '27, and, where was your family living 

then at the time? ("We ... right over ... my brother give you 
all that information.") 	Who? 	("Mike Turpin.") Mike [also 
Mick] Turpin is your ... 	("... is my brother.") 	... is your 
brother. ("Yeah.") All right. Ah, he mentioned Nellie was, 
ah, that's right. 	So, now, that, the Mike Turpin house, 
though, that he lives in right now is not the same house ... 

NELLIE KELLY: No, no, it's gone now, it's took down. 

AR: Your family home was a little bit ... 

NM:  Bigger. 

3K: 	A little bit, 	little bit the other of it. 

AR: Towards Herring Cove? 

JK: Yeah. Yeah, right. Now there was a cemetery ... 

AR: Now, did the water come up into your family property in ... 

JK: No. 

NK: 	I don't know. 	I don't know. 

AR: You were starting to say there was a cemetery ...? 

JK: There's a cemetery now on the other side of them over there in 
the, in the front of, ah, front of Turpins' there. 

AR: In front of Turpins'. Now, I know, I know where Mike Turpin 
lives. 

JK: Yeah. 	Well, it's down beyond Mike's. 	Down to, ah, Fay 
Turpin's. 

AR: I don't know where that's to, I don't think. Beyond, you say, 
that'd be to the southward? 

JK: Yeah. 

NM: 	I don't think the one where ... Yeah. 

AR: 'Cause I know where Charlotte Turpin lives. 

JK: Yeah, right where Charlotte Turpin lives there now. That's, 
that's where the cemetery was to, just down from her house, 
over in a yard. 

AR: When you say 'down', it'd be towards the water. 
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JK: No, over to your, to your right.

AR: To the right would be to the south.

JK: No.

NK: You can see It, you can see it right from here, look?

AR: All right. [moves to window, conversation continues in the
distance]

JK: You can see it here.

NK: They got houses built there now.

AR: Now where is Charlotte's? ... (unintelligible, very faint)

NK: Charlotte's is that huh, that huh.

AR: The red one, wi th the red on the f ront and there' s a, a 1 1 ght ,
sort of a yellow one to the left.

NK: A yellow one, yeah, and big white one is their's.

AR: And Charlotte's got a green roof onto it.

NK: Yeah. And the yellow-white one there now, look, right over
that yellow one, this way, that's where the graveyard is at.

AR: Yeah.

JK: It has a front yard now.

AR: With a big green, this is the one, the white house with the
green roof.

NK: Yeah.

AR: Had, had a graveyard in front of it.

NK: Yeah, yeah.

AR: Now, who's that that lives iust to the left of Charlotte?

NK: Ah, Priscilla.

JK: Ah, Priscilla Turner, ah, Priscilla Turpin.

AR: It's a Turpin as well, and then there'll be one more to the
left of that, that's where the graveyard was.

NK: Yeah.

JK: Yeah. Right.

I
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AR: Now, when, when was that graveyard there?

JK: Oh, well, I don't know.

AR: Do you think that graveyard was there in 1929?

JK: Oh, yesl 'Twas there then.

AR: I wonder if that's the graveyard that, ah, that your sister
was talking about now.

NK: No, that's the one out back of the hall.

JK: No, one by the hall, because the water never went up there,
see.

NK: But one ... water run right up in the hall there.

AR: All right. So, If I, I'm Just gonna find out, ah. And
Charlotte lives in here father Victor's house, doesn't she.

NK: Yeah.

JK: Yeah.

AR: That, that was, so we go over, so we think this graveyard was
right in here. Old graveyard, I'11 }ust put a.... Old
graveyard.

JK: Yeah.

AR: Which is two houses to the north of Charlotte's.

JK: Yeah.

AR: But It was high enough, the water didn't come into it.

JK: Yeah. No water went up there.

AR: And almost certainly we think the graveyard that your sister's
talking about was )ust towards the water from the Stella
Maris.

JK: Yeah. Stella Maris.

AR: And you 'member seein' the gravestones there yourself.

NK: Oh, yes. The gravestones were there.

AR: So, um, I think that's probably the answer, ah. What I'11 do
i s just put a great note way back here, ah. That would be
Catholic graveyard, um, and that Catholic graveyard lasted
until, when do you think they moved It?

I
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JK: By gar, boy, I, I wouldn't be able to tell you now, but 
whatever happened, if you can find out the year that that was 
built, now, that, that was the ... 

AR: Built the Stella Maris hall. 

JK: Yeah. 	That was, that was the time, see? 	It's Just, they, 
they removed all the caskets out of it, you know. 

AR: And where'd they take them to then, ah, to the ... 

JK: Oh, ah, anything was left ... 

AR: To the new graveyard. 

JK: They, no, they put it up that small graveyard there in the 
back. 

AR: The priests' graveyard. 

JK: Priests' graveyards, see. 	Any bones or anythin' they come 
across, see. 

AR: Hum. So this, this must be the, I'm sure that's the graveyard 

JK: Yeah. 

NK: That's the graveyard. 

AR: Graveyard that, ah, Gertrude remembers. 'Cause I thought it 
was, I thought, my goodness, maybe she's talking about this 
corner of the new graveyard up on the Lawn highway. 

NK: No. 

JK: No. 

AR: Ah, the water didn't get that high then. 

JK: No. No. That's as far as the water went, sir, that, that I 
can remember now. Was right there to that gas station, how 
far it went beyond that, it couldn't a been very far. 

AR: Up to the gas station would get it there and, um, ... 

JK: And that, that'd be right straight across, in front of the new 
school there now, see? The high school. 

AR: Do you think a little bit of that parking lot of the new 
school got underwater? 

JK: Could be possible. 
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AR: That's, that's the reading I'm getting, is that, ah, It came
up to somewhere in, ah, it would have followed the brook up.

JK: Yeah. Yeah, right. Yeah.

AR: And it's very flat land over there where they cut the hay. It
might've, ah, you don't remember, did they have any hay stooks
that moved? Did the hay move, do you remember any ...

JK: No, no. They, ah, they cut the hay and Father Thorne used to
have a big stable over up on the hill, then he used to pull
the hay outta that and put it in the stable, see?

AR: So Father Thorne would've cut, made sure the hay got moved.

JK: Yeah. Right, yeah.

AR: Now, in the newspaper it mentioned that Father Thorne assisted
in putting up new telegraph poles, um, and, I don't know where
the water knocked the poles down. Do you ever remember see,
seeing any of the poles knocked over by the tidal wave?

JK: I don't remember that.

NK: I had all that in the paper cut out, you know.

JK: Yeah.

AR: What, what were those articles, where were they from, now,
that you cut out?

NK: From the, from the tidal wave here in Burin. But I think I
give that to some, somebody comin' to spend time in the
university, that's goin' to school.

JK: Oh dear, and you gave it away.

AR: Yeah.

NK: For sure 'cause I can't find it.

AR: Oh dear. Well.

NK: I always cuts everything out of the paper.

JK: But now, with the, with the poles and that, see, 'cause Father
Thorne used to do a lot of country work then, you know, had a
mill in the country. And probably he, ah, he wôuld get them
the poles, probably, if they're ...

AR: He, he had a small business, did he, in addition to being the
Catholic priest?

JK: No, no. He used to go in there and saw the timber and that,

I
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and bring it out for building the schools or repairing schools 
and stuff like that, you know. 

AR: 	'Cause I've seen photographs of, ah, his horse. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: His horse, and I think he had a truck eventually, did he? 

JK: Yeah. He had a, an old truck, they had a truck in, ah, in 
1928 I guess, or '29, around there. A Model A. 

AR: Yes, it's a, there's a photograph I've seen in the album, that 
says a 1928 Ford, I think it was. 

JK: Yeah. And he had a Chev car. 

AR: Do you remember the name of the truck, that they used to call 
the truck? 

JK: Yeah, the Model A. 

AR: Model A. 	Because I've seen it called 'Tiny' in one, one 
picture they  cal!  it Tiny. 	It was quite a small truck. 

JK: Yeah. Yeah, right. 

AR: And he had a, a car as well. 

JK: He had a car. He won her for 10 cents. 

AR: Oh, really! 

JK: Ah, in St. John's. 

AR: When did he win that car? 

JK: Oh, that was, ah, that was, I don't know if that was before or 
after he had the truck. 

AR: What kinda car was that one? 

JK: That was a Chev. With the wooden wheels on it, I can remember 
that. 

AR: Wooden wheels .... And how long did he drive that for, now? 

JK: Oh, he drove for a good many year. Because, he used to go 
back and forth to Lamaline and Lawn, see, and different, ah, 
• • • 

AR: So Father Thorne was ahead of his time, eh? He, ah, he had 
trucks and cars before anybody else. 
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JK: Yeah. Yeah. Well, now, the roads were so narrow at that time
you had to pass in, in certain sections of the road. Like
now, you go from here to Lawn, Little Lawn we used to call it,
that's four miles from here.

AR: Down the Breakheart Hill.

JK: Down Breakheart Hill. Then you had a turnoff over 'bout
halfways t'Little Lawn. So who'd he meet this day, only
Father, um, what makes me forget his name?

AR: Fella from one of the other communities.

JK: Yeah. Anyway, the two met head-on, so far from the turnoff.
Anyway; he got out, he said, "A11 right, Father T'orne," he
said.

AR: "You back upt" Ha ha.

JK: Yeah, "You back up." "No, no," he said. "No." Well now, he
said, "You, you gotta back up," he said, "because" he said
"you're the handiest to the turn." I'm tryin' to think on
his, Father Nolanl Oh, sorry. Father, Father Nolan was the
name of the priest.

AR: Father ... Nolan.

JK: Father Nolan.

AR: And where was he stationed?

JK: He was stationed in Lamaline.

AR: So he.met Father Thorne, and the two of them had cars.

JK: Yeah. And one was comin' up to the, the, to the place where
they used to turn, and he, Father Nolan was Just beyond it,
see. "All right, Gussy," he said, "you back up yer 10-cent
cart" he said.

AR: And Gussy is who?

JK: Father Thorne, that's his name, see.

AR: Thorne, Thorne was Gus T'orne.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And, ah, Father Nolan, who won the argument then?

JK: Oh, Father Nolan had to back back.

AR: Ha ha ha hat

I
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JK: He had to back back and let Father Thorne ...

AR: Now, was there ever a community at Little Lawn Harbour?

JK: No, no. Just, ah, some fella had a shack over there one time.
To my knowledge, anyway.

AR: And, was, was there much farming in Little Lawn then, or, was
It used?

JK: Well, that's, there was a fella had a, had a, a field there,
ah, he used to cut hay off of it.

AR: Where was that field, ah?

JK: That was, field was on your left as you were goin' around
Little Lawn. 'Bout half ways. Right where the, where the,
what we call the, the Gut. The Pond, there.

AR: Right at the head of The Pond? Or the inside of The Pond.

JK: No, no. No. About middle of The Pond.

AR: OK.

JK: 'Twas the middle of The Pond.

AR: On the left side.

JK: The only one I can remember is, ah, ah, bought it, I don't
know who he bought it off of, was some, fella by the name of
Bill Lake, Uncle Bill Lake we used to call him. He used to
work on the High Road and he, ah, he bought it and he used to
cut hay on it.

AR: Well, that's interesting, 'cause we found, we, we, I've been
inta, I took that old road last summer, and, um, there was a
few people, looks like the few cows being kept in there, they
)ust are grazing up at the, the inside of the pond.

JK: Yeah.

AR: At the north end of the pond.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And I wondered if there was ever fields in there. But it
doesn't sound like there was any cultivation there.

JK: No, no. There was, ah, Just the one field, that's all that
was there. He used to cut about a ton or ... ton and a half
of hay off of a spot was there, you know, i t had to be, i t
had, it was fenced at the time.

I
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AR: So no-one ever tried to fish out of Little Lawn? 

JK: No. 

AR: Not a good harbour, I'd don't ... not much protection. 

JK: No. No, no. No, because see, ah, Lawn people, that's where 
they used ticome down and set their traps, see. They'd go 
out, or Big, Main Lawn and come down around to the, great 
place for fish, y'know? 

AR: So they'd set their traps along that shore there. 

JK: They'd set them on the shoreline, see? 

AR: And so that was Lawn people that fished there, as opposed to 
St. Lawrence people. 

JK: That's right. 

AR: Where'd you fellas set your traps? 

JK: Oh, out around, ah, what they call the Cape, Cape Cheverou[sic 
= Cape Chapeau Rouge] here and then, you go right up to what 
they call Lawn Point, up where the shipwrecks .... 

AR: Where the shipwrecks went. 

JK: Yeah. And put the traps all up along there. 

AR: Well, I must say, I've been finding it very, very interesting 
talking to the people of the community and learning about 
this, ah, tidal wave, and about the, ah, you know, I, I don't 
know St. Lawrence very well at  ail.  

JK: No. 

AR: But, most interesting. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: And I thank you very, very much. 

JK: Yeah. 

AR: Now, what I'm gonna do is, I'm going to, ah, I'll write down 
what we said here, and mail that back to you and, if I got any 
errors in it, you can, you know, correct them. 

3K: Yeah. Yeah. 

AR: But, do you have any, do you mind if I actually put this tape 
in the, in the, in the Archives, so people can, other people 
can listen to it? 
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JK: No! That's OK. 

AR: 	'Cause I think they'd find it very, very interesting to hear 
a little bit about the history of Lawrence, or of St. 
Lawrence. 

3K: They could pick out something out of it, eh? 

AR: Oh, I'm sure. 	I'm absolutely sure. 

3K: 	I, I, I know they're goin' to know that I'm not a, a 
university man or anything like that, but I, ha ha ha!  

AR: Doesn't matter. 	The best fellows to tell you about a 
community is the fellow who has lived in it. 

JK: That's right. Yeah. 

AR: So I thank you very, very much and I'll Just turn this old 
tape recorder off now. And I think we used a fair bit of the 
tape, and I think I (tape stops). 

(Tape turned off briefly then turned on to get a recitation from 
John M. Kelly) 

AR: John Kelly is going to name every fishing stage from his house 
up to the, the Bridgehead. No, River, Riverhead. 

3K: Pretty well, anyway. 

AR: How many, how many you think there would have been? 

3K: Well, for, right from where, ah, where our property is through 
there now, it started off with, ah, Dave Murray, John Slaney, 
ah, Fred Fitzpatrick, Pat Penney, and, ah, a fella by the name 
of Old Isaac Slaney, Anthony Etchgary, and then there was, um, 
ah, Henry Quirke. 

AR: And he must be related to, ah, Elizabeth Slaney's ... ah? 

3K: Yeah. Yeah, right. Yeah. Henry Quirke, ah, and then there 
was, um, another fella by the name of John Slaney, and then 
there was a fella by the name of Dick Slaney, he had a 
waterfront there. And then there was Isaac Quirke, and Dave 
Quirke, and there was two Daves, and another fella had another 
part, part there, I don't know what relations they were. And 
then there was Joe Turpin, and, ah, let me see, Joe Turpin, 
um, Henry Fitzpatrick, and Tommy Fitzpatrick, Rennie Slaney, 
and Coole. And then there was Donnie Slaney and their 
property, and, ah, there was another fella by the name of Long 
Dave Slaney. 
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AR: My goodness.

JK: Then there was Jim Slaney, and then there was Richard Slaney,
and Jimmy Cusick's, they had property there. And that's,

that's about the, the works.

AR: And each fella had Just a narrow little stage.

JK: Narrow little stage.

AR: And, enough to keep his boat at. Or would he keep the boat at

the stage?

JK: Oh yes.

AR: Or would you anchor off?

JK: Yeah. Oh yes. No, they'd have what they call 'the freight'.

AR: What's a freight?

JK: Well, now, that's a, a block on one end and you reel a rope
through it, and you tie on the boat here and you haul it out.

AR: So the, the stern of the boat would be tied off and the bow
would be sort of tied up ....

JK: Yeah. No, no. You'd pull, pull, pull, you'd pull it off.

Pull the whole boat off.

AR: OK.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And when you wanted 'er back in, you'd Just pull it the other
way 'round.

JK: Right, all the way around, she'd come back in again.

AR: Wonderful. But you must've named about 20 fellas there had,
ah, shore properties. [actually 22]

JK: Yeah. Yeah. Ah might be a, a coupla more that I missed, you

know.

AR: Now, Rennie Slaney, you, you mentioned that name, and I've
heard that name before. I'm tryin' to remembe_r who he was,
but, ....

JK: Yeah, he used to be, ah, he used to be town clerk one time in
here, ah.

NK: He had a lot to do with the mines too ... [he also i s probably
the Rennie Slaney who wrote the 1965 History of Fluorspar
Mining at St. Lawrence Newfoundland]

I
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JK: Lot to do with the mine.

AR: Oh, that's maybe where I heard the name.

JK: Yeah.

AR: And, and when you were naming from, that was from your old
family house, that just took me to 'the strand' then?

JK: Yeah. Yeah, right up through, yeah.

AR: That area there. So you figure how many other fellas there
were around the harbour, it was a fair crowd.

JK: Yeah. ^Yeah, fair crowd.

AR: Well, we haven't seen that kinda f i shing for a while, have we?

JK: Yeah.

AR: Fascinating. Well, I thank you for doing that too, ha ha ha!

JK: I got a picture ...

NK: I got a... (taped turned off).

End of Interview
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Appendix 13
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Several photographs from the A.J. Wallace Collection and two
other historic photographs have been rephotographed to make new
negatives by Cynthia Farrell of Farrell Foto of St. Lawrence. The
Wallace album of about 70 pages covers photos from 1937-1941
(Wallace, 1937-1941) and was titled by its donor "Album of photos
taken by Albert J. Wallace, formerly of Collingswood, N.J. He was
sent to Newfoundland by E.J. Lavino & Co. to open a fluorspar mine
in the late 1930's." The album was donated to the town of St.
Lawrence by A.J. Wallace's daughter Myrtle Wallace Baaker on April
6, 1989. A very approximate catalogue of the album is found below:

p. 1 labelled Halifax, April 26, 1937, 36 photos
S.S. FORT TOWNSHEND, later Saint-Pierre
April 28, 1937, St. John's, and May 11,
1937 enroute to St. Lawrence-on S.S. HOME

Miscellaneous 7 photos

St. Lawrence 20 photos

Personnel, mining related 25 photos

Mining related 42 photos

St. John's to N.Y. Sept 1937 6 photos

Return on S.S. CARIBOU and KYLE March 1938 14 photos

St. Lawren.ce 11 photos

St. John's, Saint-Pierre 6 photos

St. Lawrence and pier 11 photos

Mining 8 photos

S.S. BEARN 3 photos

Halifax and Evangeline July 1938 8 photos

1939 1 photo

Director Mine, 1941 4 photos

June 1939 S.S. BELLE ISLE, Saint-Pierre fire 13 photos

Little St. Lawrence, dog cart, 1939 27 photos

Total about 244 photos

P
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Plate 1: Photo 32A, p. 25, A.J. Wallace collection. 	From the 

left, Myrtle Wallace (later Mrs. Baaker), her father 
Albert  J.  Wallace, her mother Mrs. Laura Wallace, Revere, 

Mrs. and Mr. C.M. Fellman, St. Lawrence, circa 1937. 

Plate 2: Photo 29C, p. 29, A.J. Wallace Collection. 	Photo of 

Aubrey Farrell in the centre, circa 1937. 	Mr. Farrell 
was the first person to get a report out of St. Lawrence 
after the November 1929 tsunami struck. Sandy Turpin is 

on the left, Frank Farrell is on the right. 
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Plate 3: Composite circa 1937 panorama of the east side of St. Lawrence 

Harbour made up of photos from the A.3. Wallace Collection. From 
the top left (northeast) to the bottom right (south), photos 17A, 
20A (large portion) both on top and 20A (continuation, small 
portion), 18C (small slice) and 17B. The panorama rotates 
clockwise from almost 'the strand' and Aylwards present Mini Mart 
on the left, through the Catholic Church and related buildings, 
through a schooner tied up at the Government Wharf at the north end 
of Shingle Point, through to Calipouse peak at the harbour's mouth 
(Figure 9) about due south. The typical flakes and fish stores are 
seen along the near (west) shoreline of the harbour. The Tom Pike 
house in 1929 was located just to the right (southwest) of the 
conical piles of probable fluorspar ore awaiting shipment on 
Shingle Point. 

01 
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Plate 4: Composite of two photographs from the A.J. Wallace

Collection. Photo 18A to left and a portion of Photo 18C

to right. Circa 1937 panorama looking about southwest
from the eastern end (foot) of what is now Director

Drive. A large steamer (ore carrier?) is sitting at the

government wharf across the north end of Shingle Point.
The Tom Pike house in 1929 sat just to the right of the

white conical pile of probable fluorspar ore awaiting

shipment. The low hill to the right is Blow Me Down Hill
(Figure 9). This panorama continues to the right with

the next plate.

I
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Plate 5: Photo 17C from the A.J. Wallace Collection. View looking

southeast along Water Street West, St. Lawrence circa
1937 showing the mouth of the harbour with Calipouse peak
(Figure 9) to the left (east) and Chapeau Rouge peak

(Figure 9) on the right (west) circa 1937. On the left
at the water's edge one can see the traditional fish

stores built out over the water on 'sticks' driven into

the harbour floor.

1
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Plate 6: Photo 69B from the A. 3 . Wallace Collection. 	May 1939 
view annotated "Enroute Grand Bank to Burin — May '39. 
St. Lawrence to Burin by boat — 12 miles, by land — 100 
miles." This photo gives a good idea of how poor the 
overland routes were, and would have been, in 1929. Dogs 
and carts were used to deliver the mail at one time along 
the south coast of the Burin. 
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Plate 7: Photo 57B from the A.J. Wallace Collection. View from
Water Street West Extension looking north northwest over

Shingle Point circa 1938. Public wharf was at the
righthand (north) end. Thomas Pike house had been
located on the Point about directly under the church.

Plate 8: Photo held by Kevin Pike (and Ena Farrell Edwards)
showing the former Thomas (Tom) Pike house on Shingle
Point out near the public wharf. Photo is possibly 1933-
34 (Appendix 12). Figure in front left is wharfinger
Sandy Turpin. The tsunami rose up over the first floor
of the house but it did not move because it was bolted
down to a rock-filled crib.
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Plate 9: Probable post-tsunami 1929 view of the west side of St.

Lawrence harbour showing no flakes or fish stores in
place from just southeast of Director Drive northwest to
where 'the strand' bay mouth bar terminated the harbour

head. This photo came from a Clem Cusick in Saint-Pierre
and is held by John and Emma Cusick of St. Lawrence.

Plate 10: Photo 20B from the A.J. Wallace Collection showing a

similar view of the west side of St. Lawrence harbour in
circa 1937 showing the growth of the town with the coming
of the E.J. Lavino & Co. fluorspar mine and the return of
the flakes and fish stores at the water's edge.
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Coloured oblique aerial view of St. Lawrence Harbour by 
Garnet Tracey in circa 1985 looking about west 
(Anonymous, circa 1985). The fish plant is seen on the 
end of Shingle Point at the left (southeast) and at the 
very right the multipurpose Recreation Centre is shown on 
the filled land to the northwest of Causeway Road (also 
called Mannix Causeway on the town road map). Causeway 
Road was built in circa 1954 to the southeast (outside) 
of 'the strand' which originally formed the head of the 
harbour. Director Drive comes down the hill from the 
upper right to the centre pier which is known as the "old 
pier" or Alcan Wharf. The righthand (northwest) wharf is 
now known as the Minworth Pier and was used by the last 
operator of the fluorspar mine to store ore prior to 
shipment. The Minworth Pier now serves as the Government 
Wharf. 	The 'business district' of Water Street West 
extends from about Director Drive to 	the right 
(northwest) halfway towards Causeway Road. 
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Appendix 14

Transcript of supplemental August 23, 1995 letter of Emma and
John Cusick. The Cusicks were responding to a letter of inquiry
from the author going back to mid-April 1995 and they are replying
on behalf of John's father Stephen (Steve) who was a young boy at
the time of the 1929 tsunami. This letter in two parts, first by
Emma, then by John, adds further recollections of Mr. Stephen
Cusick with respect to the 1929 tsunami in St. Lawrence and on the
partial destruction of his family's home on the shore on the west
side of the St. Lawrence harbour.

I
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[1]

[Box 576
St. Lawrence, Nfld.

AOE 2V0
mailed Aug. 23/951

Patrick Handrigan's house, which was situated where John
O'Rourke's house is now (next to Post Office) went out
the harbour with kerosene lamp lit up in the upstairs
window. This house never came back.

Old Joe Malloy's house, which was situated where Foote's
old house is now (accross[sic] from drugstore) moved but
don't [know] where It was moved. It was hauled out from
in that way to Liz Quirke's land. [Mrs. Elizabeth Slaney
now]

The old government wharf, which was situated were[sic]
fish plant is now came in and took the bottom of Steve's
(John's dad's) house.

The Jack fishing boat was a fair sized boat with two
dories on her deck and eight man crew. Steve says there
was only one Jack boat that he can remember. The boat
was brought in with the wave. She was situated Just
inside the Old Wharf (fish plant now) with the anchor
out. She was brought in accross[sic] from the old fire
hall with the Anchor out. After she was brought in there
was a kind of

I
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still in the water the men got in a dory and rowed to 
shore. When the Jack boat went back out she hung up in 
almost the same place she was in the beginning. The men 
rowed back to her again. 

Things went that you think should have stayed and things 
stayed that should have went. He thinks the swirl of the 
water caused this. 

Him and a lot of other people were up on Old Lawn Road 
when he saw the wall of water coming in. He taught[sic] 
it was going to cover everything but it dropped according 
as it was coming. 

Three tides 
1. First tide — big tide just over ordinary high tide. 

Different from regular tide. Went out a bit farther than 
usual. 

2. Second came in and went up a bit higher, came in over the 
meadow where Bank of Nova Scotia is now. The tide went 
out farther to Herring Cove, the Calapoose. 
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3. The third tide came in went in almost to high school and
went back slowly.

He says the water got as far as the high school or pretty
close but did not cross the highway (the highway [220]
now). You could float a boat by the old fire Hall.

There were big tides in the harbour before the tidal wave
and he thinks the high tides are returning. He predicts
another tidal wave but cannot predict when.

He also thinks water is disappearing because when he went
to school the water used to be in by the Bank of Nova
Scotia at high tide. Now he thinks the water should be
up over the causeway, but its[sic] not.

(Emma Cusick]
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The first house at the extreme left of the 1929
picture [Plate 9, Appendix 13] belonged to a Leo Pike.
it was situated on the [northwest] corner of Director
Drive and Water Street West. The house is no longer

there. Farrell's house is two or three houses further
south [along Water Street West out of the view of the
camera].

When you hear people talk about the strand, they are
just referring to a sandy beach left at low tide. (Fine
sand) It stretch[ed] from the North goal post at the
soccer field and ended around the causeway. There was no
tidal pond behind it.

The lines that I'ld[sic] dotted out [actually solid
line] on the map shows the contour of the upper front of
the harbour looking North as it was in 1929. The land
beyond the lines [to the northwest or 'inside'] was hay
land. It was kept back by a breakwater but was wash[ed]
away by the tidal wave. Lots of rocks [were] left in the
area after [the 'tidal wave'].

I
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The blue square shows where my grandfather's house 
was before the tidal wave. The bottom part was destroyed 
and wash[ed] away in pieces. The top part was left 
hanging but remained in the same spot. The house was 
built on a breakwater so I guess it had a good 
foundation. The red square indicates where a bunch of 
men had gotten together and tow[ed] the top part of the 
house up across the road. They fix[ed] it up and lived 
in it that winter. Probably wouldn't make a good barn 
these days. The black square indicates where they built 
their new house the following spring. Yes my father has 
a sister Matilda, (Tilly) she lives in St. John's. 

Thanks for the old pictures, they are a treasure and 
look forward to reading your report. 

[John Cusick] 

[The Cusicks' annotated map follows. It is a section of the base 
map to Enclosures 1 and 2 at a scale of 1:2,500. Four additional 
explanatory notes are added to the map in square brackets to assist 
in relating the map to the Cusicks' text above.] 
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